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ABSTRACT

Businesses are expanding their reporting practices to include the reporting of
environmental and social performance, as well as financial performance, in keeping
with the increase in societal interest in sustainability. Sustainability reporting, the
reporting of these three elements of performance, has become known as Triple
Bottom Line Reporting.
Traditional reporting by businesses has focused on reporting the financial effects of
transactions between entities. Recently there has been a shift in business reporting to
the incorporation of social elements.
It is pointed out that accountants have a major part to play in Triple Bottom Line
Reporting. This led to the investigation into the level of preparedness of accountants
for the challenges of Triple Bottom Line Reporting.
The thesis examines the education programs for aspiring accountants in Australia. It
also examines the continuing professional development/education programs for
existing members of the Australian professional accounting bodies.
The importance of sustainability and its implications for Triple Bottom Line
Reporting and the relevance of the financial reporting framework to Triple Bottom
Line Reporting are addressed.
In addition to identifying the requirements of Triple Bottom Line Reporting and the
role of accountants in the process, the thesis identifies and discusses the responses of
accounting educators and the professional accounting bodies to environmental and
social accounting issues, such responses being the inclusion in (or exclusion from)
education courses/programs of topics relevant to Triple Bottom Line Reporting.
The principal findings of this research are that:
I. The education process for aspiring accountants is such that, as part of their
studies, many graduates from the process will have had minimal or no exposure
to environmental and social accounting and reporting issues.
2. The professional accounting bodies are offering little or no assistance to existing
accountants with regard to the environmental and social performance reporting
elements of Triple Bottom Line Reporting.
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Chapter 1
INTRODUCTION

CHAPTER 1-INTRODUCTION

I.I. Backrouncl to the Trinle Bottom Line ReDortinL, issue

The practice of reporting three elements of business performance

-

economic,

environmental and social, referred to as "sustainability reporting" (Placer Pacific Ltd,
1998. p.1 1) has also become known as "Triple Bottom Line Reporting", a term
coined by John Elkington (Deegan, 1999a, p.38).

Triple Bottom Line Reporting includes information about an organisation's
performance relating to factors such as the level of support for and interaction with
the local community, including training, employment and education programs;
employee health and safety issues; assistance with projects in developing countries;
and environmental performance (Deegan, 1999c, p.972).

Traditional reporting by businesses has focused, in the Annual Report, on the
financial effects of transactions between the reporting entity and other entities
(Deegan, 1999a, p.139). The responsibility for this reporting has rested with
accountants. Other events and activities relating to the performance of businesses
were not considered the concern of accountants. Although accountants have been
concerned with the preparation of the financial performance report, the question now
arises

-

who will/should prepare the reports of the other performance elements of

Triple Bottom Line Reports the environmental and social performance elements?
-

Gray, Bebbington & Walters (1993) contend that accountants have the education,
training, skills and experience necessary for them to undertake activities required for
the preparation of all elements of Triple Bottom Line Reports

-

selection, collection,

summarisation and evaluation of datalevidence; systems design; report preparation
and audit. Whilst non-accounting expertise is required for the scientific and
technical evaluation of environmental options, accountants have the appropriate
qualifications to determine and report the financial implications of the organisation's
impact on the environment (pp.175,176). Although accountants' focus is primarily
on financial matters, the above attributes make them well qualified to be involved in
the reporting and audit of non-financial matters. The rigour of the education and

Triple Bottom Line Reporting
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training of Australian professional accountants ensures their suitability to be
involved in all three elements of performance reporting.

In Australia, full membership of the professional accounting bodies is normally
attained only when an applicant has achieved the following

graduation from a tertiary course of study which has included a major sequence
of accounting subjects and studies in other business related disciplines, such course
having been accredited by CPA Australia and The Institute of Chartered Accountants
in Australia (CPAA, 2001a, PSI, Associate (a); ICAA, 1999a, pp.30004,30005);

successful completion of a post-graduate, pre-professional membership education
program of CPA Australia or The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
(CPAA, 2001a, PSI, CPA Membership (a); ICAA, I999a, pp.30004,30005); and

completion of a period of at least three years of supervised professional
experience

-

"on-the-job training" (CPAA, 2001a, By-law 102.1(e)(1); ICAA, 1999a,

p.30020).

Further, once admitted to membership, professional accountants in Australia are
required to undertake 30 hours of Continuing Professional Development each year
(CPAA, 2001a, PSI, CPA Membership (a)) or 120 hours of Continuing Professional
Education over a three year period (ICAA, 1999a, pp.23055,23056).

The Australian professional accounting bodies clearly recognise that, for their
members to have developed competence to practice as professional accountants, they
must undertake "on the job training" (ICAA, 2000, General Information, p.2),
because the formal education programs may not provide exposure to necessary
practical applications which will present themselves during the periods of supervised
professional experience. This training is in addition to formal education programs.

The professional bodies also recognise the need for members to keep abreast of
changing requirements and emerging issues in accounting. This recognition has

Triple Bottom Line Reporting A New Challenge for Accounting Education J.M.B.Vallentine Page 3
-

resulted in the requirement for members to undertake continuing professional
development/education on a regular basis.

Thus it is ensured that formal education programs play a significant role in the
preparation of prospective accountants for practice as professional accountants. The
exposure to issues during periods of formal study is likely to influence their attitudes
towards such issues and their ability to engage in related practices.

It is noteworthy that the Australian membership requirements are consistent with
those of overseas professional accounting bodies, such as the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants' and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in Great Britain2.

Owen, Humphrey and Lewis (1994) concluded that in 1992 environmental and social
accounting was, in most cases, a peripheral subject in United Kingdom university
undergraduate accounting courses. In cases where the issues were covered, they
tended to be included in an optional final year subject (p.19). Therefore, many
accounting students would not have been exposed to environmental and social
accounting issues during their studies (p.38). Gordon (1998) reports that fostering a
"sensitivity to social responsibilities" was identified by the United States' Bedford
Committee as "an important role of accounting educators" (p.132). She concluded, as
the result of a limited study, that the teaching of social responsibility and sustainable
development reporting to accounting students increased their "sensitivity to the
issues" (p.44), thereby making them better prepared to participate in Triple Bottom
Line Reporting.

Membership of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) is achieved by
completing an accredited university degree with a major sequence of study in accounting, passing a
CPA examination, set by a state licensing authority, and completing a two to four year period of
supervised professional experience. Members are required to complete 90 to 120 hours of Continuing
Professional Education every three years (CALCPA, 2001; AICPA, 2001).
2
Membership of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA) is normally achieved by
completing an accredited university degree with a major sequence of study in accounting, passing
professional examinations set by the ACCA and completing a three year period of practical
accountancy training approved by the ACCA (ACCA, 2001, Rule 3(a)(i) and (ii), Rule 7(2)(a)).
Members are also required to undertake 35 hours of Continuing Professional Development each year
(ACCA, 2001, Rule 16(1) & (2)).
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Consequently, in spite of the existence of potential avenues for preparing accountants
for involvement in environmental and social performance reporting, if aspiring
accountants are not being introduced to such issues during their education programs,
as professional accountants they may have little or no knowledge about them and
could be unwilling, disinterested and possibly unable to participate in the reporting of
these issues.

A failure to include studies of environmental and social accounting issues in
accounting education programs could severely restrict the involvement of
accountants in the implementation of Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

This raises the fundamental question

-

how well equipped for participation in Triple

Bottom Line Reporting are Australian accountants? Have Australian accounting
educators, like their British counterparts, failed to respond to the changes in the
demands for information reporting? Are Australian accounting education programs
addressing environmental and social performance reporting issues?

1.2. Research objective

The objective of this research is to determine if the education of Australian
accountants needs to be modified to equip them for the challenges of Triple Bottom
Line Reporting. Based on an underlying assumption that the preparedness of
accountants to meet these challenges is dependent on their education, the following
research question addressed is:

• To what extent are the environmental and social accounting and reporting issues,
as related to Triple Bottom Line Reporting, addressed in the education programs
for Australian accountants?

The education programs identified as relevant to this study are:
• the undergraduate and post-graduate university courses, accredited by the
Australian professional accounting bodies,
• the post-graduate, pre-professional membership courses of the Australian
professional accounting bodies, and
Triple Bottom Line Reporting A New Challenge fir Accounting Education J.M.B.Vallentine
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• the continuing professional development/continuing professional education
programs of the Australian professional accounting bodies.

The justification for this research is that, in recent years, there has been an increase in
the demand for Triple Bottom Line Reporting by major companies. Whilst
companies such as Shell, The Body Shop and Rio unto have recently commenced
the publication of sustainability reports, the formal education of Australian
accountants may have remained focused on preparing them for reporting only
financial or economic performance. Without modification to their formal education,
accountants may be ill-equipped to participate fully in Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

1.3. Si2nificance of the research

Sustainability and Triple Bottom Line Reporting are the subjects of growing interest
and major importance to society, government and the accounting profession
(Deegan, 1999a, pp.38,39). The increasing demand for reports on the environmental
and social performance of businesses, whilst having implications for the education of
people in non-accounting, technical and non-technical fields may also have
implications for the accounting profession if accountants wish or need to participate
in the preparation of such reports.

Simister (2000) noted that professional accountants are in danger of being excluded
from the work of preparing environmental (and social) performance reports because
of the adaptation of necessary skills by other professionals (p.55). There is a need to
establish whether the education of accountants, both university and professional, is
adequate to prepare them for this new reporting.

Unless prospective accountants are exposed to environmental and social reporting
issues in their education programs it is not likely that they will have the awareness
and understanding of the issues which are required for Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

Unless already qualified accountants undertake continuing professional
development/education programs which address environmental and social
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performance reporting issues, they, also, may not be suitably equipped to understand
the issues which are required for Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

The significance of this research study is that it aims to ascertain whether education
programs for Australian accountants should be modified because of the expansion of
Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

1.4. Research method employed

In order to find an answer to the question "To what extent are the environmental and
social accounting and reporting issues, as related to Triple Bottom Line Reporting,
addressed in the education programs for Australian accountants?' attention was
given to, firstly, the two sources of formal education for prospective accountants in
Australia and secondly, the continuing professional development/education programs
for members of the Australian professional accounting bodies.

With respect to prospective accountants, information was gathered about the two
sources of formal education

-

accounting courses offered by Australian universities

and the post-graduate, pre-professional membership education programs offered by
the Australian professional accounting bodies.

Content analysis was used to collect, review and collate the university course
information as well as the information about the Australian professional accounting
bodies' post-graduate, pre-professional membership courses.

The course and

program information was then critiqued.

In order to ascertain the extent to which accountants, who are already full members
of the Australian professional accounting bodies, are being assisted to participate in
the reporting of environmental and social performance, information about the bodies
continuing professional development/professional education programs for members
was gathered, collated, reviewed and critiqued.

Triple Bottom Line Reporting A New C hallenge tr Accounting Education J.M.B.Vallentine Page
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1.5. Leitimacv theo

There are several theories which can be studied for the purpose of providing a
backdrop for the issue of Triple Bottom Line Reporting and to provide a basis for
this thesis. The theories are:
•

stakeholder theory,

• legitimacy theory,
•

development of professions theory,

• dominant logic theory,
• political economy theory, and
• critical theory.

After a close examination of these theories it was decided, for the following reasons,
that legitimacy theory is the most appropriate on which to base the study.

The demand for Triple Bottom Line Reporting relies largely on the views held by
managers of businesses that, if the activities of a business are not consistent with
those expected by society, "penalties" will be imposed on the business by, for
example, consumers of the business's products and/or suppliers of goods, services
and finance to the business (Guthrie & Parker, 1989, p.344).

This view is embodied in legitimacy theory, which posits that an organisation
operates in such a way that it continually seeks to appear considerate of the rights,
not only of its investors, but of all members of society. This implies the existence of
a "social contract

"

between the organisation and society (Brown & Deegan, 1999,

p.22; Guthrie & Parker, 1989, p.1344).

In order to ensure continuance of society's support, an organisation needs to
demonstrate that its activities are consistent with the expectations of society (Guthrie
& Parker. 1989, p.344). It must demonstrate that it is "responsive to environmental
pressures (including political, social and economic)" (Deegan & Rankin, 1996, p.53).

Triple Bottom Line Reporting
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If it cannot justify its continued existence, society may revoke the "social contract",
with customers reducing or withdrawing support for its products; labour, materials
and financial support being withdrawn or the government being pressured to levy
taxes or fines, to implement laws to prohibit those actions which do not conform"
with society's expectations (Brown & Deegan, 1999, p.22).

One way in which organisations attempt to demonstrate that they are good "corporate
citizens", that they are complying with the terms of their 'contracts" with society is
by the public disclosure of information about their activities, not only in relation to
financial performance but in relation to environmental and social performance
(Guthrie & Parker, 1989, p.344). This disclosure is in the form of Triple Bottom
Line Reporting.

Legitimacy theory best fits the actions of Australian corporate management and this
is reflected in statements made by directors and chief executives of some of
Australia's largest companies (Brown and Deegan, 1999, pp.22,23).

Australian research relating to social responsibility disclosures3 has included a study
by Deegan and Rankin (1996) in which they examined the annual reports of a sample
of companies which had been successfully prosecuted by the New South Wales and
Victorian Environmental Protection Authorities. The researchers found that these
companies provided a significantly larger volume of positive environmental
disclosure in their annual reports than did companies which had not been prosecuted
(p.59). This led them to conclude that the reporting practices of the companies in the
sample examined were consistent with a legitimation motive (p.62).

Brown and Deegan (1999) examined the relationship between print media coverage
given to the environmental effects of nine industries and the levels of environmental
disclosures included in the annual reports of a sample of companies from those

Social responsibility disclosures can include, amongst other things, disclosures relating to the
interaction between an organisation and the natural environment and the community in which it
operates, for example disclosures relating to human resources, energy, community involvement and
product safety ( Deegan & Rankin, 1996, p.51).
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industries. Their study covered the period 1981 to 1994. Their findings in respect of
the prediction that high levels of media attention would be associated with high
levels of environmental disclosures in the companies annual reports confirmed a
legitimation motive by managements of companies in six of the nine industries
(p.33). Their findings in respect of the prediction that high levels of negative media
attention would be associated with high levels of positive environmental disclosures
in the companies annual reports confirmed a legitimation motive by managements of
companies in five of the nine industries (p.34).

There are some studies in the literature which question the validity of legitimacy
theory. One such study is that of Guthrie and Parker (1989) who undertook an
examination of 177 annual and half-yearly reports of Broken Hill Proprietary
Company Limited (BHP) covering 100 years onwards from 1885 (p.344). The
examination was to compare corporate social reporting (CSR) disclosures in these
reports with relevant social, economic and political events in the history of the
company and its industry in the same or immediately preceding time periods. This
study failed to confirm that, in the case of BHP, legitimacy theory was the primary
explanation for CSR disclosure in the annual and half-yearly reports, because there
was little correspondence between the key socio-economic events of the company's
operating history and the peaks of its CSR disclosures (p.351).

However Guthrie and Parker themselves identified limitations of their study. These
included possible unidentified time lags between events and disclosure, and the
possible failure to include in their analysis a number of significant events and the
associated CSR which was not reported in the annual reports (p.351). Therefore, this
reported failure to confirm legitimacy theory should be treated with caution.

Legitimacy theory emphasises the need for organisations to demonstrate that they are
good corporate citizens by reporting their environmental and social performance as
well as their financial performance. Accordingly legitimacy theory is recognised as
the appropriate theoretical basis for a study of the education of accountants in
relation to preparing them for Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

Triple Bottom Line Reporting A New Challenge for Accounting Education J.M.B.Vallentine Page
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1.6. Conclusions

It will be shown that the process for educating aspiring accountants in Australia
appears sound and comprehensive, with regard to preparing them for participation in
the environmental and social performance reporting elements of Triple Bottom Line
Reporting. However it will be further shown that the process is deficient in that
many courses and programs are structured in such a way that they provide graduates
with minimal or no exposure to environmental and social accounting and reporting
issues, and some, in fact, lack the content to provide such exposure.

It will be further shown that, although the Australian professional accounting bodies
conduct extensive continuing professional development/education programs, those
programs fail to provide adequate coverage of topics which would assist already
qualified accountants to participate in the environmental and social performance
reporting elements of Triple Bottom Line Reporting,

1.7. Limitations of the inquiry

This inquiry and its results and conclusions are subject to a number of limitations.
These are as set out below.

It was assumed that the preparedness of accountants to be involved in Triple
Bottom Line Reporting is dependent on their education and, in particular, the
education courses/programs they undertake.

University information was collected over a period up to July 2000. There is
an underlying assumption that, since then, there will have been little or no change in
university offerings4. Where, prior to July 2000, advice was received that relevant
changes were to be implemented in the near future, this was taken into account in the
review of university offerings.

This assumption is based on the writer's experience as a senior acadeinic that, generally, university
courses in Australia are accredited for three to five years and that the process of accreditation/revision
of courses within universities requires a lengthy period to have changes to courses implemented.

Triple Bottom Line Reporting A New Challenge Jr Accounting Education J.M.B.Vallentine Page
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The descriptions of subject units which are included in university, faculty or
department handbooks, the main data source, may not be consistent, in practice, with
what is being actually covered in the unit outlines prepared and taught by university
sta fT.

The post-graduate, pre-professional membership courses of the two
Australian professional accounting bodies are both relatively new and the syllabus
content is subject to review and modiflcation. Accordingly, modifications may have
taken place since the date of information collection and the date of this thesis.

Similarly, the continuing professional development/education programs of
the Australian professional accounting bodies are subject to continual review with
the inclusion of additional topics considered to be of interest or importance to
members. Changes and additions to these programs may also have taken place since
the date of information collection and the date of this thesis.

As stated above, the Australian professional accounting bodies require that,
prior to admission to full membership, a period of relevant professional experience is
to be completed. This reflects the recognition that the development of professional
competence requires practical experience in addition to formal education programs
(ICAA, 2000, General Information, p.2). The "on-the-job training" which should
occur during this period of professional experience has not been taken into account in
this study.

1.8. Plan of thesis

Chapter Two deals with the research method identifying the data sources accessed,
modes of inquiries and explanations and justification of the process.

Chapter Three addresses the increasing need for and importance of sustainability and
its implications for Triple Bottom Line Reporting. The chapter reviews literature
relating to environmental and social responsibility and provides evidence of the
growing need for Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

Triple Bo/tom Line Reporting A New Challenge for Accounting Education J.M.B.Vallentine Page
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Chapter Four discusses the relevance of the financial reporting framework to Triple
Bottom Line Reporting. It considers the concepts and issues relating to sustainability
reporting, the role played by Genera! Purpose Financial Reporting and the issues of
what leads organisations to disclose environmental and social issues related to their
activities. Organisations responses to the demand for sustainability reporting are
also addressed.

Chapter Five states the requirements of Triple Bottom Line Reporting and considers
the role that accountants could play in such reporting.

Chapter Six identifies and discusses the responses of accounting educators to
environmental and social accounting issues. It also considers the accounting
professions attention to environmental and social accounting. Potential problems
with the education of accountants in Australia are identified and discussed.

Chapter Seven presents the results of the research and includes a discussion of these
results.

Chapter Eight provides a summary of the thesis and embodies the conclusions
reached and recommendations drawn from the study. Limitations of the study and of
the implementation of recommendations are identified and discussed and suggestions
for further relevant research are included.

Triple Bottom Line Reporting A New Challenge for Accounling Education J.M.B.Vallentine Page
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Chapter 2
RESEARCH METHOD

CHAPTER 2- RESEARCH METHOD

2.1. Introduction

The objective of the research is to determine if the education of Australian
accountants needs to be modified to meet the challenges of Triple Bottom Line
Reporting. Consequently the research question addressed is:

. To what extent are the environmental and social accounting and reporting issues,

as related to Triple Bottom Line Reporting, addressed in the education programs
for Australian accountants?

In order to find an answer to this question three types of education programs for
accountants in Australia were examined. The first two of these were the formal
education programs required for admission to membership of the professional
accounting bodies:
• university courses, and
• the post-graduate, pre-professional membership programs of the professional
accounting bodies themselves.

The third type examined was the continuing professional development/education
programs of the professional bodies.

The examination of these programs involved the collection of detailed information
about them, reviewing, analysing and collating that information, using content
analysis, and then critiquing the information.

Triple Bottom Line Reporting A New Challengefor Accounting Education J.M.BVallentine Page 14
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2.2. Collecting information

2.2 1. University courses

Australian university courses are jointly accredited by the two professional
accounting bodies in Australia, CPA Australia and The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in Australia (ASCPA & ICAA, 1996). Accordingly it was necessary to
inspect the records of only one of the two bodies to identify those courses, undergraduate and post-graduate, which are accredited. The list of accredited courses was
prepared by reference to the Members' Handbook of CPA Australia, formerly
Australian Society of CPAs (ASCPA, 1999a, pp.1401'7- 14020.1, 14021-14022.1).

Details of the structures of each course were collected by accessing, where possible,
the universities' web-sites. For some universities the required information was
contained in the universities' Handbooks and course repositories, in other cases it
was found in the Handbooks of faculties or courses, or on the web-pages of faculties
or departments. This information identified structures and components of courses,
including schedules of those subject units which were compulsory and those which
were elective or optional for students in the courses.

The information also included the topics covered in each subject unit

In a few cases the information was not available "on line" and the heads of relevant
university departments were contacted by facsimile with requests for the information.
In some of these cases, follow-up telephone requests were required to obtain the
information sought. In all these cases the course and subject unit information was
received by email, as attachment documents, or by post.

Triple Bottom Line Reporting
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2.2.2. Post-graduate, pre-professional membership programs

Details of the post-graduate, pre-professional membership programs of the
Australian professional accounting bodies were obtained from the publications of
those bodies. Some publications were available as "hard-copy", whilst others were
obtained from the bodies' web-sites. These details included the structures of the
programs, identifying the core, or required, modules/segments and, where applicable,
the elective modules/segments from which a selection was required to be made by
participants. Additional information was obtained from the professional bodies by
mail, fax and telephone contact with senior personnel directly associated with the
development and approval of these programs.

2.2.3. Professional development/continuing professional education programs

To obtain information about the professional development/continuing professional
education programs for members of the Australian professional accounting bodies,
the National and State offices of each body were contacted by mail with requests for
details of relevant activities in their programs. In some cases follow-up e-mails,
facsimiles and telephone calls were required. Details were sought of activities which
had been conducted as well as those which were planned to be conducted in the
future. This information was supplemented by searches of the bodies' web-sites for
additions to the programs of activities and for details of upcoming conferences and
other relevant activities.
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2.3. Review, analysis and collation

2.3.1. Content analysis

The material collected in respect of the university courses, the post-graduate, preprofessional membership programs and the professional development/continuing
professional education programs was reviewed and analysed using content analysis5.

The justification for using this technique is as per the following:

It was assumed that the preparedness of accountants to be involved in Triple Bottom
Line Reporting is dependent on their education and. in particular, the education
courses/programs they undertake6.

The education courses/programs which better prepare accountants are those which
include a study of topics relevant to Triple Bottom Lone Reporting. As it was
impractical for the researcher to attend all classes in all courses/programs for the
education of accountants, content analysis was used to ascertain which
course/program documentation disclosed a study of topics relevant to Triple Bottom
Line Reporting.

The documentation to be analysed comprised:
. university courses

-

the schedules of topics included in the subject units which

comprised the courses,
. post-graduate, pre-professional membership programs

-

schedules of topics

included in the modules/segments which comprised those programs, and
professional development/continuing professional education programs

-

schedules of topics to be addressed by the activities which comprised those
programs.
"Content analysis' is a technique for gathering and analysing the content of text material. (Neuman,
2000, p.34). It is a procedure whereby inferences are made about sources and receivers from evidence
in the messages they exchange (Holsti, 1969, p.13). It is appropriate to use content analysis when data
accessibility is a problem and an investigator has to rely on documentary evidence for data (Holsti,
1969, p.1 5).
6
It is acknowledged that this assumption is a limitation of the research method and the researcher
thanks the supervisor of the work for pointing this out.
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The "content" comprised the words within the schedules which described the subject
matter of the topics. Those words, or groups of words, which were looked for
included:
environmental accounting,
social accounting,
corporate social responsibility,
accounting for the environment,
social issues in accounting,
green accounting,
social performance,
social audit,
environmental audit,
environmental performance reporting,
accounting for environmental assets, costs and liabilities,
life-cycle costing,
social accounting theory, and
social reporting.

Subject units and program modules, segments and activities which included topics,
described in these terms were considered to be ones which were relevant to the
preparation of accountants for involvement in Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

2.3.2. University courses

The schedules of subject units comprising the accredited courses were examined and
those subject units which included topics as described above were tabulated and the
topics covered in each one recorded. The information was then collated, to enable
the results of the research to be presented as shown in Chapter 7.

Where the date of introduction of a subject unit was not included in the
documentation examined, the relevant university head of department was contacted
by facsimile and asked to provide the information. In some cases, follow-up
telephone calls were required to obtain the information.
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2.3.3. Post-graduate, pre-professional membership programs

The schedules of modules and segments which comprise these programs were
examined and those modules and segments which included topics as described above
were identified as being relevant. The information was then collated, to enable the
results of the research to be presented as shown in Chapter 7.

2.3.4. Professional development/continuing professional education programs

The schedules of activities which comprise these programs were examined and those
activities which included topics as described above were identified as being relevant.
The information was then collated, to enable the results of the research to be
presented as shown in Chapter 7.

2.4. Critiquing

The process of critiquing the courses and programs was carried out by reference to
the comments and opinions of accounting educators from Australia and overseas, as
expressed in relevant journal articles and monographs.

The educators referred to include:
• Professor Lee Parker Australia,
-

• Professor Murray Wells Australia,
-

•

Professor Reg Mathews New Zealand,
-

• Professor Rob Gray United Kingdom,
-

• Professor David Owen United Kingdom, and
-

•

Professor Jan Bebbington New Zealand and United Kingdom.
-

These educators were selected, in some cases, as they are leaders in the field of
environmental and social accounting and the associated education of accounting
students. Many are closely associated with the Centre for Social and Environmental
Accounting Research, located at the University of Glasgow. They all have been
involved in university level accounting education for at least ten years and up to
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thirty years. Consequently it was considered that their opinions related to education
requirements relative to Triple Bottom Line Reporting would be appropriate for the
evaluation of current education programs.

The journals referred to include:
• Accounting, Auditing and Accountability Journal,
• Accounting Education,
• Accounting Forum.
•

Issues in Accounting Education, and

•

Journal of Applied Accounting Research.

These journals are high quality journals, which publish only refereed articles. The
specific articles referred to include those authored by the above educators and many
other writers in the fields of accounting education and environmental and social
accounting.

2.5. Conclusions

Following the review and critiquing phase, conclusions were reached and
recommendations proposed.
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Chapter 3
THE IMPORTANCE OF SUSTAINABILITY AND ITS
IMPLICATION FOR TRIPLE BOTTOM LINE
REPORTING

CHAPTER 3- THE IMPORTANCE OF SUSTAINABILITY AND
ITS IMPLICATION FOR TRIPLE BOTTOM LINE REPORTING

3.1.Introduction

Sustainability, or sustainable development is defined as "development that meets the
needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet
their own needs" (World Commission of Environment and Development as quoted in
Geno, 1995, p.187). The concept of sustainability embodies corporate social
responsibility whereby business is committed to ethical behaviour and to economic
development whilst making improvements to the quality of life of the workforce, its
families, the local community and society at large (Watts and Holme, 1999, p.3).

The three aspects of an organisation's activities which disclose its contribution to
sustainablility are financial (economic) performance, environmental performance and
social performance (GRI, 2000, p.2). To evaluate the performance of any firm,
information on the human and ecological impact of its activities will be necessary in
addition to its financial impact.

With a growing interest by society in sustainability, businesses, particularly
companies, are responding to the social pressures by extending their traditional
reporting of only financial or economic performance to include environmental and
social performance, i.e. they are engaging in Triple Bottom Line Reporting. This is
evidenced by the reporting actions of companies both Australian7 and international8.
Further evidence of interest in this reporting is that the number of organisations
entering the UK Social Reporting Awards in 2000 was almost double that in 1999

The Body Shop Australia published its First environmental and social reports in 1998 (The Body
Shop, 2000, p.1).
Sydney Waters 1997 Annual Environment Report met many of the UNEP reporting ingredients and
has improved its reporting since then as it moves towards Triple Bottom Line Reporting, based on the
GRI guidelines (Sydney Water, 2000, p.1).
Stanwell Corporation has produced an annual Environment, Health and Safety Performance Report
for each year commencing with 1997/98 (Stanwell Corporation, 1999, p.1).
8

Rio Tinto has produced a social and environment report each year since 1996 (Rio Tinto, 2000, p.3).
The Shell Group produced its first annual The Shell Report', which summarises the ways in which
the Group is meeting its responsibilities relating to economic, environmental and social issues
(Elkington, I 998b, Introduction).
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(Accountability, 2000, p.1). In only one year the number of entrants increased from
13 in 1999 to 25 in 20009 .

This chapter addresses the importance of sustainability and Triple Bottom Line
Reporting.

It identifies and discusses, with reference to relevant literature,

significant issues concerning society's interest in sustainability and the associated
increase in social consciousness of business, together with the creation of a more
inclusive decision-making information base that is currently being demanded by a
range of stakeholders. The impact oIthe increased social consciousness on corporate
experiences is addressed, along with the effects of various media and pressures for
reporting the performances of organisations. The chapter provides evidence of the
need for Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

The chapter is organised as follows:

The first part is concerned with sustainability as a "new" way of thinking. It
considers sustainable development and its relationship to environmental and social
responsibility.

In the second part, stakeholders are identified. Their needs are considered and the
related demands for sustainability information are discussed.

The third part gives attention to organisations' responses to the sustainability debate
and to the demands of stakeholders. Environmental and social 'disasters" which
have confronted corporations are addressed, as are the pressures exerted on
organisations by the media, government and the community in general. It is argued
that it is in the interests of organisations to be involved with the reporting of their
performances.

Email from Rachel Jackson, Social and Environmental Issues Manager. Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, London, 18.10.01.
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The chapter concludes that:
. there has been an increase in community interest in sustainability with a related
increase in the range of stakeholders in organisations and a corresponding
increase in the demand fo r environmental and social performance information.
. environmental and social performance disclosures have increased and so has the
demand for Triple Bottom Line Reporting, and
. the forces that influence organisations' responses to the sustainability debate
emanate from within the organisations, as well as from the environments in
which they operate.

3.2. Sustainahility as a "new" way of thinking

Milton Friedman is reported as holding, in 1962, a view that corporate managers
have no moral obligations or responsibilities. The only social responsibility of
business is "to use its resources and engage in activities designated to increase its
profits" (Friedman quoted in Deegan, 1999c, p.976). He argued that profitable
business results in benefits for all investors receiving dividends, members of the
-

community being in paid employment, suppliers of capital goods receiving orders
and payments, and the public sector activities being financed through taxation of
business.

These benefits will flow if business is efficient, undertakes new product development
and responds to changes in the market, in prices, in consumer tastes etc. (Hibbitt,
2001, p.2). Hibbitt claims that although business in general has, through its actions,
achieved economic success, there are some unfavourable side effects. The rich are
getting richer whilst the poor are getting poorer. Corporations have ascended to
powerful positions with their managers accountable to only the shareholders (often
institutional investors), and there has been environmental degradation (p.2).

The recognition of these side-effects, increasing social inequities between various
societal groups and the decline in the natural environment, has led to society's
increasing awareness of the importance of sustainable development. Sustainable
development is "development that meets the needs of the present without
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compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs' (World
Commission of Environment and Development as quoted in Geno, 1995, p.18'7).

Sustainable development'0 or sustainability embodies corporate social responsibility
whereby business is committed to ethical behaviour and to the contribution to
economic development whilst making improvements to the quality of life of the
workforce, their families, the local community and society at large (Watts and
1-lolme, 1999, p.3).

This is a shift away from a solely economic focus for business to a new context, one
in which it has a locus on sustainability, "a commitment to providing satisfying lives
for all within the means of nature" (I-lawken and Wackernagel, 2000. p.2).

In this context, the expectations and standards of society are changing continuously.
"A new generation finds it incredible ...that its ancestors put up with filthy air and
foul water as the by-products of industrialisation" (Holme, 1999, p.1).

Society's concern about sustainability can be identified as being related to ecoefficiency and eGo-justice

Eco-efficiency is the creation of value for business and society by using resources in
ways which will consume less energy to produce goods and services, which will
make goods and services more functional and durable and which will reduce toxic
emissions. In addition, efforts would be made to find ways to recycle products and
other materials as well as to make the most possible use of renewable resources
(Blumberg cial., 1997, p.1 1).

Eco-luslice, "justice between peoples and generations", is the equitable distribution
of the outcomes of human development and embraces the following:

0

Hibbitt (2001) argues that the ternis "sustainablility" and "sustainable development" are not
synonymous. He quotes Thomson and Duncan, claiming that "sustainability" is a "state or condition
to be aspired to" whilst "sustainable development" is the process by which human activity moves
towards, or maintains a state of, sustainability (p.3).
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intra-generation equity

-

an acknowledgment of the fact that the resources of the

earth are for all to share and an awareness of the issues of wealth distribution
throughout the world;
inter-generation equity

-

an acknowledgment of the need to preserve natural

resources to minimise the erosion of the rights of future generations to "utilise the
Earth s resources (Godfrey

et al.,

2000, p.659) and to refrain from leaving a

legacy of toxic wastes and environmental pollution to the detriment of the quality
of life of future generations.

Herman Daly, quoted in Hibbitt (2001), identifies three conditions to be met by a
sustainable society:
. with regard to renewable resources, the rate of use should not exceed the rate of
regeneration,
. with regard to non-renewable resources, the rate of use should not exceed the rate
at which the development of sustainable renewable resources is occurring, and
• with regard to polluting emissions, the rate of emission should not exceed the
capacity of the environment to assimilate those emissions (p.3).

These conditions can be translated to an organisational context and, looking to the
definition of the economist Hicks, of an organisation's profit, Gray et al. (1993)
described a sustainable organisation as 'one which leaves the biosphere no worse off
at the end of the accounting period than it was at the beginning" (p.293).

Although society expects business to contribute to economic development, it also
expects that business will act responsibly with regard to the environment and social
issues. Society expects that the activities of business, whilst creating wealth, will
minimise the impacts on the environment of its activities and will minimise social
inequities, thereby helping to "further social progress" (Stigson, undated, p.4). In
other words, society expects that business will broaden its focus from its own
customers and their requirements to consider the needs of society as a whole.

1-lowever, Low and Gleeson (1999) argue that sustainability involves several
conflicts of interest. These include conflicts between different industries and those
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who depend on them, conflicts between developing and developed nations, and
conflicts between the interests of the present generation and those of future
generations (p. 16).

Many businesses, particularly small to medium enterprises, find it hard to see how
the sustainability debate applies to them. Non-manufacturing organisations, which
use little by way of resources and energy, can find it difficult to identify the full
impact of their operations on the environment and on society. Shaper and Raar
(2001) give examples of such businesses, one being a professional accounting
practice, which has no "obvious waste streams or by-products' (p.41). Of course
such a business does use resources, electricity, paper and other consumables. In
addition its activities contribute to pollution of the environment as most of its staff
travel to work in polluting vehicles, be they public transport vehicles or privately
owned, as well as the travel to and from clients' premises.

There is also the expectation by society that companies will report their activities in a
way that demonstrates not only their financial or economic performance but also
their performance with regard to environmental and social issues. Rankin (1996)
reported that a majority of users of annual reports considered it important that
information about environmental and social issues be disclosed in the annual report
(p.14). This is supported by Deegan (1999a) who contends that there will be
increasing demands for organisations to report their performance "against the central
tenets of sustainability", as sustainability increasingly becomes part of society's
expectations (pp.38,39). This is a shift away from "single bottom line" reporting, the
reporting of only financial performance, to reporting which focuses on "economic
prosperity, environmental quality, and ...social justice" (Elkington, 1999, p.19). This
has become known as "Triple Bottom Line Reporting" a term coined by John
Elkington (Deegan, 1999a, p.38).

The audience for business and, in particular, company performance reports has
expanded from the financial stakeholders, ie. shareholders and financiers, to include
not only regulators, employees, customers and suppliers but also environmental
organisations and the community at large.
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3.3. Stakeholders and their needs in respect of sustainability

In addition to those traditionally thought of as stakeholders (i.e. the financial
stakeholders

-

owners (shareholders) and financiers, who, because of their financial

interests in the organisation, have a significant interest in the economic or financial
performance of the organisation), the expanded range of stakeholders includes
"employees; local community groups: existing and aspirant landowners; indigenous
peoples"; government and non-government organisations; "academics and research
organisations" (Placer Pacific, 1998, p.1 2), trade unions, suppliers, financial
institutions, stockbrokers and investment advisers, local and international
communities (ISEA, 1999, p.9).

These other newly recognised stakeholders have interests in aspects of the
organisations performance in addition to financial performance and accordingly,
seek comprehensive information about the total performance of the organisation.

Communities in which organisations operate would like information about, amongst
other things, the environmental performance of the organisations, their policies on
employment, ie. relating to employing locals, training and education programs,
employee health and safety issues, and social policies (Ranganathan, 1999, p.4;
Deegan, 1999c, p.972). Their concerns relate to both the built and natural
environments so they have an interest in specific projects which are being carried out
in their own regions with concerns about improvement to the local environment and
damage (or potential damage) to the local environment (Rush, 1996, pp.36,40;
Environment Australia, 1999, p.1 9). Particular interest is in matters such as emission
of noise, smells, and physical pollutants as well as traffic congestion and positive
contribution to the local community (FFE, 2000a, p.14).

However, although there is a claimed interest by the "public community" in
businesses' environmental performance, the 1996 survey conducted by Rush Social
Research (1996) on behalf of the New South Wales Environment Protection
Authority found that there was, at that time, little pressure exerted by the general
community to encourage companies to report publicly on their environmental
performance (p.9). The reason offered for this situation is that public environmental
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performance reporting, particularly that included in the annual report, was seen as a
public relations exercise, biased to the extent that the reports disclosed no
information about poor performance (p.38). This finding is complemented by the
findings of Deegan and Rankin (1997) who concluded that,

in the absence of

disclosure regulations' companies will disclose only favourable information
concerning environmental performance (p.62). It can be deduced from this that, if
there are reporting regulations/guidelines covering all three aspects of sustainablility
reporting, i.e. regulated Triple Bottom Line Reporting, it is likely that reports would
be unbiased, reporting both favourable and unfavourable performance.

With regard to customers it is claimed that they want products from firms that use
environmental and socially friendly materials, processes and practices (Brayshaw,
1999, p.36). They are concerned with issues such as packaging and the ultimate
disposal of products at the end of their useful lives (Environment Australia, 1999,
p.19; FEE, 2000a, p.13). Customers prefer to deal with suppliers who can
demonstrate their commitments to sustainability. Birchard (2000) reports the
experiences of ITT Flygt and Proctor and Gamble (P&G), both of whom claim
significant customer interest in the companies' sustainability reports. P&G won a big
contract to supply a major customer in the United Kingdom and that customer "cited
P&G's sustainability report as a primary reason" for awarding the contract to P&G
(p.5 8).

It is also claimed that many customers are concerned with the financial viability of
their suppliers (FEE, 2000a, p13), presumably in case they need to make warranty
claims or have the product repaired or serviced.

It is, however, worth noting that, although consumer groups may be interested in
the "environmental performances of an organisation within an industry" (Rush 1996
p.40), in general, the average individual consumer has shown little interest in the
environmental performance of individual companies (Rush, 1996, p.14). However
the customers of some businesses do appear to have such an interest. A very large
majority of customers of The Body Shop have "high positive perceptions" of the
business's environmental and social practices (The Body Shop, 2000, p.4).
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Employees are interested in employment practices and policies, as they may wish to
compare those of their own employer with those of other firms (Ranganathan, 1999,
p.5).

Health and safety issues, liabilities, environmental performance and

management systems are also of interest to employees (Environment Australia, 1999,
p.19), as these issues may have some influence on the businesss ability to continue
as a going concern (FEE, 2000a. p.12). Other issues of interest to employees include
commitment to social change, ethical participation in business dealings, recycling
and the avoidance of using animals for new product testing (The Body shop. 2000,
pp.3,4).

The environmental goals of a company are of interest to suppliers. In particular,
they are concerned with companies' buying criteria (Environment Australia, 1999,
p.19), their creditor payment policies and going concern assurance.

Poor

environmental and social practices may affect a firm's ability to continue in
operation. Further, a supplier's reputation may be damaged by supplying to a
company which engages in poor environmental and social practices (FEE, 2000a,
pp. I2,13).

These groups of stakeholders customers, employees and suppliers regularly make
-

-

decisions concerning their relationships with an organisation

-

will I buy its

products? will I work for it? will I supply it? Now, concerns about the organisation
have extended beyond its financial viability to include the other issues of
sustainability

-

environmental and social performance.

Increasingly, these

stakeholders rely on the sustainability information to assist them in their decision
making processes, the information embodied in Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

Shareholders/investors have a primary interest in financial returns. They also have
an interest in the environmental and social performance of their investments. The
1995 survey of annual report users and preparers (Rankin, 1996) identified that some
shareholders were supportive of environmental performance information being
disclosed as they would like to have extra returns, other than financial. This can be
described as "a feel good factor" (p.15).
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Investors, recognising the influence over financial performance, want information
about environmental provisions, liabilities, contingencies, risk exposures and other
financial implications of environmental performance (FEE, 2000a, p.11).

Over 75% of private investors surveyed in 2000 in Australia, purchased investment
products within the preceding twelve months, on the basis of environmental and
social issues (KPMG Consulting, 2000, p.13). The results of this survey are
consistent with the 1999 survey conducted in the United States by Yankelovich
Partners (1999) on behalf of the Calvert Group which found that 70% of investors in
mutual funds would invest in a socially responsible option if it were available (p,35).
Triple Bottom Line Reports will be of significant interest to these investors as these
reports will provide information about the sustainability of the organisation's
activities.

Financial institutions and investment advisers are emerging as a very important
group of stakeholders with an interest in environmental and social performance,
particularly of large companies. Increasingly they are becoming aware of the
relationship between environmental issues affecting a company and its financial
performance (Atkins 1998, p.1 3), and that good environmental performance is linked
to good business management and to above average financial performance (Grant,
2001, p.32). With this in mind, many financial investment evaluation practices now
include consideration of environmental issues such as those which affect both credit
risk and the market opportunities for environmentally responsible products (Atkins,
1998, p.13).

Both the United States Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (which has
responsibility for insuring bank depositors) and the Swiss Bankers! Association have
issued guidelines requiring that environmental considerations be incorporated into
lending and investment practices and decisions (Reiskin and White, 1998, pp.2.3). In
addition, similar procedures are in place for Danish banking institutions, Hungarian
banks and many other European investment and pension funds (Atkins, 1998, p.14).
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As a consequence, these institutions and their members and clients require
information which would be provided by Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

A 1999 survey of investment analysts and fund managers by Mills et al. (2001)
disclosed that financial analysts see the publics perception about an entity as
important with regard to environmental and social issues. Publicly advertised
"incidents" or disasters such as the Exxon Valdez disaster, (Volokh. 1996, pp.22,27)
and the OK Tedi mine release of toxins (Anderson, 2000, p.1) are seen as "highly
significant" because of their impact on the liabilities and risks of the relevant
companies and consequently, the financial performances (Mills et al., 2001, p.6).

Mills et al. concluded that analysts focussed on short term gains for clients, using a
three year time horizon. Because environmental factors are perceived by the analysts
as being relevant to a longer time frame, they are not regarded as being of a major
concern to the analysts (p.7).

These findings were discovered by Mills et al. to be consistent with the results of a
2000 study by Fayers et al. (2000) which concluded that, in general, Australian
investment analysts pay little attention to the environmental performance of
corporations. Those who do, focus on environmental liabilities and compliance
issues (p.4).

Other writers have also identified that financial analysts, institutions and stock
brokers have a lack of interest in other than financial information. Deegan and
Rankin (1997) found that only 50% of responding brokers, analysts and financial
institutions saw environmental issues as material, in comparison with 71% of other
respondents when considering the disclosure of environmental information in the
annual reports of companies (p.573). White (1999) also supported the claim that, in
general, financial markets apparently pay little attention to sustainability information
in their decision-making processes, stating that, for these markets, such information
remains a "curiosity" (p.42).
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However, the UNEP' Financial Institutions Initiative survey of 1998 found that of
the 78 respondents, based primarily in Europe, 60 percent are factoring
environmental risk into the credit decision process and 55 percent have some form of
green financial product (Kelly. 1999, p.10).

Even though analysts acknowledge a strong link between environmental performance
and economic performance, Mills et al. (2001) discovered that, in Australia, analysts
will not take environmental issues into account until the link can be modelled (p.17).

For such modelling to be developed, a knowledge and understanding of the
relationships between financial, environmental and social performance is required.
In short, in these circumstances there is a need for Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

The demand for Triple Bottom Line Reporting is further enhanced by a substantial
increase in the interest of financial institutions in environmental and social
performance. This is a result of investors moving towards Socially Responsible
Investing (SRI) or Ethical Investing.

SRI integrates environmental and social values and concerns into the investment
decision-making processes (Ethical Funds, 2000, p.1). The strategies incorporated in
SRI are:
negative screening excluding from the investment portfolio, securities of
-

companies whose products and business practices are considered undesirable or
harmful,
positive screening including securities of companies with "good' environmental
-

and social practices,
•

shareholder advocacy the process of using shareholder influence to help bring
-

about changes to corporate environmental and social attitudes and policies,
•

community based investment investment of money into community
-

development schemes and other smaller initiatives which would not attract
funding through conventional financing processes and which would contribute to

UNEP United Nations Environmental Program.
-

Triple Bottom Line Reporting - A New Challenge for Accounting Education J.M.B.Vallentine Page 32

the growth and wellbeing of particular communities (Social Investment Forum,
1999, pp.6,7).

In the United States of America, the dramatic growth of SRI is demonstrated by the
increase in the volume of funds invested; 1984 $US40 billion, 1995 $US639 billion,
1997 $US 1 .1 85 trillion, 1999 $US2. 16 trillion (Social Investment Forum, 1999, p.5).

In Canada, a similar growth has been experienced with, in 1984,$C 102 million
being invested in four screened funds, growing to, in 1998, $C3.8 billion invested in
fourteen screened mutual funds. This is a 3,700% growth compared with a 1,450%
growth in unscreened funds over the same period (Allen Consulting, 2000, p.1 3).

In the United Kingdom, SRI grew from £672.3 in 1994 to £2,199.7 in 1998 (HESTA,
2000, p.1

In Australia, whilst there is still a lag behind these other countries, there is an
increase in the availability of SRI for investors. Ball (1995) reported that, in 1995,
there were few organisations promoting SRI in Australia and that, up to that time,
they had attracted few investors, "less than $A 5 per capita" in comparison with SRI
in the United States at approximately $US 2,200 per capita (p.8). Ball contends that
this low level of ethical investment within Australia is, in part at least, the result of
no major financial institution promoting that type of investment (p.9). In recent
times, however, this situation has changed with a major bank, Westpac through
Westpac Investment Management, now offering screened investments (Westpac
Investment Management, 2000 p.2). A major reason offered for a growth of interest
in ethical investment within Australia is the expansion of the superannuation
industry.' 2

Coupled with this growth has been the recent decision by some superannuation funds
to offer screened investment options to their members. A survey of members of

2

Following the 1992 introduction ofa Superannuation Guarantee Charge, a requirement for
employers to contribute to employees' superannuation, superannuation assets have risen to an
estimated $A 480 billion as at June 2000 (Mather, 2000b, p.1) with an industry growth of 15% per
annum and the expectation that such assets will reach $A860 billion by 2010 and $AI,581 billion by
2020 (Mather, 2000a, p. 10).
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HESTA superannuation fund showed a strong demand for an ethical investment
option (Kerr, 2001, p.6) This fund and SSAU (Unisuper) have a combined
membership which totals in excess of 450,000 and over $A 10 billion in investment
assets. Since 2000, both funds have offered an ethical investment option (Mather,
2000b, p.1). The Western Australian Local Government Super Plan, in 1999,
commenced offering an ethical investment option to its members (Mather 2000a,
pH). It is possible that SRI will receive a further boost in Australia, following the
recent legislation requiring sellers and issuers of investment products, including
superannuation, to disclose to investors 'the extent (if at all) to which labour
standards or environmental, social or ethical considerations are taken into account in
the selection, retention and realisation of the investment" (Australian Conservation
This disclosure requirement is similar to the 1999

Foundation, 2001, p.1).

amendment to the United Kingdom 1995 Pension Act (Statutory Instrument, 1999,
p.3).

Mathieu (2000) reports that 59% of United Kingdom pension funds, representing
78% of the investment assets of funds in her survey, are incorporating SRI into their
investment policies and that this is in line with other surveys (p.33). This would
suggest that there would be a high demand for environmental and social performance
information as well as for financial performance information about the investees.

The increased demand for SRI requires that fund managers have information about
the environmental and social performance of investees in addition to that relating to
financial performance. They need to assess the implications of environmental and
social issues which face the company and incorporate them into their screening and
other procedures, noting that, non-financial information may have a direct influence
on their investment decisions (FEE, 2000a p.11). Triple Bottom Line Reporting can
provide this information.

The foregoing clearly indicates a demand for environmental and social performance
information by a range of stakeholders. In addition to the demand for information
about the financial performance of organisations, the following issues have been seen
to be important to stakeholders:
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• contingent environmental liabilities,
•

fines for breeches of environmental laws or regulations,

•

the extent of land contamination.

• compliance with environmental legislation,
• waste management.
• pollutant releases,
• notable environmental incidents.
• environmental policies,
• organisational values and controls,
• human rights issues,
• labour and working condition issues,
• supply chain issues, and
• impact of products, services and investments on the environment, people and
other species (Rankin, 1996, p.14; Environment Australia, 1999, pp.17,18;
Institute of Social and Ethical Accountability, 1999, p.9; KPMG Consulting,
2000, p.lO).

These information demands of stakeholders can be met by Triple Bottom Line
Reports.

In addition to investors and other financial stakeholders requiring information, there
is a growing need for businesses and customers to be informed about the
environmentally and socially responsible behaviour of firms. Organisations have not
been complacent about changing their behaviour. There have been many responses
and actions.

3.4. The response of organisations to the sustainability debate and the
information needs of stakeholders

The increasing awareness of sustainability has led to changes in society's
expectations about how businesses and, in particular, companies should behave.
Holmes (1999) emphasised that companies are now expected to be environmentally
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and socially responsible, operating with minimum impact on the environment and
minimising social inequities (p.22).

Business organisations have responded in different ways.

The issue of sustainability in operations has been seized by many large corporations
including Shell, The Body Shop, Rio Tinto. Placer and Sydney Water.

An example of such a response to the increasing demands of society regarding
sustainability is that of Placer Pacific Ltd. and its parent, Placer Dome Inc. In 1997
Placer Dome set out to become 'The Earths Gold Leader" by implementing a global
sustainability policy to gain a competitive edge with regard to aspects of the Groups
activities, those activities which are valued by the company and by an increasing
number of people throughout the world (Placer Dome, 1998, pp.1 ,2). The company
recognised that its stakeholders were demanding that it change how it conducts its
business by adopting an open and collaborative approach and by adopting
sustainability as a core part of its business strategy. In the 1998 Placer Pacific Ltd.
report, Taking on the Challenge Towards Sustainability, Dick Zandee, Managing
Director of Placer Pacific Ltd. wrote "the pressure is on .... We need to adopt
sustainability ... as a core aspect of our business strategy." (Placer Pacific, 1998, p.3)

Views such as these reinforce the realisation of some writers in the 1970s,
exemplified by Professor Lee Parker, who stated that "formerly free goods were no
longer 'free'...Business (is) seen as owing society a responsibility for its use of and
impact upon

...

formerly free goods" (Kestigan, 1991, p.23).

Other responses, as in the cases of Dow Chemicals and ITT Flygt, have been to
reorganise the work force and work ethics (Birchard, 2000, pp.55,56).

These impacts have been noted by Deegan (1 999a), who highlights the fact that
sustainability has, over the last ten years or so, "become a central part of the
language of government and business worldwide" (p.38).

Further, there is

recognition that sustainability has lead Geno (1995) to declare that there has been a
"replacement of the modern economic rationale with an ecological rationale"
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(p.178). A milestone publication was the 1989 work of Pearce, Markandya and
Barbier, Blueprint for a Green Economy

-

"The Pearce Report"

-

which raised two

important questions:
• to what extent has the enormous per capita rise in income in the West been
at the expense of future generations? and,
• to what extent have the West's economic fortunes been at the expense of
both the income and capital of Third World countries?
(Kestigan, 1991, p.23)

Not only does society expect companies to be environmentally and socially
responsible but companies can no longer expect that society will, without question,
consider that they act "in good faith" (a "Trust Me" culture). The world is moving
from this culture to one in which society wants to be "told what is going on" (a "Tell
Me" culture) and companies are expected to demonstrate that they "have serious
intent to change for the better" (a "Show Me" culture) (Shell as reported in The
Social Reporting Report, published by SustainAbility, 2000, p.1).

The expectations that businesses, including companies, will behave in an
environmentally and socially responsible manner are demonstrated by public
reaction. For their own long term survival, companies have to ensure that what they
do today will not have deleterious effects on their survival in the future. They must
pay heed to present and future outcomes of their decisions and activities so as to
avoid problems which have been created in the past and which have now become
major disasters for the companies and countries concerned.

The influence of the expanded range of stakeholders and the pressure they exert has
led to a heightened social consciousness of organisations. This has resulted in the
identification of a number of the issues which confront business managers. In
particular, those issues relevant to the changing and growing expectations of society
include:
•

the minimisation of the business's negative impact on the environment.

•

the protection of human rights and the impact of the business's activities on those
rights.
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. the optimisation of social contribution by the business's infrastructure

development.
the development of work-force and social skills by education and training.
the development of good neighbour relationships through community projects
(Holme, 1999. p.4).

Holmes (1999) emphasised that companies are now expected to be environmentally
and socially responsible, operating with minimum detrimental impact on the
environment and minimising social inequities (p.22). They are expected to embrace
sustainability.

There are tangible benefits available to those engaging in sustainability. Hawken and
Wackernagel (2000) claim that more and more resources are being made available to
businesses which are seen to be "sustainability leaders" (p.10). There has also been a
recognition that increased manufacturing and compliance costs will be incurred by
companies with poor product design and poor environmental management systems.
So environmental efficiencies will result in cost related benefits such as reduced
waste, reduced energy use and lower pollution control costs (Grant, 2001, p.32).

However, it requires courage and commitment on the part of businesses to adopt
sustainability strategies. In general the current economic environment is not
supportive of such action and many government policies are such that unsustainable
practices are still being rewarded (Hawken and Wackernagel, 2000, p.7).

Society's interest in the responsible behaviour of business has led to the expectation
that business entities, and companies in particular, will report their activities in a way
that demonstrates not only their financial or economic performance but also their
performance with regard to environmental and social issues identified above. As
profitability is essential for the long-run survival of a business, managers must place
high emphasis on the economic performance of the entity. However the emerging
need to recognise the importance of environmental and social performance has
encouraged the reporting of the impact which organisations' operations have on the
environment and on society.
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A factor leading to the increased availability of corporate information to other than
investors is the growth of the global economy. The globalisation of corporate
activities has brought benefits to multinational companies in terms of expansion of
markets and increased availability of capital. However there is also a down-side for
companies. Global isation has increased the opportunity for multinational
corporations to make mistakes which would be seen to be costly in both financial
terms and in terms of reputation. Global communications ensure that such mistakes
could become headline news within hours (White, 1999, p.34).

Society is becoming more intolerant of corporations whose activities have adverse
effects on the environment and communities in which they operate. In recent times
there have been some major "disasters", directly related to the operations of
corporations, which have resulted in the loss of human lives, the death or destruction
of native flora and fauna, and environmental pollution (Rankin, 1998, p.11).

Its environmental irresponsibility caused a huge backlash against the petrol giant,
Exxon, when its tanker the "Exxon Valdez" ran aground in Alaska in 1989, dumping
millions of gallons of oil in a pristine wilderness area which was the nesting habitat
of many marine birds. In addition to the damage to its reputation, the financial cost
to the company has been, by any standard, enormous

-

$US 5 billion in punitive

damages plus an estimated $US 4 billion in criminal fines, clean-up costs, lost ship
and oil, and compensation payments (Volokh, 1996, pp.26,27).

Similarly, the systematic release of toxic substances and silt into the rivers around its
OK Tedi mine in New Guinea caused such an unfavourable reaction that BHP is
planning to close its mine many years before the end of its economic life (Anderson,
2000, p.1).

The market capitalisation of Union Carbide declined 27.9% in the five trading days
following the accidental release of toxic fumes from its plant in Bhopal, India, in
1983 (Rankin, 1998. p.1 1).

In another case, the penalties imposed because of an accidental spillage of cyanide
from the Aurul gold mine in Romania into the Tisza and Danube Rivers, which
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subsequently killed thousands of fish in three countries and deprived people of their
livelihoods, will possibly cause the company, Esmeralda Exploration Pty Ltd to go
into receivership (Gurevitch, 2000, p.1).

Social irresponsibility has resulted in huge financial compensations being paid by
companies which mined and used the substance 'blue asbestos" for many years,
causing, beyond medical doubt, cancers and lung diseases leading to the deaths,
many years later, of employees and their family members who had lived nearby.
Following a finding that for eighteen years CSR Limited was operating its blue
asbestos mine at Wittenoom in Western Australia, aware of the health dangers to its
employees and their families, the company has settled over ninety-five thousand
claims, both in Australia and in the United States of America, for medical problems
induced by the asbestos. There are still several thousand claims against the company
to be resolved (WRATD, 1998, p.1). One such settlement was an award of $823,594
to the child of an asbestos miner, who lived in Wittenoom for two years as an infant
(Anon., 1995, p.1). Clearly the financial cost to CSR Limited of the compensation
payable by it is substantial.

When it became known that Nike was paying sports stars vast sums of money for
product endorsements whilst paying its Indonesian production workers less than $10
per week, its image was tarnished (Deegan, 1999a, p.40) and the public reacted,
causing international sales of its products to fall (Ranganathan, 1998, p.6).

Also, when genetically modified food products were likely to be put on the market
without appropriate labelling, there were expressions of public alarm (Carruthers,
1999, p.44). Evidence has since emerged which indicates that there is a strong
backlash from consumers in Europe against genetically modified products
(Greenpeace, 1999b). This encouraged many major European supermarket chains to
take action to eliminate genetically modified products from their ranges (Greenpeace,
1999a).

A business tactic which has fallen flat in the United States is that of producing
genetically modified crop seeds which are incapable of reproducing themselves
because they have been made sterile. Monsanto assumed that the farmers would
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have to return each year to buy more seed, as there was no point in holding back
some of their own seed to plant the following season. Following an extended worldwide campaign by farmers, scientists and civil society organisations, and an
acknowledgment by the company's Chief Executive Officer that it had "irritated and
antagonised more people than we have persuaded", Monsanto decided not to
commercialise sterile seed technology (Anon.. I 999c, p. I).

The reporting of these disasters and incidents occurs not only at the instigation of the
organisations themselves, in their own publications, but by the media in news or
current affairs reports. In today's world of high speed and highly sophisticated

communications there can be few secrets about an organisation's activities, either
domestic or international. As witnessed by the live reporting of the Gulf War
operations in 1991, the media has the capacity to "beam ... into our loungerooms"
information about almost anything, including an organisation's operations (Deegan,
1999a, p.40). Consequently, particularly in respect of international organisations,
any "failures in social responsibility", for example, an oil spill, are more likely to
receive widespread and potentially damaging publicity (Business Impact, 2000, p.1).
This "CNN World" means that being subjected to the "Tell Me" and "Show Me"
requirements will affect all major international companies (SustainAbility, 2000,
p.1).

It is, however, to the benefit of the organisation that it does not rely on the media to
provide the informal acquisition of performance information by interested parties, as
such information may be incomplete or distorted. This lack of completeness or
distortion could severely damage the reputation of the entity and lead to unwanted
consequences such as customer boycotts, attacks on property and equipment, and
additional outlays to remedy past mistakes (Watts & Holme, 1999, p.4).

Consequently it is in an organisation's interest to incorporate the reporting of
environmental and social performance in its "formal" reporting to its stakeholders
and other interested parties, along with the reporting of its economic performance

-

Triple Bottom Line Reporting.
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One flow-on effect from incidents and disasters such as those outlined above is that
institutional investors now have a heightened awareness of environmental issues.
They believe that such incidents affect the reputations of the companies directly
involved for many years after the events. Assessments of investees environmental
management systems are now incorporated in the investment decision-making
processes. However, this is not because of an increased interest in sustainability, per
se, but because of the recognition of potential financial liabilities and risks (Mills et
al., 2001, p.6).

A second effect is an increase in the level of environmental performance disclosure.
White (1999) cites Polaroid as a leader in reporting environmental performance but
states that this !!leadershipl! was not intentional, coming about as a result of bad press
related to its polluting emissions (pp.35,36).

Rankin (1998) supports the claim that public environmental performance reporting is
likely to be a reaction to actual or potential unfavourable media reports. Her studies
have revealed that, following a disaster or incident of the types referred to above, an
increase in environmental performance reporting occurred in respect of the
companies directly involved and other companies operating in the same industry
(p.11). Companies appear to have recognised the benefits of being involved in the
reporting of their own performance, rather than letting the media and others publish
perhaps only unfavourable performance information.

3.5. Conclusion

The increase in community awareness of sustainability issues and the resulting
development of social consciousness by organisations in general and businesses in
particular has resulted in an enlarged range of stakeholders with an interest in
organisations.

The response to stakeholder demands and pressure for a demonstration of
sustainability has led to organisations undertaking a variety of activities.
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Some corporations have adopted sustainability and modified their practices and
procedures to incorporate sustainability as part of their normal business activities.
This has included 'green production'

-

producing environmentally friendly products

with environmentally friendly processes.

Other organisations have responded to the external pressures of the media and
community groups by terminating practices or activities which were perceived to be
inconsistent with sustainability.

This extended range of stakeholders and their increased information demands require
the preparation and publication of reports showing the environmental and social
performance of entities as well as their financial performance

-

Triple Bottom Line

Reports.

To enable them to make informed decisions relating to organisations, stakeholders
require sustainability information which is relevant, reliable and unbiased.

Financial performance reporting has developed to the stage now where relevant
statutory and professional guidance has been published in respect of general purpose
financial reports. This "regulation" of financial reporting is designed to provide
relevant, reliable and unbiased financial information.

Is there equivalent "regulation" of the reporting of environmental and social
performance information?

The next chapter considers this question and examines the relevance of the financial
reporting framework to Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

Triple Bottom Line Reporting
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CHAPTER 4- THE RELEVANCE OF THE FINANCIAL REPORTING
FRAMEWORK TO TRIPLE BOTTOM LINE REPORTING

4.1. Introduction

Following the failure of a signhlicant number of companies in Australia in the 1960s,
pressure was placed on the Australian accounting profession to improve the quality
of financial information prepared and/or audited by its members. This need to
provide relevant, reliable and unbiased financial information to shareholders of
companies and to other financiers has resulted in the development of comprehensive
statutory and professional regulation of financial reporting (Godfrey et al., 2000,
pp.363-365).

This chapter examines the relevance of the financial reporting framework to Triple
Bottom Line Reporting (sustainability reporting). It addresses concepts and issues
related to environmental and social reporting, and considers some of the reasons that
prompt organisations to disclose their environmental and social performance.

Sustainability reporting involves financial, environmental and social reporting. Part
one of the chapter considers the concepts and issues related to environmental and
social reporting, paying attention to the elements of such reporting, the challenges
facing reporters, comparisons with the present state of financial reporting and studies
of environmental and social reporting which have been undertaken. The discussion
in this part puts the present state, and status, of environmental and social
performance reporting into a useful context.

The second part addresses the role played by general purpose financial reporting, in
relation to sustainability reporting.

It will be pointed out that, in practice,

sustainability reporting has been approached as an extension of general purpose
financial reporting. Further it will be argued that general purpose financial reporting
requirements and guidance are inadequate to meet the needs of environmental and
social performance reporting. Accordingly attempts have been made to introduce
new requirements concerning disclosure.
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The third part of the chapter looks at the issue of what leads to disclosure of
environmental and social issues by organisations. It identifies and discusses
mandatory disclosure drivers, both regulatory and signatory; voluntary disclosure
drivers and the issue of involuntary disclosure of environmental and social
performance by organisations.

Organisations have responded to information disclosure demands of their
stakeholders, partly on a voluntary basis but also because of an increased number of
regulatory and involuntary pressures placed upon them.

The fourth part of the chapter considers the responses of organisations to the issue of
sustainability reporting. The media by which company performance is reported are
discussed. The discussion identifies that, although an important medium for the
disclosure of company performance is the annual report, increasingly, separate
reports are being produced which disclose environmental and social performance
information. This part also addresses the arguments for and against a voluntary
reporting regime as opposed to a regulatory scheme.

The chapter reaches a number of conclusions.

Firstly, the disclosure of

environmental and social performance of organisations is, in some cases, governed
by regulation. In other cases it is voluntary. Secondly, the regulatory framework
that currently exists for financial reporting is deficient and inadequate for
sustainability reporting. Thirdly, in an increasing number of cases, companies are
reporting environmental and social performance, not in the aimual report but in
separate specialised reports.

Fourthly, a regulatory scheme for reporting

environmental and social performance would be more appropriate than a voluntary
scheme. Fifthly, the disclosure requirements of Australian Accounting Standards
would not lead to comprehensive reporting of environmental and social performance
with the consequence that users cannot make informed decisions about the reporting
organisation and their relationships with it.

Finally, the needs of society and stakeholders would be addressed by the
implementation of a formal, regulated reporting structure

Triple Bottom Line Reporting
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Reporting
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but there are questions as to how can accountants play a significant role

in the process.

4.2. Sustainability reporting concepts and issues

4.2.1. Elements

Sustainability reporting concerns the impacts of an entity's activities on the
community and environment in which it operates. These impacts concern issues
related to, for example, its products, its employees, community service and pollution
reduction and prevention (Mathews and Perera, 1996, p.364).

This extension of disclosure leads to more comprehensive reporting by organisations
than the traditional reporting which, in general, is limited to financial performance.

There are "regulations" (see post) which require organisations to disclose certain
aspects of environmental performance. However, the regulatory disclosure is often
exceeded with organisations reporting on environmental/social'3 and
environmental/financial'4 impacts of the activities (Cotterell and Rankin, 1998, p.2).

An outline of the environmental and social reporting elements is found in Chapter
Five and more detail is included in Appendices Three and Four.

4.2.2. Challenges

New approaches to accounting are required because the traditional financial
reporting framework has limitations from a sustainability reporting perspective.

3

examples of environmental/social impacts are:
assisting local land-care groups.
funding university environmental research projects. and
providing environmental training courses for the long-term unemployed
(Cotterell and Rankin, 1998, p.2).
14
examples of environmental/financial impacts are:
quantifying financial benefits of improved environmental performance,
quantifying costs of implementing environmental measures, and
liabilities for non-compliance with regulations (Cotterell and Rankin, 1998, p.2).
-

-

-

-

-

-

Triple Bottom Line Reporting A New CliallengeJr Accounting Education J.M.B.Vallentine Page 46
-

These limitations are discussed in detail in section 4.3.2. and include conceptual
problems identified by Miley and Read (2000). These problems are:
• accounting focuses on private costs and benefits rather than public costs
and benefits of environmental assets and liabilities;
• accounting deals with scarce resources and many environmental
resources, such as air and ocean water, have not previously been
considered scarce, so they have not been valued by accounting;
• defining the boundaries of the environment. Is built capital, such as
museum collections, historical buildings and monuments, part of
environmental accounting?
• accounting deals with economic benefits, whereas the environment
provides both economic and non-economic benefits.

(p.42)

They argue that the lack of solutions to these problems should not be a barrier to the
introduction of environmental accounting, as, to wait until all problems are solved
would mean that no implementation action would occur (p.41). They recommend
that a form of environmental accounting be adopted now, a form "which is consistent
with existing financial accounting and can be achieved with minor modifications to
existing accounting systems." The problems can be solved later and, as they are
solved, the environmental accounting system can be refined and improved (p.42).

Bebbington (1997), in her review essay on environmental accounting, cites Gray in
stating two concerns which lie at the core of social and environmental accounting
research activity. These are:
• There is dissatisfaction with conventional accounting practices, either in terms of
the social and environmental consequences which arise from the application of
accounting tools and techniques, or with the theoretical basis which underlies
conventional accounting.
• Social and environmental accounting has been concerned with exploring and
developing new forms of accounting which are more socially and environmentally
benign and which have the potential to create a fairer, more just society. (p.365)
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Owen et al. (1997) declare that the mission of social (and environmental) accounting
is to extend the accountability of organisations beyond the traditional role of simply
providing a financial account to capital providers, particularly shareholders" (p.1 76).

They identify a "distinction between conventional' and more 'radical' approaches to
environmental (and social) accounting" (p. 175). The "conventional" approach, the
subject of "the bulk of academic attention

-

and virtually all professional and

business attention'S (p. 179), is concerned with ascertaining "how conventional
accounting systems can be (marginally) adjusted to cope with the environmental
agenda" (p.184). It is the approach proposed by Miley and Read, above, and is a
"business as usual" approach and attempts to address environmental issues within
management accounting systems and conventional financial accounting statements
(pp.178,179). 1-lowever, Owen ci al. see the issue of sustainablility as the key
concern for all environmental (and social) accounting and reporting. They declare
that "sustainablility and business-as-usual are ... incompatible" (p.1 80).

Writers other than Miley and Read also see the opportunity of advancing the
implementation of environmental and social accounting and reporting as coming
from incrementally changing the present accounting system. Whilst acknowledging
his own criticism of applying a price driven framework to environmental issues,
Gray (1992a) proposes the use of some "conventional-looking financial accounting
concepts" to calculate the sustainability costs of the organisation's activities (p.449).
Parker (1999) proposes that environmental costs could be grafted onto existing
costing and budgeting systems to allow the introduction of such innovations in a way
which will be more readily accepted by managers (p.71).

Owen ci al. (1997) emphasise the view of Power that there is a need to recognise the
"communicative role of accounting as a social ... technology" (p.191), not just make
modifications to existing, conventional accounting systems. They support the "more
radical" approach, which views environmental and social accounting and reporting,
not as an extension of financial reporting, but as new categories of account, opening
up "new debates about the organisation" and "new categories of meaning for the
organisation and its stakeholders". This approach moves away from the view of the
organisation as a purely economic entity, the success of which is unrelated to
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environmental and social issues (pp.179.180). Accounting and reporting systems and
procedures could be developed from, for example, a conceptual framework as
outlined by Gray c/al. (1997, pp.348,349) which is built around stakeholder dialogue
(p.33 5).

This view of social and environmental accounting is not new. Blundell and Booth
described social accounting, which at the time of their writing included both
environmental and social accounting, as an "innovative accounting topic" because it:
• "emphasizes new concepts",
• "questions and challenges existing concepts and values",
• "is concerned with what accounting 'might be'...not ... (just) slightly modifying
extant accounting" (Blundell & Booth, 1988, p.77).

4.2.3. Prior studies concerning environmental and social reporting

The reporting on environmental and social issues is not a recent occurrence. Such
reporting by Australian companies from 1967 onwards is documented by Trotman
(1979), Pang (1982), Gibson and O'Donovan (1994), Gibson and Guthrie (1995),
Deegan and Gordon (1996) and Henderson and Peirson (1998). In addition, Guthrie
and Parker (1990) reported on corporate social disclosure practices in the United
States of America, the United Kingdom and Australia for 1983. The results of their
survey disclose that the proportion of Australian companies which made such
disclosures was smaller than the proportion of the United States and the United
Kingdom companies making such disclosures (p.164).

Other reports on

environmental and social disclosure by companies outside Australia include Gray et
al. (1995a), covering United Kingdom companies for 1979- 1991.

More recent studies have indicated a clearly increasing trend in the disclosure of,
particularly, environmental in formation.
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Internationally, KPMG conducts triennial surveys of the top 100 companies in each
of approximately twelve developed countriesb. The survey results, which are
summarised in Table 4.1 disclose significant increasing trends in the reporting of
environmental issues. These increases are in relation to both the annual reports of
companies and the use of stand-alone environmental reports.

Table 4.1 KPMG International Surveys on Environmental Reporting
-

Number of countries
Number of companies included in survey
Response rate
Number of responding companies
Separate environmental or health, safety and
environment (HSE) report
Mentioned the environment in Annual Report
(in some cases, in addition to separate report)
Quantitative data reported
Environmental costs reported
Sources: KPMG, undated; KPMG, 1997; KPMG, 1999.

1993
10
810
85%
690

1996
13
1300
69%
903

1999
11
1100
98%
1080

15%

24%

25%

58%

71%

n.a.

n.a
7%

84%
35%

84%
40%

The KPMG findings are supported by a 1998 survey conducted by Warwick
Business School which revealed that 68 percent of respondents publish reports on
health, safety and environmental performance. The researchers had surveyed the 100
largest companies in each of the United Kingdom, the United States of America and
continental Europe (Environment Australia, 1999, p.2,3).

Further support is offered by the results of the 1999 PIRC survey of the United
Kingdom FTSE 350 companies. This survey disclosed that 70 percent of FTSE 350
companies at that time reported on the environment while 62 companies (17.7
percent) produced separate environment reports (Kelly. 1999, p.9).

5

The countries in the survey vary.
1993 Belgium, Canada, Denmark, France, Germany, Ireland, The Netherlands, Portugal, United
Kingdom and United States of America.
1996 Australia, Belgium, Canada, Denmark, Finland, Germany, The Netherlands, New Zealand,
Norway, Sweden, Switzerland, United Kingdom and United States of America.
1999 Australia, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, The Netherlands, Norway, Sweden,
United Kingdom and United States of America (KPMG, 1999, p.30).
-

-

-
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With regard to disclosure by Australian companies, Gibson (1995a) reported an
increase from 46 percent of surveyed Australian companies in 1983 to 68 percent of
companies in 1992 providing environmental information in their annual reports
(p.11). This trend has continued in Australia with 15 percent of Australia's top 100
companies publishing environmental or health, safety and environment reports in
Whilst this is a smaller percentage than for most other countries in the KPMG
1999.
survey, well behind Germany 36 percent. Sweden 34 percent and United Kingdom
-

-

-

32 percent, it was an increase from 5 percent in 1996 (KPMG, 1999, p17).

Whilst there has been a marked increase in the number of companies providing
environmental information, what type of information is being disclosed?

Tilt (1998) reported that Australian company reporting of Company Environmental
Policies is at a "very general level". Most reporting included a general statement of
policy and a series of specific objectives. Monetary or quantitative information was
rarely included (p.7). This was also the situation in the annual report, with the
majority of disclosures being "declarative" with little quantitative information (p.7).
The Australian reporting situation is different from the international reporting
situation where in both 1996 and 1999, KPMG found that 84 percent of surveyed
reports contained quantitative data on environmental performance (KPMG, 1999,
p.20). Tilt also examined company press releases, staff newsletters and magazines,
and corporate booklets. She concluded that the annual report was considered the
most appropriate medium for environmental disclosure rather than a separate,
specialised report (Tilt, 1998, p.8).

Tilt's conclusion supported the findings of Rankin (1996) who determined that the
annual report is the major source of company performance information. This
includes not only disclosures on financial performance but also disclosures relating
to environmental initiatives, performance and contingencies (Hainsworth,
1996,p.16). However, Rankin (1996) also found that there were marked differences
between the views of the preparers of the reports and those of the reports' users with
regard to the inclusion of environmental performance information in the annual
report. Whilst only 18 percent of respondent preparers supported the inclusion of
environmental disclosure in the annual report, 64 percent of users believed
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environmental disclosures in the annual report should be mandatory (p.19). It is
noteworthy that 43 percent of users also look to other sources for environmental
performance information, for example the media and separate environmental reports

however, whilst the 1SAR16 1992 and 1994 surveys of the annual reports of
transnational corporations revealed that most disclosures were qualitative and
descriptive, the KPMG surveys showed an increasing trend in the disclosure of
environmental cost information from 7 percent of companies in 1993 to 45 percent in
1999 (KPMG, undated, p.8; KPMG, 1999, p.20).

Further, Deegan and Rankin (1996) concluded that in the case of organisations which
had been prosecuted for environmental offences, the increased reporting of
favourable environmental performance information was consistent with legitimation
motive" (p.62). This, however, conflicts with the findings of Guthrie and Parker
(1989) who, as a result of their study of the annual report disclosures of BHP Limited
over a one hundred year period, concluded that, in the BHP case, legitimacy theory
could not be confirmed as the major reason for the voluntary reporting of corporate
environmental and social performance information (p.351).

4.2.4. Comparison with the present state of financial reporting

Unlike the situation relating to financial reporting there are relatively few
requirements and virtually no regulations for reporting environmental and social
performance. There are no accounting standards which relate specifically to
disclosure in financial reports of social or environmental information (Burritt, 1999a,
p.9). White (1999) highlights the fact that there is no standardised guidance as to
what should be included in environmental and social reporting (p.36). This claim is
supported by Ranganathan (1999) who reports that organisations who wish to engage
in sustainability reporting must rely on a "confusing patchwork of overlapping,
incomplete and non-comparable voluntary reporting guidelines" (p.1).

16

tSAR Intergovernmental Working Group of Experts on International Standards of Accounting and
Reporting.
-
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One reason offered for failing to disclose environmental information by companies is
that some Chief Executive Officers consider that it is not necessary for the disclosure
of a true and fair view of the company's performance. Some also considered that
environmental expenditure cannot he distinguished from other expenditure. This
clearly indicates a need fo r education in environmental and social issues. 1-lowever
some companies now do identify and report environmental costs separately. This is
because these expenditures were large and an increasing proportion of total
expenditure. For example, in 1978 it cost $50 per ton to burn waste. In 1987 the
cost had increased to an amount from $200 to $2,000, depending on the type of waste
(Kelly, 1999, p.13).

The lack of agreement on the measurement of environmental performance, and the
problems arising from the lack of availability of standardised environmental
reporting (Mills et al., 2001, p.9) prevents effective assessment of environmental
management and performance of companies (p.10). This results in the inability of
analysts to make meaningful comparisons between companies leading to
environmental issues, at this stage, having little impact on financial decision-making
(p.1 2) and the needs of financial sector stakeholders are not being met (UNCTAD,
1997, para.71).

A company can achieve great benefit by preparing reports which engage both
internal and external stakeholders. Such reports can lead to an improvement in
company performance, a change in the company culture and the acceptance of
increased community responsibility (Vinot, 1999, p.5).

However market prices of a firm's products do not reflect the business's external
environmental and social costs. These costs are "externalities" and, traditionally, are
excluded from the cost and pricing measurement systems (Hibbitt, 2001, p.4).

It is argued that the extension of companies' systems is necessary to "recognise"
these externality costs (Mathews, 1998, p.9).

The Accounting Advisory Forum, at the request of the European Commission, has
provided guidance on how to improve environmental reporting by companies in the
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European Union, within the contexts of the 4th and 7th Directives17 (Groener, 1996,
p.1 1). The recommendations focus on the recognition and measurement of
environmental liabilities, risks and expenditures, together with disclosure issues
(pp.12-16) but are relevant to only those companies which are in the European
Union.

With little regulatory requirement for sustainablility reporting, the growth in
disclosure (see above) has been voluntary with increasing demands of stakeholders
for such information. White (1999) reports that there are approximately three dozen
initiatives18 world wide to develop guidance for the preparers of sustainability reports
(p.36). However, despite these initiatives, which are leading to more organisations
producing more reports, thereby increasing the amount of information available to
stakeholders, the sustainability information needs of stakeholders are not being met.
The state of reporting initiatives is 'chaotic' and "fragmented" and is incompatible
with the objective of providing stakeholders with "timely access to

...

environmental

and social performance information" (p.38).

The lack of "regulation" means that sustainability reporting is not required to exhibit
the qualitative characteristics of relevance and reliability that are required of
financial performance reports. The effect of this is that sustainability reporting lacks
credibility (UNCTAD, 1997, para.79) and consequently is less useful to decisionmakers than it might otherwise be.

7

The 7th Directive is concerned with accounting for business combinations
The 4th Directive covers accounting formats and rules (Nobes and Parker, 2000, p.84).
18
Examples of major initiatives include:
I. European Chemical Industry Council, Brussels-based, voluntary guidelines for members
covering, amongst other thing, quantitative measures for pollutant releases.
The Coalition for Environmentally Responsible Economies (CERES), formed to advance
accountability along multiple dimensions. It also inspired the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI).
Denmarks Green Account Program, a government program requiring firms to submit
information on inputs (i.e. resources used in production).
The Investor Responsibility Research Centre (IRRC), Washington, DC, compiles quantitative
and qualitative information for the computation of performance indicators for use by the social
investment community.
The World Business Council for Sustainable Development (WBCSD), Geneva, focuses on
quantitative metrics to help firms monitor their progress in reducing the environmental burden of
their products and services.
The World Resources Institute (WRI), develops a framework for assessing company
performance in relation to resource use and non-product outputs (White, 1999, pp.37,38).
-

-

-

-

-

-
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In Australia where, in 1992, there were approximately 500 pieces of Commonwealth,
State and Territory legislation relating to environmental matters (Barbera, 1994,
pp.79-89), there was little regulation of the reporting of social responsibility,
including environmental matters (Deegan. 1999c, p.973). As a consequence of this
lack of regulation it must be assumed that, at that time. most environmental and
social performance disclosures by businesses, including companies, were voluntary
(Gray, 1994b, p.14).

However, more recently there have been new Commonwealth and State requirements
introduced and these are addressed in a later part of this chapter (para.4.4. 1 .1.).

An extension of companies' systems is necessary to engage in environmental and
social performance reporting. Environmental and social performance reporting as
well as the traditional financial reporting requires the development of a conceptual
framework for those elements to give them the same status as financial disclosures,
for which there is an existing conceptual framework (Mathews, 1998, p.9). It is this
conceptual framework that has resulted in the current requirements of General
Purpose Financial Reporting.

4.3. General Purpose Financial Reporting

4.3.1. The focus

Financial reporting by organisations in Australia, particularly companies and other
reporting entities19, is governed the requirements of General Purpose Financial
Reporting, which incorporate accounting standards developed by the Australian
Accounting Standards Board. These accounting standards have legislative backing
in respect of companies registered under Australian Corporations Law
(Commonwealth of Australia, 1998, ss.292

-

296) and have the backing of the

Australian professional accounting bodies in the cases of other organisations (CPAA,
2001a, APS 1, paras.10,l 1).

9

in which it is reasonable to expect the existence of users
A "reporting entity' is "an entity
dependent on general purpose financial reports for information which will be useful to them for
making
decisions about the allocation of scarce resources." (AARF, 1997, SAC2, para.5)
..

...
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In addition there are other pronouncements of the Australian accounting profession
which have a significant influence on General Purpose Financial Reporting. These
pronouncements are the Urgent Issues Group Abstracts (UIG Abstracts) and the
Statements of Accounting Concepts (SACs).

The General Purpose Financial Reporting requirements have been developed within
a conceptual framework which has been developed and adopted by the accounting
standard setters

The benefits of such a system for Triple Bottom Line Reporting has been recognised
by the Global Reporting Initiative, whose Sustainability Reporting Guidelines have
been developed using, as underlying principles, the principles and assumptions
which underlie financial reporting (GRl, 2000, p.13). In other words, the GRI
proposal for Triple Bottom Line Reporting has been developed as an extension of
General Purpose Financial Reporting.

The elements of General Purpose Financial Reporting are set out in Appendix 1
which includes definitions of relevant terms and the criteria which should be applied
when deciding whether an item should be 'reported on, or incorporated in amounts
reported on, the face of the financial statements of the entity" (AARF, 1997, SAC4,
para. 10).

The definitions of terms relating to the type of information to be disclosed clearly
have a financial focus, either stated or, in the case of performance, implied by
reference to "acquiring resources economically" and "using those resources
cttIciently".

This financial focus is further reinforced by the fact that the reports to be produced
are:
.

Statements of Financial Performance.

.

Statements of Financial Position, and

.

Statements of Cash Flows.
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The effect of these definitions and recognition criteria is that the role of the
accountant has generally been limited to the identification, selection, measurement
and recording of the financial or economic effects of events specific to the entity, and
sumrnarising and reporting these measurements in the form of financial reports.

he application of the guidance and requirements outlined above will have a
significant impact on the reporting of financial effects of environmental and social
performance.

4.3.2. Impact on environmental and social disclosures

4.3.2.1. DeJiizitioizs of elements

The definitions of financial statement elements, namely revenues, expenses, assets,
liabilities and equity, place restrictions on what can be included in financial reports.
For example, assets are defined as "future economic benefits controlled (my
emphasis) by the entity" where "control... means the capacity of the entity to benefit
from the asset .. . and (my emphasis) to deny or regulate the access of others to that
benefit" (AARF, 1997, SAC4, para.14). This requirement, to be able to deny or
regulate access to the benefits, precludes the inclusion, as assets, of resources whichin the past have been regarded as "free"

-

the environmental resources of air and

water (SAC4, para.27).

A further example relates to expenses which are defined as "consumptions or losses
of future economic benefits in the form of reductions in assets. .that result in a
.

decrease in equity..." (SAC4, para.l 17). Accordingly any consumption of the
resources which have not been recognised as assets will not be regarded and reported
as expenses. Even if it is considered that there has been the consumption or loss of
future economic benefits in the form of a reduction in one of these resources, the
expense may not be recognised in the accounts because of an inability to meet the
recognition criterion: "the consumption or loss of future economic benefits can be
measured reliably" (SAC4, para.132(b)). It may well be almost impossible to
measure the loss of future economic benefits resulting from, for example,
atmospheric pollution caused by an entity's activities.
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4.3.2.2. The reporting entity

The Environmental Accounting Task Force of the ICAA, in considering the Impact
a/Environmental Matters on the

Accounting

Pro/L'.s'sion (EATF, 1998) noted that the

environment is not recognised by SAC4 as an entity. Consequently, before a liability
to 'the environment" can be recognised, there needs to be the intervention of a third
party such as an Environmental Protection Authority (p. 16).

There is a restriction in the reporting by an entity of the effects of its activities on
only its financial performance and position. This means that the effects of those
activities on (say) the quality of life in the vicinity of one of its plants which causes
air pollution will not be "recognised" in the financial reports of the entity. They will
not be recognised for two reasons. Firstly, the effect is on the community's quality of
life not on the financial performance or position of the reporting entity and secondly,
as stated above, it may not be possible to measure reliably the effects.

Newson and Deegan (1996) draw attention to the fact that in Australia it is common
practice for managers to be paid bonuses "which are tied to accounting measures
such as profits and/or returns on assets". Incentive schemes of this type have the
potential to encourage managers to maximise short-run accounting profits to the
detriment of the environment (pp.213,24).

4.3.2.3. Materiality test

Another issue of significance concerns the application of the "materiality test"20.
This test focuses on/Inancial materiality in respect of decisions by users of financial
reports (AARF, 1997, SAC3, para.28). The application of the materiality concept in
circumstances concerning environmental reporting is more complex. What is or is
not material may be dependent on more than simply the size or scale of an item. It
may be dependent on the nature of the item or event and the circumstances relating to

° The materiality test is the "test which is used to assess the extent to which relevant and reliable
information may omitted, misstated or not disclosed separately without having the potential to
adversely affect the decisions about the allocation of scarce resources made by the users of a general
purpose financial report" (AARF, 1997, SAC3, para.5).
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that item. For example the materiality, in both financial and non-financial terms, of
releases of pollutants may depend more on the "carrying capacity of the receiving
environment than on the absolute quantity of the release (FEE, 2000a, p.18).

4.3.2.4. Accounting prolzounceme!zts

There are some accounting standards which impact on the reporting of environmental
and social matters. Australian Accounting Standard AAS 7, Accounting for the
Extractive Industries" (ASCPA, 1999a, pp.1055-1068.2), was first issued in 1976 by

the Australian Accounting Research Foundation on behalf of the (then) Australian
Society of Accountants2 ' and The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
and, after some amendments, was adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards
Board and issued by that body as Accounting Standard AASB 1022, "Accounting for
the Extractive Industries" (ASCPA, 1999a, pp.6271-6276). AASB 1022 is
applicable to companies incorporated under the provisions of the Corporations Law,
whilst AAS 7 applies to other reporting entities in the private sector, and public
sector business undertakings. These standards have identical requirements regarding
the issue of costs associated with the restoration of a site after the cessation of
operations at that site. These requirements apply whether the operations were
"exploration, evaluation, development or production" activities. Paragraph 37 of
AAS 7 and Paragraph .40 of AASB 1022 state:
Where there is an expectation that an area of interest will be restored.
the cost of restoration work necessitated by exploration,
(a)
evaluation or development activities prior to commencement of
production shall be provided for at the time of such activities and
shall form part of the cost of the respective phase(s) of operations;
(h)
the cost of restoration work necessitated by any activities after
the commencement of production shall he provided for during
production and shall he treated (is ci cost ofproduction; and
in determining the amount to he provided in any one reporting
(c)
period, the balance of the provision br restoration costs, qfter
charging against it actual costs incurred to date, shall he reassessed
in the light of expected further costs.
(ASCPA, 1999a)

21

The Australian Society of Accountants subsequently was renamed the "Australian Society of
Certified Practising Accountants". In 2000 the Society changed its name again, this time to "CPA
Australia".
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The standards, however, relate to only the accounting for costs expected to be
incurred, whether these will arise as a result of a legal or other obligation to restore
the site or whether they will arise as a result of company policy or some other nonobligatory decision to restore the site. The standards do not require entities to report
their obligations relating to site restoration. This matter has been addressed by the
issue in 1995 of Consensus Abstract 4 of the Urgent Issues Group 'Disclosures of
Accounting Policies for Restoration Obligations in the Extractive Industries" (UIG,
1998), which states, among other things, that:
3 Reporting entities in the extraclive industries shall disclose separately
the amount o restoration obligations recognised as a liability in their
financial report.
4 Reporting entities in the extract lye industries shall disclose the
accounting method adopted in determining the liability Jbr restoration
The financial report shall identify significant uncertainties,
5
assumptions and judgemenis made in determining restoration
obligations.
(pp.10 1,102)
It is worth noting that no information is offered by either the accounting standards or
the UIG Abstract as to how the restoration obligations should be measured, nor does
the UIG Abstract prescribe or even recommend any particular accounting method.

However Accounting Standard AASB 1034 "Information to be Disclosed in
Financial Reports" (ASCPA, 1999a, pp.6617-6632), which applies to companies
incorporated under the provisions of the Corporations Law, requires companies,
which are reporting entities, to disclose "the accounting policy for restoration costs
relating to non-current assets" (para. 5.3 (d)). Further, the standard requires that, in
relation to the company,
The notes in the financial report must disclose additional infbrmation
that is not presented in the financial statement and that is necessary to
enable (in assessment of the entity's /inancial performance and financial
position to be made. (para. 5.2)
These disclosures in the notes will necessarily include information in respect of
contingent liabilities and commitments (para. 4.5.1). They are reinforced by AASB
1040 "Statement of Financial Position" which requires the disclosure of "capital
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commitments and other expenditure commitments contracted for

...

which have not

been recognised as liabilities (para. 8.3 (d)).

In relation to the reporting of environmental and social information, these
requirements are of great importance as, amongst other things, the expected costs,
including lines, associated with an incident leading to environmental damage, will
have to be reported in the notes to the financial statements. An example of such an
incident is the leakage of petrol from a Shell Australia Ltd storage tank in Alice
Springs in May 1997 and the subsequent contamination of groundwater. (Shell,
1999, p.17).

4.3.2.5. Summary/conclusion

The problems associated with the application of the definitions and other relevant
concepts included in accounting standards and the SACs were recognised by the
Victorian Public Accounts and Estimates Committee in its Recommendation 5.3:
The government encourage the professional accounting bodies and the
accounting standards setting board and other relevant stake holders to consider
a revised concept of materiality and revised definitions of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses appropriate for environmental accounting.
(Parliament of Victoria, 1999, p.85)
From the perspective of sustainability reporting, the effectiveness of financial reports
is limited when such reports are prepared in accordance with the guidance and
requirements outlined above. This limitation was summarised by the United Nations
Conference on Trade and Development (1.JNCTAD, 1997), which reported that the
conventional financial reporting model will result in only a limited amount of
environmental (and social) disclosures because it "minimizes the role given to nonfinancial data" (para.68). This model "routinely ignores environmental (and social)
issues unless they have a financial impact of sufficient materiality to trigger the
recognition and measurement criteria" set out in the regulatory and professional
accounting requirements (para.67).

The modification and expansion of the framework which exists for financial
reporting to embrace environmental and social performance issues would overcome
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the deficiencies and limitations identified above and would provide a reporting
framework of greater use to the enlarged range of stakeholders who are interested in
sustainabi lity performance of organisations.

Because of desire to ensure that members of society who wish to make resource
allocation decisions relating to organisations, have available to them relevant and
reliable financial information about the organisations, there are pronouncements by
the Australian accounting profession (AARF, 1997; ICAA. 1999a) as well as
significant statutory and other (eg. stock exchange) requirements for companies to
disclose financial performance. There are, however, few regulations that require
comprehensive disclosure of environmental and social performance by organisations.

These regulations are identified and discussed in the next part as are the reasons
which might lead to voluntary disclosure of sustainability issues.

4.4. Disclosure drivers

There are now many organisations in Australia which report on their environmental
and social performance.

The drivers of this disclosure can be classified as follows:
•

Mandatory

-

-

regulatory
signatory

• Involuntary
• Voluntary
4.4.1. Mandatory disclosure drivers

There are two major sources of requirements for organisations to disclose
environmental and social performance. One can be described as "regulatory" as the
disclosure requirement is imposed by law on organisations. The other can be
described as "signatory", as the disclosure requirement is imposed on organisations
which have voluntarily signed a Code of Practice or something similar.
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These sources are listed below and details of these requirements can be found in
Appendix 2.

4.4.1.1. Regulatory

Regulatory requirements include legislation of the Commonwealth government and
the governments of various states.

The Corporations Lciw at section 299(1)(f) (Commonwealth of Australia,
1998, Corporalions Law, s.299(l)(f)).
The National Pollutani Inventoiy (NP!) (Commonwealth of Australia, 2001).
New South Wales State of the Environment Reports (EPANSW, 1997).
Victorian Emissions Licences (EPAV, 2001).
The Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act
(Environment Australia, 2000).
4.4.1.2. Signatory

Signatory requirements arise as a result of organisations signing industry Codes of
Practice or similar agreements. Many such Codes of practice have a requirement
related to reporting environmental or social performance and once the organisation
has become a signatory to an agreement it is bound by the agreements provisions,
including the reporting requirements.

The "Code of Environmental Management", prepared by the Minerals
Council ofAustralia (Minerals Council of Australia, 1996).
The Electricity Supply Association o/ Australia, Code of Environmental
Practice (ESAA, 1997).
The National Packaging Covenant, launched by the Australian and New
Zealand Environment and Conservation Council (ANZECC) (ANZECC,
1999).
The Greenhouse Challenge (Australian Greenhouse Office, 2000b).
The National Code of Practice for the Construction Industry in Australia
(APCC, 1997).
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Iso 14001 Environmental Management Systems
-

22 Newson, 1999, p.3).

Other codes of practice include the 1996 ('ode of Environmental Practice for
Petroleum Exploration and Production (Burritt. 1996, p.3) and several Tasmanian
Codes for the sawmilling, quarrying and meat slaughtering industries, and one
concerning landfill (Hicks, 1996, p.8).

An inspection of these mandatory reporting requirements discloses that most focus
on reporting environmental performance. Only one, the National Code of Practice
for the Construction Industry appears concerned with the social performance of the
organisations to which it applies. Further, many of these reporting requirements
apply to only one industry.

4.4.2. Involuntary

There are several types of involuntary disclosures of environmental and social
performance information about organisations. These include those resulting from
notices issued by Environmental Protection Authority, green group" activism and
court investigations (Environment Australia, 2000, p.4).

An example of recent involuntary disclosure is the Good Reputation Index prepared
by the Australian Conservation Foundation and published in Sydney and Melbourne
newspapers in October 2000 (Kerr, 2000, p.1). This Index ranked Australia's top 100
companies, which were identified according to the Business Review Weekly top
1000 companies of 1999. Three criteria were identified
Environmental Footprint, and Focus on Sustainability

-

-

Environmental Strategies,

and each company given a

score of one to ten for each criterion. The aggregate (a score out of 30) was then
used to rank the companies, with the highest score given the highest rank (Kerr,
2000, Methodology, pp.1 ,2).

22

Iso 14001 AS/NZS ISO 14001 is part of the 150 14000 series of Australian, New Zealand and
International Standards (Newson and Deegan, 1996, p.36).
-
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Another type of involuntary disclosure is media exposure of the type referred to
above in relation to the disasters such as the BHP toxic waste releases in New
Guinea and the Union Carbide toxic chemical release in Bhopal, India.

It is to the benefit of the organisation that it does not rely on involuntary disclosure
such as media reports, as such information may be incomplete or distorted. The
likelihood of publication of such incomplete or distorted information will be reduced
if the organisation takes control of disclosure about its activities by voluntarily
publishing performance information.

4.4.3. Voluntary

The lack of completeness or distortion of the facts caused by involuntary disclosure,
could severely damage the reputation of the entity and lead to unwanted
consequences such as customer boycotts, attacks on property and equipment, and
additional outlays to remedy past mistakes (Watts & Holme, 1999, p.4).
Consequently it is in an organisations interest to incorporate the reporting of
environmental and social performance in its "formal" reporting to its stakeholders
and other interested parties, along with the reporting of its economic performance.
This pro-active reporting gives the reporting organisation some control over what the
media might publish and what might be public reaction to media reporting (Porter
and Hofman, 1997, p.3).

Pro-active reporting of "bad news" provides the

opportunity for the organisation to explain the unfavourable situation in a user
friendly way and to advise the community of solutions to the problem (Rush Social
Research, 1996, p.29).

The survey conducted by Rush Social Research (1996) found that voluntary
reporting in respect of environmental issues was favoured over mandatory
requirements (p.28).

This preference, presumably, is because organisations see

additional benefits flowing from the disclosures, benefits which outweigh the costs
incurred in generating them. What then are these benefits to the disclosing
company?
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A survey of organisations in the United Kingdom, Canada and New Zealand
disclosed a number of reasons for voluntary disclosure of environmental
performance information (Gray, 13ebbington and Walters, 1993, pp.208-2 ii) Several
of these benefits are discussed below.

• Attracting and influencing potential investors and insurers.
• Favourably affecting share price.
• Demonstrating good corporate citizenship.
• Attracting and influencing potential customers.
• Legitimising business's activities.
•

Reducing the likelihood of mandated requirements.

1. Attracting and in/luencing potential investors and insurers

The World Business Council for Sustainable Development has confirmed that
financial markets are concerned about how corporations are performing with regard
to their impact on the environment. Financial institutions now recognise that the
financial performance and credit risk evaluation of companies can be influenced by
environmental matters such as fines, potential environmental liabilities and the
impairment of assets as a result of contamination caused by the companies'
operations (Atkins, 1998, p.13).

The result of this increased awareness is that financiers are now "including
environmental criteria into their credit-approval and other financing arrangements"
(Stigson, undated, p.5). This is putting organisations under increasing pressure to
disclose information to enable assessments to be made of the environmental risks
faced by them as a result of their actions and the potential impact that those risks
may have on the operations and cash flows of their investors and insurers (Holmes,
1999. p.22 Medley. 1997. pp.597,598; Gray. Bebbington & Walters, 1993, p.184).

Sustainable development reports communicate to readers information about
programs which, when implemented by the organisation, will reduce potential
environmental risks associated with its operations. This in turn should reduce the
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costs of borrowings and also reduce insurance premiums (Strategic Business
Management Centre of Excellence, 2001, pp.3 ,4).

The relative environmental performance of organisations is also being used as a
ranking mechanism by potential investors, thereby encouraging finance-seeking
organisations to provide information about their environmental performance
(Flolmes, 1999, p.22; Howes, 1999, p.2).

Not only are investors concerned about the financial risks associated with poor
environmental performance but more and more investors are seeking
"environmentally clean" investments (Cotterell and Rankin, 1998, p.4). Further,
F-lawken and Wackernagel (2000) claim that increased amounts of resources are
being made available to those organisations which can be seen to be "sustainability
leaders" (p.10). This is further encouragement for organisations voluntarily to
disclose their performance in relation to sustainability issues in order to keep
investors, insurers and financial institutions well informed about this.

Additional pressure is now being exerted on investees by the disclosure laws
introduced through the Financial Services Reform Bill in August 2001. These laws
require that those who sell or issues investment products, including superannuation
investments, should disclose to investors "the extent (if at all) to which labour
standards or environmental, social or ethical considerations are taken into account in
the selection, retention and realisation of the investment" (ACF, 2001, p.1).

It is too early to see what effect this will have in Australia but a similar requirement
was recently introduced in the United Kingdom in respect of occupational
superannuation funds (Statutory Instrument 1999 No.1849, 1999, Reg.2. (4) (b)). A
survey of the largest pension funds has disclosed that fifty-nine percent of
responding funds, representing seventy-eight percent of the assets surveyed
"incorporate Socially Responsible Investment (SRI) principles into their investment
process" and forty-eight percent of funds, representing sixty-nine percent of assets
surveyed request that "their fund manager takes account of the financial implications
of environmental, social and ethical concerns when investing" (Mathieu, 2000, p.2).
As the funds, which participated in this survey, have 6.4 million members and £302
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billion in assets, those which consider SRI to be important constitute a significant
force in the investment market.

?.

Favourably attecling share price

There have been many studies relating the financial performance of companies and
the market performance, as measured by share price. If share prices are also affected
by the environmental and social performance of companies then it is in the interest of
shareholders and potential shareholders to have this information, information which
would be provided by Triple Bottom Line Reporting but not by General Purpose
Financial Reporting.

Mathews and Perera (1996) reviewed a number of empirical studies which sought to
establish a relationship between market performance, as measured by share price,
and the disclosure of information about the "social" performance of companies.
They concluded that, even though the results of some studies were conflicting, such
disclosures may have a favourable influence on share price (pp.365-371). The
"social" disclosure referred to by Mathews and Perera includes the provision of
information about not only employees, products and community service but also "the
prevention or reduction of pollution" (p.364).

The last item is clearly an

environmental disclosure and, whilst for many years environmental accounting was
included as part of social accounting, in recent times "environmental accounting has
achieved recognition as a separate activity" (Mathews, 1997b, p.277). The inclusion
of social and environmental information under the "social" heading is not
inconsistent with past practices. Blundell and Booth (1988) described social
accounting as "the process of communicating the social and/or environmental effects
of the actions of an organisation" (p.77, footnote 1).

However since 1990

environmental accounting and social accounting have been considered separately
(Mathews and Lockhart, 1999, p.4; Owen ci al., 1997, p.178).

Triple Bottom Line Reporting provides information about companies' financial,
environmental and social performance thereby being of use to investors because of
the influence that such information has on share prices.
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Demonstrating good corporate citizenship

As more and more people become conscious of the need for sustainable activities of
business organisations, companies which are seen to be environmentally sensitive
will be the preferred suppliers of goods and services to a large sector of the
community (Medley, 1997, p.597). This would certainly seem to be the case in
Canada where, in a 1997 survey, seventy-nine percent of respondents agreed with the
statement "1 always try to buy from companies that are good corporate citizens
(Canadian Centre for Business in the Community, 1999, p. 1).

The publication of information about an organisation's commitment to sustainability
issues can build positive relations with the community. This can be of benefit to the
organisation if it wants to expand its operations or start up new businesses. An
organisation, seen as a good corporate citizen, is likely to be welcomed into a
community (Strategic Business Management Centre of Excellence, 2001, p.3).

Porter and Hofman (1997) suggest that publishing more information than is required
by the various regulations is advantageous for an organisation because it provides the
opportunity to put such details as pollutant releases into context and to give the
community information on how the organisation is managing its impacts on society
(p.2).

Rush Social Research (1996) found that there was a perception that the reporting of
"bad news" could have positive impacts. Such reporting appears as an "increase in
honesty and transparency in reporting" leading to the improvement of the
organisation's image in the community (p.29).

Voluntary Triple Bottom Line Reporting is a demonstration of the organisation's
commitment to good corporate citizenship.

Attracting and influencing potential customers.

Because of a heightened sensitivity by consumers to environmental issues (Porter
and Hofman, 1997, p.2) a business which is run in an environmentally responsible
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manner and which offers environmentally friendly products has the potential to
increase its market share (Rosen, 200 lb. p.1). A business which demonstrates and
communicates best practices in relation to environmental, social and economic issues
can expand its market share (Strategic Business Management Centre of Excellence,
2001, p.3).

This interest in environmental and social issues has led some organisations to express
a preference to purchase products and services from suppliers who can demonstrate
that they and their products are environmentally sound. The public demonstration
of this soundness may create increased market opportunities for suppliers of goods
and services (Environment Australia, 1999. p.6 Porter and Hofman, 1997, p.2).

However Bubna-Litic and de Leeuw (2000) claim that, for small to medium
enterprises (SMEs), the reporting of environmental performance is not, in fact,
voluntary. Pressure from large corporation customers, such as Ford and Fuji Xerox,
is requiring SMEs to adopt codes of practice or other signatory regulation to give the
large corporation customers comfort that components etc. purchased for
incorporation into their own products are environmentally friendly (p.13).

The fact that businesses voluntarily are prepared to disclose their environmental and
social performances is likely to lead to an increase in the opportunities to market
their goods and services.

5. Legitimising business's activities.

Mathews and Perera, 1996, drew attention to "the social contract of business with
society" (pp.372,373). This contract, as explained by Shocker and Sethi, quoted in
Deegan and Rankin (1997, p.567), is the foundation of "legitimacy theory" which
postulates that "organisations continually seek to ensure that they operate within the
p.22). The
bounds and norms of their respective societies" (Brown & Deegan. 1999,
view held by managers of companies and embodied in legitimacy theory is that if the
activities of a company are not consistent with those expected by society then
penalties will be imposed on the company, penalties such as the withdrawal of
consumer support for the company's products or services, the elimination of "supply
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of labour and financial capital" to the company, or political pressure to increase
sanctions in respect of the "unacceptable" activities of the company (Brown &
Deegan, 1998, p.22). Accordingly companies want to show that their social
performance is good and that it demonstrates that their activities are consistent with
society's expectations.

The publication of environmental and social performance reports is seen as necessary
to retain the support of the communities in which organisations are located and
conduct their activities. This reporting is seen as essential to retain the licence to
operate (Simister, 2000,p.54).

6. Reducing ihe likelihood of mandated requirements

Trotman (1979) contends that, in order to reduce pressure for legislated disclosure
requirements, companies are voluntarily disclosing to show that they are "acting
responsibly" from a community point of view. They are following this course of
action because they consider that legislated disclosure requirements would most
likely be less desirable than a voluntary regime (p.27). Guthrie and Parker (1990)
offer similar reasons for voluntary disclosure of environmental and social
performance declaring that such disclosures may be part of a strategy to "delay,
avoid, or

...

set the agenda" for the development and introduction of mandated

disclosure requirements (p.171).

Porter and Hofman (1997) contend that if

organisations publicly set out their goals and standards, regulatory bodies and the
community will be more confident that the organisations are "open about impacts
and risks" and that they are "sincere about improving performance". Such openness
may lead to a "more flexible regulatory regime" (p.3) and a promotion of "industrywide self-regulation" (Strategic Business Management Centre of Excellence, 2001,
p.3) as distinct from government regulation.

Many Australian organisations are reporting their environmental and social
performance, either voluntarily or because of a regulatory scheme. The diverse ways
in which the organisations report is resulting in many stakeholders now being
informed about the organisations' activities.

Triple Bottom Line Reporting
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The different media by which organisations can report to stakeholders on their
performance are considered in the next part, as are the media to which stakeholders
turn for performance information.

4.5. Reporting media

An evaluation of the importance of Triple Bottom Line Reporting is based on the
comprehensive structural response from many organisations as indicated by annual
and other reports, together with case studies
A major source of environmental information is a company's annual report. Deegan
and Rankin (1997) identified that 67.8 percent of respondents to their survey looked
to the annual report for environmental disclosure. This included 73.3 percent of the
shareholder respondents whilst only 36.4 percent of stockbroker, analysts and
financial institution respondents looked to the annual report (p.573).
Fifty five percent of respondents used no sources other than the annual report, with
56.9 percent of shareholder respondents and 81 percent of stockbroker et al.
respondents using only the annual report (p.574).
Increasingly companies are publishing separate Environment or Health, Safety and
Environment Reports. Simister (2000) reports on KPMGs international survey
which showed that from 1996 to 1999 there was an increase from five percent to
fifteen percent of the top 100 Australian companies which published separate reports
(p.53). This growth is consistent with the growth in most other countries in the
survey (Kelly, 1999, p.9).
These types of reports were used by eight percent of respondents to Deegan and
Rankin's survey whilst the press/media provided a source for 13.2 percent of
respondents.

Other company publications including prospectuses provided

information for three percent of respondents (Deegan and Rankin, 1997, p.574).
This means that publicly available publications account for the sources used by 66
percent of Deegan and Rankin's respondents.
Allan Consulting (2000) claims that stakeholders in the Australian SRI market
obtain their Triple Bottom Line Reporting information from a range of sources in
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addition to the annual reports and the environmental and social reports of companies.
The other sources include the media (which is claimed to be 'an objective, credible
information source" (p.23)), regulatory agencies such as environmental protection
authorities and by requesting specific information, directly from companies (pA4).
The apparent importance as a source of reliable information of company reports is
called into question by Mills et at. (2001). Such reports were seen as public relations
documents (p.10), a claim which supports the finding of Deegan and Rankin (1996)
who found that company annual reports were biased towards favourable
environmental information (p.62).
As such, public environmental reports prepared by a company were not cited as a
primary source of information by the analysts and fund managers in the Mills et al.
survey. They place a greater reliance on other sources, particularly information
received directly from companies during site visits and in response to specific
questions (p.9).
This clearly implies that, in some cases, reporting by companies is failing to meet the
needs of many stakeholders, and that some enhancement of the reporting process is
required.
Triple Bottom Line Reports, if "formalised" with regulations, standards and
guidelines, such as are applicable to published financial reports, would make
companies' reports more useful as they would provide reliable and unbiased
information.

The published financial reports of companies comprise a significant component of
the companies' annual reports. They focus on the economic performance of the
enterprise, reporting primarily for the benefit of the owners and financiers

-

in the

case of companies by means of the annual report (Deegan, 1999a, p.39, Mathews,
1999, p.13). The dominant user group of financial accounting reports is this
owner/financier group (Mathews, 1999. p.4). The profit focus influences the
activities of the company to the extent that management's priority is to adopt
investment, financing and dividend policies which will maximise the wealth of
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owners (Henderson and Peirson, 1998, p.891). Thus the benefits of this focus will be
reflected in the annual report which is read by the owners.

Now, however, the stakeholder group has been expanded to include employees,
customers, suppliers, government and the public in general (ASSC. 1975, p. 17
AARF, 1990, pp.24.25 McGowan et aL, 1999. p.5). It is perceived that reporting for
this group via social and environmental accounting, (which has a main focus relating
to the interactions between an organisation and society, including the natural
environment in which the organisation operates (Gray et al., 1995a, p.48; Owen ci
p. 1 76)), has the potential to influence the activities of organisations in the
al., 1997,
same way that traditional financial accounting does. It may ultimately affect the way
in which the organisation operates so that the second and third elements of Triple
Bottom Line Reporting (ie. the environmental and social performance of the
organisation) will impress favourably.

Following are examples of companies which presumably see some benefit in
voluntary disclosure and accordingly are voluntarily focusing on sustainability and
reporting this focus. The Royal DutchlShell Group, in "The Shell Report 1998",
states that it is "striving to live up to (its) responsibilities
environmental" (Elkington, I998a, Introduction).

-

financial, social and

Placer Pacific Limited

acknowledges a need to improve public accountability and has produced a report on
its "progress towards sustainablility" (Placer Pacific, 1998, p.11). However Placer
acknowledges a "significant difference between sustainability reporting and
environmental reporting" (p.11). It notes that "(w)hile environmental reporting is
well advanced, there are few examples internationally of sustainability reporting"
(p.1 1), the reporting of financial, environmental and social performance.

There are, however, some examples of reporting on social issues. Trotman (1979)
and Pang (1982) provide the results of surveys of Australian companies' disclosures
in their annual reports in 1967, 1972, 1977 and 1980. These surveys revealed that, in
addition to disclosures relating to environmental issues, increasingly over time,
companies disclosed information concerning their performances with regard to:
• human resource issues, eg. employee health and safety, staff training, assistance
for displaced workers;
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• community involvement, eg. donations to charities, medical research, arts
organisations etc., sponsorship of community projects, sporting organisations and
events, assistance for disaster victims;
• other activities such as providing work experience programs for teenagers,
assisting in aboriginal welfare.

More recent examples are included in Henderson and Peirson (1998) who provide
extracts from recent company Annual Reports disclosing "social" activities of CSR,
1994 (pp.907,908), Pasminco, 1997 (pp.908-91 1) and Amcor, 1997 (pp.91 1-914).
Although these extracts are predominantly environmental disclosures they also
include disclosures relating to, for example, contributions to the community
(p.907,908).

It is contended by Deegan (1997) that, rather than being interested in meeting the
information needs of the business stakeholders, the managements of businesses
report environmental performance to enhance the images of their organisations
(p.87). This contention is justified by the conclusions of Deegan and Rankin (1996),
Deegan and Rankin (1997) and Deegan and Gordon (1996) that, in general,
voluntary disclosure emphasised information which favoured the corporate image
and that little or no negative information was reported.

Whilst companies generally have not stated their reasons for reporting environmental
and social performance, this is not the case with Placer Pacific (1998) who stated
"(o)ur vision of sustainability embraces valuable partnerships between our business,
the community and the environment. Our objective is to be at the leading edge of the
industry by gaining the trust of our partners through public accountability and
verified performance" (p.1). The Shell Report

-

1998 stated that "we use the term

Social Accountability' to mean the over-arching ambition of an organisation to be
accountable to its stakeholders and society at large. It embraces the need for an
organisation to.. .be accountable for its performance through externally verified
reporting" (Elkington, 1998b, Road Map, p.5).

These, of course, are recent examples. In respect of the general increases in
disclosures, particularly of environmental activities, Deegan and Gordon (1996)
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noted that, in Australia, increases in disclosure practices over the period 1980 to
1991 corresponded with the increases in membership of four leading environmental
groups. This was particularly marked in the period 1988 to 1991 when substantial
(fourfold) increases occurred in both disclosures and memberships (pp. 191-193).
Deegan and Gordon suggest that the changes in membership are a reflection of the
changes in the values of society and that organisations may be reporting to
demonstrate that their activities are consistent with the perceived changes in society's
values (p.192). Henderson and Peirson (1998) reinforce this proposition by reference
to the growth in "green" consumerism whereby

"

green customers avoid purchasing

the products of ecologically insensitive businesses" and "green" investors will invest
in only "ethically sound and environmentally friendly companies" (p.892).

Shell and Placer provide clear examples of criteria used by some companies in
reaching the decision to make voluntary disclosures of environmental and social
performance. Shell would seem to be concerned with showing itself to be a good
corporate citizen and legitimising its activities, thereby reaping the benefits of such
legitimisation. Placer, in seeking to become the industry leader, would seem to be
concerned with demonstrating good corporate citizenship and favourably influencing
its stakeholders in order to achieve its objective.

Although there seems to be strong support for reporting environmental performance,
Gray, Bebbington and Walters (1993) found that some organisations were resistant to
it. The reasons offered included: the absence of demand for the information, the
absence of a legal requirement and that the costs would outweigh the benefits
(p.210). It should be noted, however, that since the date of that survey, 1993, there
has been a marked increase in society's interest in the environmental and social
performance of organisations and several mandatory reporting requirements have
been implemented, in Australia at least (see section 3.5.1. above).

Is voluntary disclosure of environmental and social performance preferable to the
other possible ways of meeting the new social challenges, ie. meeting the demand for
Triple Bottom Line Reporting? From the viewpoint of the reporting companies it
may well be seen to be preferable

-

the companies will be subjected to less official

scrutiny and regulation.
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From the viewpoint of society in general it may be seen as a less costly option. For
example, the net cost of operating the Australian Securities and Investments
Commission for the year ended 30 June 1999 was $136 million (ASIC, 1999b, p.4).
This Commission is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Corporations
Law, including adherence to accounting standards (pp.2-4) and its expenditures
include contributions to the cost of developing accounting standards. In the year to
30 June 1999 it paid $1.5 million in direct support of the Australian Accounting
Standards Board (members sitting fees and travel expenses) in addition to the costs
(unspecified) of providing employees and other administrative support to assist the
functioning of the Board (p.85).

Until recently the technical assistance for the accounting standard development
process has been provided by the staff of the Australian Accounting Research
Foundation. For 1998 the Foundation's total cost of operations was $3.5 million
(AARF, 1999, p.23), a substantial proportion of which was directed at the standard
The two Australian professional accounting bodies

development process.

contributed in excess of $500,000 each and the Commonwealth government
contributed in excess of $1.5 million towards these costs of operations (p.23).
Ignoring the parliamentary costs associated with drafting, considering, passing and
obtaining royal assent for laws, regulations etc., the process of developing a set of
legislative or other regulations or standards relating to Triple Bottom Line Reporting
and then monitoring compliance with the regulations or standards could cost society
many millions of dollars annually.

In addition, the implementation of voluntary Triple Bottom Line Reporting could
occur more quickly than a legislative or regulatory regime, bearing in mind the
length of time for legislation to pass through the parliamentary system or for
regulations such as accounting standards to be developed and approved for
implementation.

This view is supported by Nash (2001) who states that it will be some time before
accounting standards are going to play "a leading role in forcing organisations" to
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adopt sustainability reporting 23. This situation gives the responsibility of leadership
in sustainability reporting to individual organisations or industry groups (p.33).

There are, however, some potential problems with reliance on a voluntary disclosure
scheme.

Some companies might decide that it is too difficult or time consuming and either
make no disclosures or make minimal or token disclosures. Guthrie and Parker
(1990) found that, even where disclosure was prescribed by regulation, many
companies in the United Kingdom and the United States of America provided
"absolutely minimal" disclosures (p.171). Other companies may be selective and
report only lavourable performance. This was demonstrated in the Deegan and
Gordon review of 197 Australian company annual reports for 1991 (Deegan &
Gordon, 1996, p.1 89). They concluded that companies make little or no negative
disclosure of environmental performance matters, with any disclosures being
"typically self-laudatory" (p.198).

Reliance on voluntary disclosure may result in relevant information not being made
available to decision makers, thereby preventing them from making informed
resource allocation choices.

Poor performance may be supported in these

circumstances leading to increased costs to society.

Voluntary disclosure is also likely to lead to diversity, between companies and
between reporting periods, in the information being disclosed and the presentation of
such information. This lack of consistency and uniformity will seriously impair the
ability to compare the information between organisations and, for the same
organisation, between reporting periods (Belkaoui, 1993, p.248).

Finally, although users will be able to see what is being disclosed, they will have no

23

In a personal response (12 April 2001) to this writers request for advice about the inclusion of
Triple Bottom Line Reporting in the agenda of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, the
chairman, Mr Keith Alfredson, replied that "1 do not believe the AASB will deal with the topic in the
foreseeable future.'

Triple Bolton, Line Reporting A New Challenge tir Accounting Education J.M.B.Vallentine Page 78
-

knowledge of what is not being disclosed, further limiting the usefulness of the
information for their decision-making purposes.

The weight of argument against voluntary disclosure leads to a conclusion that a
regulatory scheme would be more appropriate.

4.6. Conclusions

In order to satisfy the needs of the extended range of stakeholders, an entity may
have to identify:
. who the additional users of information about the performance of the entity are

(eg. employees, the community at large),
• what information these users want (eg. environmental and social performance
information),
• what is the most appropriate form in which to present the information (eg.
descriptive, quantitative, financial), and
• what the best way is to disseminate the information to the users.
(Godfrey et al., 2000, p.683).

The demands of stakeholders have led to an increase in the volume of environmental
and, to a lesser extent, social performance reporting by organisations. The disclosure
of this performance information is, in some cases, governed by regulation, either
statutory or as the result of voluntary agreement. Other disclosure is involuntary, for
example media reports. In many cases the disclosure has been made on a voluntary
basis.

Even though there are arguments in favour of voluntary disclosure, for several
reasons a regulatory scheme would be more appropriate. These reasons include:
•

the failure of some companies to disclose any relevant information.

• the failure of some companies to disclose all relevant informationunfavourable as well as favourable,
•

users not knowing what relevant information is not being disclosed.
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As a consequence of this, the information provided through a voluntary disclosure
scheme will not be as useful as it could be as users could be mislead by inaccurate or
incomplete information, leading to poor quality decisions.

The current mandated environmental and social performance disclosure requirements
are minimal in comparison with the disclosures which are possible and which in
some cases are being made. Those required by the Corporations Law, other statutory
instruments and by industry codes of practice apply to relatively few companies and
almost all relate to only one aspect of performance. Those required by the
Accounting Standards would not lead to comprehensive reporting of environmental
and social performance. Consequently, in comparison with the usefulness of
financial information produced in accordance with the General Purpose Financial
Reporting framework, the information concerning environmental and social
performance will not permit informed decisions to be made by the users of the
information with regard to the reporting organisation and their relationships with it.

Currently financial performance is reported within the framework of General
Purpose Financial Reporting. Because this framework is deficient and inadequate for
sustainability reporting, in that it fails to provide for comprehensive environmental
and social performance reporting, an expanded regulatory framework is required.
Such a framework, which could be named a General Purpose Sustainability
Reporting framework, is one which embraces environmental and social performance
reporting as well as financial performance reporting. Its output would be Triple
Bottom Line Reporting.

Although an important medium for the disclosure of company performance is the
annual report, increasingly, separate reports are being produced which disclose
environmental and social performance information.

The needs of society and stakeholders would be addressed by the implementation of
a formal reporting structure such as Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

Triple Bottom Line Reporting has increasingly become important but the ad hoc way
that business, regulators and the profession have responded has led to the basic
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questions on how can accountants play a significant role in Triple Bottom Line
Reporting.

ftc next chapter highlights this significance.
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Chapter 5
TRIPLE BOTTOM LINE REPORTING AND THE ROLE
OF ACCOUNTANTS

CHAPTER 5- TRIPLE BOTTOM LINE REPORTING AND THE ROLE OF
ACCOUNTANTS

5.1. Introduction

Evidence of the importance of Triple Bottom Line Reporting has been presented in
Chapter

3.

Chapter 4 addressed concepts and issues related to environmental and

social reporting. It discussed a mechanism for the implementation of the reporting of
environmental and social performance as well as financial performance, Triple
Bottom Line Reporting.

The importance of Triple Bottom Line Reporting is resulting in an extension of the
traditional financial reporting by organisations to include the reporting of
environmental and social performance as well as financial performance.
Accountants play the major role in the preparation and presentation of financial
information, such preparation and presentation in Australia being governed by
accounting standards and other pronouncements of the accounting profession.

The application of similar types of standards to the preparation and presentation of
environmental and social performance information would improve the integration of
reports of the three types of performance into single Triple Bottom Line Reports. It
will be demonstrated that accountants must be involved in these processes, although
their current preparedness for such involvement is open to question.

This conclusion was reached as a result of an examination of Triple Bottom Line
Reporting, the role of accountants in the reporting process, and their education and
training.

The examination of Triple Bottom Line Reporting includes the identification of the
types of performance information which are included in each of the three elements,
financial (economic), environmental and social performance.

Triple Bottom Line
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Issues related to the enhancement of the information are identified and discussed.
The issues are those which increase the usefulness to users/stakeholders of the
published information. The issues identified are:
•

the qualitative characteristics of the information.

•

quantification of the information, and

•

the process of 'normalisation'.

In considering the role of accountants, the chapter addresses a number of the issues
which highlight their appropriateness to participate in Triple Bottom Line Reporting.
These issues are:
•

accountants education and training.

•

their experience in dealing with non-financial information,

•

the role played by accountants in the interpretation of information, and

• their familiarity with the need for information to exhibit certain qualitative
characteristics.

Issues which diminish the appropriateness of accountants are also identified and
discussed.

The conclusion is reached that accountants are appropriate to participate in the
preparation of environmental and social performance reports but there is a question
about how well prepared they are for this task.

5.2. Requirements of Triple Bottom Line Reporting

Triple Bottom Line Reporting (or Sustainability Reporting) encompasses reporting
performance in three linked elements of sustainability:
• the financial or economic element,
• the environmental element,
• the social element.

The types of information relating to each element are described below.
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Worldwide, many organisations and groups are actively contributing to the
improvement of reporting on these three elements (White, 1999, p.36).

For instance Canadian Business for Social Responsibility (CBSR. 2001) has
developed a framework to provide guidance for organisations wishing to become
more environmentally and socially responsible (History, p.1). The guidance is
described as a "what to do" tool rather than a "how to" tool and, although its main
aim is at business entities, it may also be relevant to professional associations and
not-for-profit entities. The guidelines offer lists of activities in which an organisation
can engage, in respect of each of the different groups of stakeholders (CBSR, 2001,
History, p.2).

Another organisation is the Coalition for Environmentally Responsible Economies
(CERES) (White, 1999, p.37), which, in 1997, launched the Global Reporting
Initiative (GRI). White declares that the GRI is distinct from the other initiatives
because it proposes reporting which "goes beyond the traditional environmental and
health and safety concerns" and promotes sustainablility reporting (p.38). The output
from the GRI initiative includes the June 2000 Sustainability Reporting Guidelines
(GRI, 2000). The Guidelines were developed using the "methodical, inclusive, cooperative approach" which has been used by accountants in the development of
accounting standards (Wiens, 2000, p.!). In addition, the underlying principles and
assumptions of the Guidelines are those of financial reporting, with necessary
modifications (GRI, 2000, p.13). The two major objectives of the Guidelines are:
to improve information transparency for the public, and
to facilitate better decision-making by managers (Birchard, 2000, p.56).

As stated above, the three aspects of an organisation's performance which disclose its
contribution to sustainablility are financial (economic) performance, environmental
performance and social performance (GRI, 2000, p.2).
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5.2.1. Financial (economic) performance

The first type of information to be considered is that of financial or economic
performance.

Financial or economic performance reporting traditionally discloses information
prepared using Historic Cost-based Accounting and is limited to reporting the effects
of transactions between the reporting entity and other entities. The primary purpose
of the disclosures is to provide information which is decision-useful (AARF, 1997,
p.49, SAC 2, para.43). The decision makers to whom these disclosures are directed
are primarily investors and creditors (Mathews, 1999a, p.4).

This financial reporting does not fully reflect the economic activities of an entity nor
the impact of those activities (Mathews, 1999a, p.3). For example, the disposal of
waste products into the atmosphere or waterways uses goods

-

air and water

-

which

have been regarded as "free" (p.3). Consequently the "costs" of using these goods
are not reflected in the financial reports, except when costs are incurred cleaning up
the environment following an action brought against the entity for polluting the
environment.

Examples of information presented in traditional financial reports include:
• Net Profit,
• Earnings Before Interest and Tax,
• Return on Capital Employed,
•

Carrying Amount of Assets of the entity,

• Liabilities recognised in the accounts.

Australian Accounting Standards, applicable to companies incorporated under the
provisions of the Corporations Law, require the disclosure of certain items of
expense. Examples include the remuneration and other benefits received by directors
of companies (ASCPA, 1999a, AASB 1017, sec.4); the remuneration paid to auditors
(AASB 1034, para.5.3(b)); the remuneration of executive officers of the company
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(AASB 1034, para.6.1); borrowing costs (AASB 1018, para.4.1(e)) and income tax
expense (AASB 1018, para.4. 1(1)).

In addition, the Accounting Standards require the disclosure of certain items as part
of the Statement of Financial Position. These items include, for example, cash
assets; receivables; property, plant and equipment; intangible assets; payables;
interest-bearing liabilities; contributed equity; and retained profits (AASB 1040,
para.7.1).

From a sustainability reporting perspective the reporting of economic performance
could be enhanced by additional disclosures, which may include, for example,
"alternative valuations of assets and liabilities" (Mathews. 1999a, p.22) such as the
present value of future cash flows expected to be generated by an asset or group of
assets and/or current market price and improved reporting of executory contracts
(Mathews, 1999a, p.22). Commitments for future expenditure are already required to
be reported (ASCPA, 1999a, AASB 1040, para.8.3(d)) but the related benefits
expected are unlikely to be reported.

Other examples of additional disclosures which could be made include the
distribution by country of net profit, gross profit, dividends paid and wages expense;
details of different types of taxes paid to different taxing authorities; and
philanthropic expenditures and charity donations by geographic destinations (GRI,
2000, pp.32,33).

The second type of information required by Triple Bottom Line Reporting is
environmental performance.

5.2.2. Environmental performance

There is some reporting of environmental performance, particularly by those
companies which are signatories to industry codes of conduct such as the Minerals
Council of Australia Code for Environmental Management (Minerals Council of
Australia, 1996) and the Electricity Supply Association of Australia Code of
Environmental Practice (ESAA, 1997). However the performance reporting of these
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companies and of all entities could be enhanced if performance reports included the
Four Key Elements of Environmental Performance as identified by Ranganathan
(1998, p.3). These Key Elements are:
• Materials Use,
• Energy Consumption.
• Nonproduct Output, and
• Pollutant Releases.

The June 2000, Sustainability Reporting Guidelines of the Global Reporting
Initiative (GRI, 2000, pp.28-30) list and describe "indicators' relating to
Ranganathan's Four Key Elements.

Other indicators identified by the Global Reporting Initiative (pp.30,31) include
those related to the following elements of environmental performance:
• Products and Services,
• Land-Use/Biodiversity, and
• Compliance.

The "indicators" relating to each of the above seven elements are detailed in
Appendix 3.

These indicators are consistent with the information required for Life Cycle
Assessment reporting (Gray, Bebbington & Walters, 1993, pp.165-175) which
assesses the environmental impact of a product or process. This assessment takes
into account:
• pre-production activities, such as the extraction and processing of the raw
materials to be used in producing the product,
• production/manufacturing activities, ie. the conversion of the raw materials into
finished products, including packaging,
• distribution of finished product through the various stages (wholesale, retail) to
the end-user,
•

the actual use of the product,

•

any re-use and maintenance of the product during its life,
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recycling the product at the end of its useful life, and
ultimate disposal.

The third element of Triple Bottom Line Reporting is the reporting of social
performance.

5.2.3. Social performance

Social performance elements indicate an organisation's impact on its various
stakeholders in terms of ceo-justice, business ethics, participatory decision making,
community commitment etc. (Ranganathan, 1998, pp.4,5).

Four Key Elements related to Corporate Social Performance, identified by
Ranganathan (p.5) are:
• Community Relations,
• Employment Practices,
• Ethical Sourcing, and
• Social Impact of Product.

Community Relations performance reporting will show the extent to which an entity
is a 'good citizen"

-

what contributions it is making to the social; fabric of the

community in which it operates, as distinct from its impact on the physical
environment, and what ill-feeling it might be generating in the community.

Examples of the types of information to be reported include:
•

complaints from neighbours regarding the organisation's activities,

• philanthropic contributions, and
• job creation for local residents.

Employment Practices performance reporting will disclose whether the organisation
is a "good" employer.

Emphasis will be on equity in terms of

employment/advancement opportunities without discrimination, particularly in
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relation to females and minority groups. Other areas of reporting include training
and personal development opportunities made available to employees.

Ethical Sourcing performance reporting concerns the acquisition of resources, both
physical materials and labour resources. Information to be provided includes that
related to:
monitoring suppliers of materials with regard to their use of,for example,
children and prisoners in their own manufacturing processes,
possible wage exploitation of employees and sub-contractors,
occupational health and safety issues concerning employees, and
human rights considerations in investment decisions.

Social Impact of Product performance reporting estimates the social issues and
impact of the goods and services provided by the organisation, in terms of their
contribution to social welfare and meeting basic human needs.

An extensive schedule of indicators relating to the elements of Social Performance is
included in Appendix 4.

In order that the information concerning the three elements of Triple Bottom Line
Reporting be as useful and relevant as possible to users, it should exhibit certain
qualitative characteristics and it should be quantified.

5.3. Qualitative characteristics of information

The Global Reporting Initiative (GRI, 2000) has identified the qualitative
characteristics which should be exhibited by information in order to make it as useful
and relevant as possible to its users, the stakeholders of the organisation to which the
information relates. These characteristics are described below.

Relevance influencing the decision making of the users. The information may also
-

be useful for directing attention, building knowledge and opinion forming (p.16).
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Reliability free from bias and material error. Reliability is enhanced if:
-

-

-

descriptions of activities, events and issues are presented in a logical manner;
it is recognised by the preparers of the information that the economic,
environmental and social substance of the information is more
important than strict legal form;

-

the information is complete, reporting both the favourable and the
unfavourable; and

-

a proper degree of prudence is exercised so that uncertain outcomes are not
reported prematurely and positive progress on issues is not
misreported

Clarity

-

(p.' 7).

able to be understood by a wide range of users. This may require, for

example, careful use of technical and scientific terms, and explanations of such terms
(p.17).

Comparability able to be used for comparisons with information reported for other
-

periods and by other entities. Essential to this characteristic is consistency in the
recognition, measurement and presentation of the information (p.1 8).

Timeliness

-

the prompt reporting of performance so that the information is not

"stale" or out-of-date when it reaches the users. Reporting should be on a regular
basis, with the norm currently being annually (p.1 8).

Verifiability

-

independent external verification of the reported information will

provide an additional degree of assurance as to the reliability and completeness of the
information (pp.10,1 8).

Whilst the qualitative characteristics described above will enhance the usefulness of
the Triple Bottom Line Reporting information, the usefulness will be further
enhanced if the performance information is quantified.

Quantification of

performance information is important as it increases the ability of the users of the
information to make comparisons between the performances of different
organisations and the performances in different time periods.
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5.4. Quantification

The nature of activities related to environmental and social performance is such that
much of the reporting is descriptive and unquantified. Trotman (1979) contended
that the usefulness of the disclosures of environmental and social performance would
be enhanced if the information is quantified (p.28) as the quantification of the
information facilitates the making of comparisons between different organisations as
well as making comparisons of activities in different periods for the same
organisation.

This quantification is not limited to reporting performance in only financial terms but
embraces the use of non-financial performance measures such as tonnes of Carbon
Dioxide emitted into the atmosphere. The important issue is the need for indicators
of financial, environmental and social performance that are accurate, useful and
credible (Elkington, 1998a, p.2). Indicators, or targets, should be quantified so that
measures of performance can be made, the performance measures being considered
key components of reporting (Porter & Hofman, 1997, p.8).

However, quantified information, particularly that using a cardinal system of
quantification, frequently makes no concession to the size of an organisation, the
scale of its operations and changes to that scale from one period to another. Nor does
it, per se, acknowledge the differences in size, the scale of operations, between
organisations. These deficiencies can be overcome by "normalising" the quantified
information.

5.5. Normalisation

The results of a Tellus survey clearly indicated that "comparability over time" was
seen as the most important characteristic required of quantitative environmental
performance information (White and Zinkl, 1998, p.18). This requirement for
comparability leads to the need for "normalisation" (p.20).

Absolute measures or scores should be reported as they provide information about
the amount of "contribution to an overall effect". For example, reporting the total
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pollutant releases by an organisation into a river system will permit the estimation of
the effect that those releases may have on the system taking into account the carrying
capacity of the system (GRI, 2000, p.57). To improve the comparability of the
information it may be necessary to "normalise" or standardise the measures or scores.
Normalisation or standardisation is the process of relating the absolute measures or
scores to the scale of the relevant activity, for example, expressing the volume of
potential pollutants discharged during a period as a percentage of the total volume of
discharges. (The Corporate Citizenship Company, 2000. p.4).

Examples of ratios include "eco-efficiency indicators' which link environmental
performance of an organisation with its financial performance (Muller and Sturm,
2001, p.11). Muller and Sturm contend that "comparable and reliable eco-efficiency
indicators" are essential if an organisation's progress from one period to another is to
be measured or if its performance is to be validly compared with that of another
entity (p.13).

This process of using ratios developed from the absolute figures enhances the
comparability of information about the impacts of the activities of different
organisations whose scales of operations are different from each other. In addition it
enhances the comparability of information about the activities of the same
organisation in different periods where the scale of operations is different in each
period or where the carrying capacity of the recipient system varies from period to
period, e.g. the volume of water flow in the river system referred to above.

Having considered the requirements of Triple Bottom Line Reporting in terms of
what type of information should be reported and the issues related to its qualitative
characteristics, and quantification and normalisation requirements, it is appropriate to
direct attention to the identification of the persons appropriate to participate in the
information preparation processes.

5.6. The role of accountants

Whilst much of the data-gathering and information generation for environmental and
social performance reporting relies on technical and human resource management
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expertise, there is a significant role for professionally qualified accountants. This is
the case because of the education and training of professional accountants, because
of the continuing professional education requirements of their profession and
because of the experience which they gain in their everyday professional activities.
This role includes the design and monitoring of data gathering systems the
identification, measuring, collection, collation, summarisation and analysis of data;
and the preparation of reports which provide performance information about an
organisation to information users both inside and outside the organisation. The work
of a professional accountant routinely involves dealing with the quantification and
normalisation of information, and the preparation of performance reports containing
information which exhibits the qualitative characteristics referred to above.

The arguments supporting the claim of a role for accountants are based on
consideration of a number of issues relevant to accountants:
•

education and training,

• experience with non-financial information,
•

interpretation of information, and

•

qualitative characteristics of financial information.

Education and training

Accountants, as a result of their education and training, have the skills and
experience to design and evaluate systems; collect, collate and evaluate evidence;
measure, analyse and report information and undertake audits and assurance
activities. These are in addition to the accountants' role in determining the financial
implications, including costs and risks of existing activities and potential
environmental options (Gray, Bebbington & Walters, 1993, pp.175-176; Nash &
Awty,

2001. p.32).

Non-financial information

Accountants' experiences are not limited to dealing with only monetary data and
information. They routinely deal with non-financial infbrmation as part of their roles
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in determining product costs, projected revenues, non-financial resources used etc.
Examples include quantities of raw materials used in production processes, floor
areas occupied by different departments of an organisation, electricity units used,
hours worked by employees in different categories, distances travelled by motor
vehicles, hours of operation of machines and quantities of products sold/expected to
he sold, and so on.

Interpreting fin ai,cial information

Accountants play an important role in interpreting financial in/b rniation about
organisations.

As part of this activity, accountants regularly undertake the

"normalisation" or "standardisation" of financial information, in order to be able to
make more meaningful comparisons between the reported results of organisations of
different sizes. Examples of the types of processes used by accountants are the
determination of:
•

a gross profit ratio a percentage expressing the relationship between gross profit
-

and sales revenue,
• return on assets employed a percentage, expressing the relationship between the
-

profit earned and the total assets utilised, and
earnings per share, the profit earned divided by the number of shares on issue.

Qualitative characteristics

Further, the qualitative characteristics, identified by the Global Reporting Initiative
and detailed above, are those familiar to accountants as they are consistent with those
published by the Australian Accounting Research Foundation in Statement of
Accounting Concepts SAC3 "Qualitative Characteristics of Financial I nformation
(AARF, 1997, pp.51-65). Whilst the application of this Statement of Accounting
Concepts is not mandatory for accountants, it is recommended, as the Statements of
Accounting Concepts form a "source of guidance" for accountants when there is no
accounting standard dealing with the particular treatment or issue being considered.
(CPAA, 2001, APSI. para.21).
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The qualitative characteristics concerning the selection of financial information are
identified as:

Relevance

-

'that quality of fThancial information which exists when that

information influences the decisions of users..." (para.5).

Reliability

-

"that quality of financial information which exists when that

information can be depended upon to represent faithfully, and without bias or
undue error, the transactions or events that either it purports to represent or
could reasonably be expected to represent" (para.5).

Those characteristics concerned with the presentation of financial information are:

Understandability

-

"that quality of financial information which exists when

users of that information are able to comprehend its meaning" (para.5).

Comparability "that quality of financial information which exists when users
-

of that information are able to discern and evaluate similarities in, and
differences between, the nature and effects of transactions and events, at one
time and over time, either when assessing aspects of a single reporting entity or
of a number of reporting entities" (para.5).

In addition, SAC3 requires that the materiality test should be applied when selecting
financial information. The "materiality test" is "that test which is used to assess the
extent to which relevant and reliable information may be omitted, misstated or not
disclosed separately without having the potential to adversely affect the
decisions ... made by users..." (para.5).

Further, SAC3 states that information "may lose its relevance if there is undue delay
in it being reported" (para.39) thus highlighting the need for timeliness in reporting
the information.

From the foregoing it can be seen that accountants are appropriate to be involved in
the non financial aspects of Triple Bottom Line Reporting.
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1-lowever a contrary view could also be put. It could be argued that accountants are
not appropriate to be involved for the following reasons.

Focus on market transactions

Accountants' education and training gives them a strong focus on market
transactions, principally recording only the effects of transactions which have taken
place between the reporting entity and other entities (Hoggett and Edwards. 2000.
pp.7-9). This focus will preclude the recognition of the effects of events which are
not 'transactions"

Reporting entity concept

The concepts which underlie accounting practice include the "Accounting Entity
Concept" which requires a focus solely on the reporting entity. The effects on other
entities of the reporting entity's activities are not incorporated in the reports of the
reporting entity (Hoggett and Edwards, 2000, p.35,36). Consequently accountants,
in their reporting, pay no heed to the impacts of the reporting entity on its
environment. Sustainability reporting requires a much broader reporting perspective
than the individual reporting entity.

Materiality

The accountant's concept of materiality, as addressed in SAC3 and referred to above,
is one of JInancial materiality. (CPAA, 2001a, SAC3, para.28; AASS, para.4.1.6;
AAS13I031, para.4.1.6; AAS131034, para.4.1.6). It is concerned with the decisions
made by the users of jinancial reports (Newson, 1999, p.2). As such, if the
accountants' materiality test was applied, the application would normally ignore the
potential effects on decisions which are being based on environmental or social
criteria, or are being made by those who have no financial dealings with or stake in
the organisation (EATF, 1998, p.17). This possibility is supported by the guidance
issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission in respect of the
recently introduced requirement for companies to disclose environmental
performance information (Commonwealth of Australia, 1998, sec.299(1)(f)). The
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guidance, included in Practice Note 68, states that "accounting concepts of
materiality in financial statements are not applicable" (ASIC, 1999a, para. PN 68.74
(b)).

The appropriateness of accountants for a significant role in Triple Bottom Line
Reporting outweighs these perceived inadequacies but there it appears that there is a
need to extend their primary focus beyond purely financial issues.

Need for adaptation and education

Elkington (1998a) contends that the demand for sustainablility reporting will require
"new forms of accounting" (p.2). This view is supported by Deegan (1999b) who
identifies the need for "new systems of accounting" (p.41).

In the 1990s,
environmental issues have attained an increasing attention and Owen et
al. (1997) note the separation of the "environmental" from the "social" with the
effective displacement of the "social" (p.176). Now, with an emphasis on
sustainability accounting and reporting which embraces economic, environmental
and social issues, there is renewed importance for social accounting and the potential
re-merger of it with environmental accounting (p.178). In their conclusion, Owen et
al. "see a pressing need to re-introduce a social justice element in current
environmental reporting initiatives" (p.195). This would lead to environmental
performance reporting being extended to include social performance reporting.
When linked with financial performance reporting the result will be Triple Bottom
Line Reporting.

The implementation of sustainability reporting would require reporting organisations
to have staff who are knowledgeable about and educated and experienced in
environmental and social performance issues. Consequently accounting educators
can play an important role in facilitating the disclosure of environmental and social
performance of organisations. By ensuring that accounting graduates have studied
environmental and social issues, including the measurement and reporting of
performance, accounting educators will not only contribute significantly to the
preparation of accountants for Triple Bottom Line Reporting but they could also
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impress upon accounting students the importance of Triple Bottom Line Reporting
leading to the likelihood that when these students enter the workforce there is a
greater chance of them attempting to influence their employers to undertake Triple
Bottom Line Reporting.

Shaper and Raar (2001) declare that, because financial reports, the focus of
accountants work, do not include information such as that relating to, for example,
operationa l efficiencies, waste and product quality", environmental issues are not,
normally, dealt with by accountants (p.42). This would suggest that they may have
limited knowledge of and experience in such issues, which would require adaptation
of their skills, and relevant education and training in environmental and social issues
(Simister, 2000, pp.53,54).

If this argument is accepted then it presents a challenge to accounting educators and
the accounting profession to modify the educational processes and the concepts
underlying accounting practice so that accountants are more sensitive to the issues
relating to and requirements for the preparation of Triple Bottom Line Reports.

5.7. Conclusion

Triple Bottom Line Reporting encompasses reporting three elements of an
organisation's performance financial, environmental and social.
-

Accountants have traditionally played a key role in the preparation of financial
performance reports and this role has required them to be familiar with, to generate
and to use both financial and non-financial data and information. They are familiar
with the requirement to "normalise" information and for the information to exhibit
certain qualitative characteristics to enhance its usefulness.

Triple Bottom Line Reporting merely extends the non-financial aspects of reporting
to incorporate environmental and social performance aspects.

Accordingly accountants are appropriate people to be involved in the preparation of
the environmental and social performance elements of Triple Bottom Line Reporting
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as well as the financial performance element. Their education, training and
experience, enable them to deal with the requirements of Triple Bottom Line
Reporting in terms of quantification of information and the need for the information
to exhibit certain qua! itative characteristics.

The structure of the education and training programs for accountants (see Chapter 1)
is such that there is potential for accountants to have acquired or to acquire the
knowledge and skills necessary to undertake the extended reporting.

There is, however, an argument which indicates the need for accountants education
and accounting practice to be modified to improve the potential for accountants to
participate in Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

Although accountants are appropriate for participation in the preparation of
environmental and social performance reporting, the question arises: 'How well
prepared are they, at present, for this task?"
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Chapter 6
ACCOUNTING EDUCATION AND THE ACCOUNTING
PROFESSION

CHAPTER 6- ACCOUNTING EDUCATION AND THE ACCOUNTING
PROFESSION

6.1. Introduction

The requirement for new ftrms of accountability leads to the need to develop new
forms of accounting (Elkin(yton. 1998a, p.2), new accounting systems, procedures
and practices to facilitate sustainability reporting, the reporting of environmental and
social performance in conjunction with financial performance (Deegan, 1999b, p.41).

In Chapter 4 the framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting was discussed
and it was demonstrated that the framework is deficient for the purpose of providing
sustainability performance information. The framework needs to be expanded and
modified to embrace environmental and social performance reporting.

New systems, procedures and practices are required to overcome some of the
restrictive concepts which were identified in Chapter 4 and which underlie traditional
accounting practices.

For new systems, procedures and practices to be implemented there is a need to
educate accountants and there is a need for support from and participation by the
accounting profession.

This chapter examines the responses to the environmental and social performance
reporting issue of both accounting educators and the accounting profession
principally in Australia and to a lesser extent in the United Kingdom and the United
States of America. The first part of the chapter considers both the demands placed
on the education of accountants and how educators have responded to those
demands. The second part of the chapter addresses the responses of the Australian
accounting profession to the demands of Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

The chapter reaches the conclusions that, firstly, it is likely that the formal education
of accountants, courses conducted by universities and the professional accounting
bodies, fails to prepare aspiring accountants for their participation in environmental
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and social reporting elements of Triple Bottom Line Reporting. Secondly, the
Australian accounting profession appears not to have responded to the changes
needed for the implementation of Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

6.2. Accounting education

6.2.1. Changing requirements for accounting education

Mathews (1999b) argues that "society acknowledges the important role of
accounting and that an implied social contract exists between the accounting
profession and society (p. 13).

In order to maintain professional status, accountants and the accounting profession
must be responsive to the changing demands of society and its values. Accountants
must be seen to be providing information which meets society's current needs (p.14).

The emergence of demands for sustainability performance information requires that
accountants be ethically "self-aware". This leads to the requirement for an
introduction to traditional ethical theory to be included in education programs for
accountants.

Mathews identifies three basic approaches to thinking about the environment from an
ethical perspective

-

egocentric, homocentric and ecocentric24. He contends that,

currently, financial accounting, which has an emphasis on economic transactions,
measured in financial terms, and the provision of information to a limited array of

24

The egocentric model focuses on mankind placing it in a privileged position over all other beings on
Earth. People dominate the planet and may use its resources any way they please. Traditional
accounting is closely aligned with this model, having a short-term perspective and considering only
the self-interest of those persons who have a direct financial interest in the entity for which thew
accounting is being undertaken.
The homocentric model sees humans as part of an interactive culture, with the requirement to consider
the needs of other human beings, both current needs and those of future generations. Attempts to
incorporate information about corporate social responsibility into accounting reports is an example of
attempts to expand the constituents to include society as a whole.
The ecocentric model sees humans as individuals within an ecosystem. Within this model it is
acknowledged that the environment cannot logically be exploited simply for human gain.
(Mathews, 1999b, pp.14,15)
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users for a limited set of decision-making interests, falls clearly within the egocentric
model.

Mathews argues that change in accountants philosophical perspective is needed if
environmental and social accounting and reporting is to become accepted and
implemented (p.15). Such a change in perspective will require the inclusion of
appropriate studies in education programs for accountants. This view supports the
claim of Gray el al. (1994) that, with regard to acceptance of' environmental and
social accounting, students need to 'make their personal value systems explicit"
(p.65).

These types of concerns about accounting education were not new.

The Bedford Committee of the American Accounting Association (AAA, 1986)
proposed that more emphasis should be given to the development, in accounting
students, of "a concern for individual needs and for the overall advancement of
society" as well as instilling in students "the ethical standards and the commitment of
a professional" (p.179). The committee stated further that accounting education
should "develop in students an understanding of the nature and skills of logical
reasoning; a capacity for creative thinking and problem-solving; an appreciation of
ethical standards and conduct" (pp. 179,180).

The Committee expressed concern that students are required "to learn more factual
rules and procedures" which are "to be applied in a rather rigid fashion", with a
"primary focus ... on the acquisition of knowledge needed to pass professional
examinations" (p.l'7'7). It implied that there was a heavy emphasis on the teaching of
techniques and declared that "future accounting education should.. .extend well
beyond technical skills" (p.1 79). Further the Committee noted that teaching methods
for accounting tended to be those which have been in use for fifty years (p.177).
Nelson (1996) supported this claim, declaring ten years later than the Bedford
committee, that "We have been delivering accounting education in much the same
manner since the advent of the profession." (p.249)
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6.2.2. Environmental and social accounting education

Mathews (1997a) noted that during the period 1971

-

1980 virtually no students

appeared to have been introduced to environmental and social accounting (p.489).
There were, however, a few graduate programs offered in the United States of
America. eg. New York University. University of Illinois, Wichita State University
(AAA, 1976, pp.64.65) but there was very little reference to the topics in text books,
eg. only one text book out of forty examined by the committee of the American
Accounting Association contained any reference (AAA, 1976, p.59).

During the period 1981

-

1990 the development of relevant teaching programs did

increase. Examples include "A First Course in Social Accounting" offered in 1983
at Pacific Lutheran University, Tacoma, Washington, USA (Mathews, 1984, p.63); a
social accounting course first taught in 1982 at Griffith University, Queensland
(Blundell and Booth, 1988, p.78); Massey (New Zealand) University's advanced
societal accounting course, which has been offered to graduate and undergraduate
students since 1987 (Gibson, 1997, p.590); and a postgraduate course at the State
University of New York, Binghampton, first taught in 1980 (Freedman, 1996, p.97).
Mathews (1 997a) noted that, at the end of this period, several specialist text books by
Gray etal., in 1987, Parker etal., in 1989 and Gray, in 1990. Several journal articles
relating to relevant teaching programs also appeared during this period (p.494).

The period commencing in 1991 has seen the introduction of coverage of social and
environmental accounting issues in other university courses. A sample of these,
including subjects offered in Australia, New Zealand, the United Kingdom and the
United States of America, is reviewed by Gibson (1997). These courses are included
in either graduate programs, honours programs or the final year of undergraduate
programs. In some cases the courses are core but in most cases they are electives.

Gibson notes and comments on the different ways in which the various subjects have
approached the teaching of social and environmental accounting. Some subjects
"emphasize conceptual aspects and alternative paradigms" whilst some are
essentially practical and others are a combination of conceptual and practical
elements (pp.588-591). A range of relevant textbooks has been published during this
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period and increasing numbers of articles are appearing in a variety of journals
including some specialist journals such as Accounting, Auditing and Accountability
Journal. (Mathews, 1997a, p.498).

In 1992 Owen, Humphrey and Lewis undertook research into Social and
Environmental Accounting Education in British Universities. This work is
considered appropriate to be used as a 'benchmark' for the assessment of offerings
by Australian universities and was selected for this purpose for the following
reasons:
•

much accounting practice in Australia has developed from that in Great Britain.

• the original and many subsequent accounting pronouncements, including
accounting standards, by Australian professional accounting bodies have had
their origins in the British accounting pronouncements.
• Australian professional accounting bodies are similar to the major accounting
bodies in Great Britain.
• there are similarities between the university systems of Great Britain and
Australia.

Owen et at. (1994) describe the results of their research which was a survey of 79
United Kingdom and Irish universities identified as offering undergraduate
accounting courses. Their survey yielded responses from 60 universities and showed
that a majority (64%) of the British universities which responded to the survey
devoted little or no "coverage to issues of social and environmental accounting"
(p.16).

The relevant information from those results is reproduced below in Table 6.1.
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Table 6.1

-

Extent of Teaching of Social and Environmental Accounting (SEA)

in United Kingdom and Irish Universities

Full subject unit offered/shortly to be introduced
Part subject unit offered (where SEA material forms a substantial
(>10%) component of the subject unit
SEA forms a small (<10%) component of one subject unit
No coverage of SEA
Total
Source: Owen el al., 1994, p.17, Table 1

UNIVERSITIES
Number
%
11
7
25
15
19
19
60

The results disclosed that seven (11%) of the universities offered or would shortly
introduce a full subject unit in environmental and social accounting. A further 34
(57%) universities offered subject units where environmental and social accounting
material forms part of the program of a subject unit. Of these, in 15 (25%)
universities, the relevant component was more than 10% of the program, whilst in
the other 19 (32%) it was less than 10%. Nineteen (32%) of the responding
universities offered no subject units which included material on environmental and
social accounting.

The tabulated results give no indication as to which universities' subject units are
compulsory and which are electives. However, of the subject units with a greater
than 10% component, nine of the universities offered the subject units as compulsory
final year studies (p.1 6). This suggests that the importance of the subject matter was
recognised by at least some accounting educators.

There is no general statement about the duration of the subject units. There is,
however a statement that, in each of a few cases, "the course (subject unit) was only
(my emphasis) of a duration of one term/semester" (p.1 6). Owen et al. concluded
that environmental and social accounting was, at that time, a subject "peripheral to
accounting undergraduate schemes" and, when taught, tended to be a "final year
option" or "part of a final year accounting" subject unit (p. 19).

From this it can be concluded that the majority of graduates from British universities
at that time would, most likely, have been exposed to little or no study of
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environmental and social accounting and reporting issues in their accounting degree
programs.

Humphrey el at (1994) also reported on the survey conducted in 1992 by Lewis,
Humphrey and Owen. Humphrey el al. explore the changing nature of accounting
curricula in British universities and "the processes encouraging or hindering change"
(p.2). Numerous conclusions emanated from the survey. These included:
Most degree structures offer the teaching of techniques in the early years followed
by a "more 'conceptual' approach later" in the programs. This led to the teaching
of social and environmental accounting being restricted to the final year, as an
elective (p.3 1).
Appropriate" course content is determined by reference to a variety of factors
including material which would be considered appropriate by students,
prospective employers and professional accounting bodies, and whether it "was
capable of being presented in a way that was suitable for large courses" (p.31).
Some universities tended to give less emphasis to possibly "politically tainted"
social issues (p.32).
Resistance to the teaching of social and environmental accounting "seemed rooted
in largely mythical depictions of preventative accreditation requirements, illspecified feelings that students or employees (sic) would not accommodate the
material, or that there was no space for such teaching" (p.32).
The circumstances existing in universities do not favour "the development of
innovative teaching which challenges the familiar tenets of accounting
knowledge" (p.33).
Without consideration of "the basic structure and raison d'être not just of social
and environmental accounting courses, but of university accounting courses per
Se", "accounting academics will generally continue as followers of educational
agendas which they could and should be setting" (p.34).

The results of the Lewis ci al. research reinforce the contention proposed by a
number of authors, and supported by Bebbington (1994), that accountants are "illequipped to respond to new challenges" (p.11 8).
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This situation is confirmed by Bebbington et al. (1994) who ascertained that British
accountants apparently lacked knowledge about environmental accounting issues.
They were not involved in their companies' responses to "the environmental agenda"
nor were they involved in accounting for contingent liabilities and remediation costs
in industries where this accounting could have been expected (p.11 8). Their focus on
only conventional accounting issues leads to a conclusion that, just as they have had
no involvement in environmental accounting, they are unlikely to have had any
knowledge of or involvement in social accounting issues.

Bebhington ci al. argue that this apparent lack of knowledge is the result of
inadequacies in accountants' education and training, which does not equip them to
"reflect upon and respond to challenges that lie outside the existing orthodoxy of
current accounting techniques" (p.11 8).

Their education and training does not adequately prepare them to adapt to the need
for the development of non-traditional forms of accounting: those required for the
reporting of environmental and social performance.

6.2.3. Research and education

The Bedford Committee of the American Accounting Association, (AAA, 1986)
noted that changes in knowledge and its application are often not perceived by a
profession and its practitioners, unless an extensive research program is undertaken
(p.184). Accordingly the committee recommended that:
In preparing students for the future, accounting . faculty should rely on
accounting practice and research and on multidisciplinary research in
establishing curriculum content rat her than merely preparing students to
qualitj'/br current practice. (p.189)
The recommendation to "rely on multidisciplinary research" certainly appears not to
have been acknowledged by accounting educators, particularly in relation to social
and environmental accounting. Blundell and Booth (1 988) claimed that the literature
was virtually silent on the integration of social and environmental accounting into the
accounting curriculum (p.77).
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Lewis et al. (1992) observed that:
further research and scholarly publication will achieve little in terms qf the
development of socially responsible and relevant accounting, unless they are
accompanied by the production of professionals wi/h a basic knowledge and
acceptance of the issues and claims made for social accounting (p.220).
Bchbington (1995) supported the claim of Blundell and Booth, noting that, although
there has been a substantial increase in social and environmental accounting research
activity, accounting programs at most British umversities do not include social and
environmental accounting in their teaching (p.263).

Lee, cited in Bebbington (1997), observed that many commentators were concerned
that "research appears to exist in increasing isolation from education and practice"
(p.366). Gibson (1997) concluded that the incorporation of "the findings of
environmental accounting research into accounting courses at tertiary level" would
address the concern that there is a "perceived lack of breadth in accounting education
which fails to develop fully the intellectual and moral abilities of students" (p.591).

Clearly for benefits to be obtained from research activities in relation to
environmental and social accounting and reporting there is an overwhelming need to
incorporate the consideration of the relevant issues in the education programs for
accountants.

6.2.4. Criticisms

There have been criticisms of accounting education for many years (Wells, 1987,
p.17). Wells (1987), Power (1991), Tinker (1992), Puxty et al. (1994) and Gray et
al. (1994) all had reached the conclusion that. accounting education in universities is
dominated by the teaching of techniques. McPhail and Gray (1996) support these
claims, starting that "students are, perhaps, not encouraged to develop analytical
skills" and that "even if they were

-

the education process would suppress the

application of those skills to the conflicts arising from an accounting hegemony"
(p.11).
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University accounting education, because of techniques domination, produces
graduates who are not "educationally developed

...

with a sophisticated capacity to

enquire, reason, conceptualize and evaluate" (Gray et al., 1994, p.52). This echoes
Wells (1987), who expressed concern that graduates are being produced who are
unable to comprehend "why accounting is what it is' (p.14). In addition, as claimed
by Blundell and Booth (1988), there is an emphasis on the "how" of accounting and
existing practice. This has resulted in a failure of education programs to prepare
students "to play a role in developing accounting for an unknown future" (p.76).
Deegan et al. (1995) suggest that, rather than focussing on social issues, the training
and education of accountants has focussed on "economic issues associated with
concerns of property rights and prices" (p.155). These approaches to the education
of accountants have left accountants "without the wherewithal to reflect on their own
experience(s)" (Gray, 1995, p.254).

Gibson (1997) declares that this narrowness also leaves accounting educators open to
criticism for not modifying the curriculum in response to changes in society (p.586).
This echoes the claim of McPhail and Gray (1996) that there is a "potential moral
failure on the part of accounting educators" (p.13) in that they offer accounting
education programs which result in students and accounting practitioners who appear
to be without "moral responsiveness" and who have no "developing ethical maturity"
(p.3). In addition McPhail and Gray claim that students "are not appraised of the
social, political and environmental implications of their trade" (p.11). Sikka et al.
(1995) are also critical of accounting academics who routinely disregard the "social
conditions and consequences of accounting" by having, in their teaching, only a
narrow focus on technique development (p.114).

Gray (1994b), in providing his "personal view of the (then) current discussions of
and developments in social and environmental accounting" (p.3), concluded that:
accounting academe and the accounting proJssion have a long task ahead in

developing serious and substantial approaches to recognising the
environmental (and social) implications of current accounting practices and
developing new practices that can incorporate new environmental (and social)
awareness and produce new social and environmental accountings. (p.19)
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Grays conclusions are echoed by Deegan (1 999b) who declared that "professional
accounting bodies worldwide must work towards the development of new systems of
accounting which do not emphasise financial performance above all else" (p.41) and
that "educational institutions must

.

embrace the vision" of sustainability (p.42).

Bebbington (1 997) suggests that some of the perceived deficiencies in accounting
education may be overcome by the teaching of environmental (and social)
accounting (p.372). This supports the suggestions of Gray ci al. (1994), Humphrey
et al. (1994) and Owen et al. (1 994) that the inclusion of courses in social and

environmental accounting in the curriculum would provide a broader educational
experience for accounting students (Gibson, 1997,
p.586) and would develop in them
"a deeper understanding of the extent to which accounting is implicated in processes
of social and political control" (Owen ci al., 1994, p.4).

Gallhofer et al. (1998) echoed Bebbington's suggestions claiming that the broadening
the accounting curriculum "to incorporate an awareness of accounting's role in
society and how accounting informs relevant publics in relation to social and
environmental conflicts" would overcome the narrowness criticism (pp.286,287) and
in the words of Gray et al. (1994) "help develop the intellectual and ethical maturity
of accounting students" (p.54).

It should be noted however that an early call to introduce social accounting into the
curriculum was raised by the American Accounting Association, Committee on
Accounting for Social Performance (AAA, 1976, p.66), because of the emerging
need for social accounting information (p.66) not because of identified problems in
the curriculum of the types discussed above.

6.2.5. Conclusion

Day (1995) argues that changes in accounting practices depend on transforming the
understandings of both accounting students and accounting practitioners (p. 104). As
the demands for such transformations and for environmental and social performance
information have increased over the last thirty years, it would appear that accounting
education has not kept pace and accounting educators have not met these demands by
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upgrading their teaching programs. Although there has been a marked increase in
the research activity relating to social and environmental accounting over this period,
it seems that social and environmental accounting is not being introduced into the
core accounting curriculum (Behbington. 1995, p.263). Possible reasons for this are
identified by Humphrey et al. (1994, pp.31-33) and were discussed in section 6.2.2.

It is axiomatic that if aspiring accountants are not being introduced to environmental
and social accounting issues during their education programs they may have little or
no knowledge about them and, accordingly, would be unwilling, or at least reluctant,
and most likely unable to participate in the reporting of such issues, in addition to
possibly being disinterested.

Therefore the failure to include studies of

environmental and social accounting issues in accounting courses will severely
inhibit the implementation of Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

Although over the last twenty-five or so years there has been a substantial increase in
the disclosure of environmental and social performance issues by organisations, the
introduction of relevant subjects, as mentioned above, has had little effect on the
accounting education processes required to prepare accountants to participate in this
increased disclosure. The few subjects in social and environmental accounting
which have been introduced have not eliminated the problem that, in general,
accounting education still fails to provide accounting students with adequate
preparation to meet the challenges of Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

Accounting educators have not responded to changes in society (Gibson, 1997,
p.586). Although environmental and social accounting has attracted considerable
attention in the literature, these topics are seen as "innovative" (Blundell and Booth,
1988, p.76) and inconsistent with the "traditional" range of topics offered in most
accounting degree programs which have an emphasis on techniques and teaching the
"status quo" (Blundell and Booth, 1988, p.75). Wells, quoted in Blundell and Booth,
claims that there is "a concentration of technical matters at the expense of
concepts,...rote learning instead of thinking" (p.76). Little has changed in the ten or
so years since Wells made that statement. Gray et al. (1994) noted that, in the United
Kingdom, "university teaching (is) dominated by technique acquisition" (p.52).
Accounting education focuses on technical aspects of accounting data. Lewis et al.
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(1992) note that accounting teaching appears reluctant "to explore the ethical
dimension of current economic and political structures underpinning accounting
practice" (p.221). This may he satisfactory for preparing accountants for Financial
Reporting but the narrowness of current accounting education leads to accounting
students and ultimately accounting practitioners being ill-prepared to meet the
challenges of Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

The literature has disclosed that, in Australia, there has been some teaching of
environmental and social accounting issues. These findings relate to periods up to
1995.

No evidence has been identified in the literature to suggest that currently there is any
greater coverage of environmental and social accounting issues in Australian
university courses in accounting than there was in United Kingdom courses in 1992

6.3. Accounting nrofession

Bebbington (1995) claims that, although there has been general support from the
accounting profession for social and environmental accounting (SEA), "research has
failed to identify ... high levels of knowledge (amongst practitioners) about 'new'
forms of accounting which have developed from (the SEA) agenda" with the
implication that there has been a failure on the part of accounting practitioners to
"respond to the calls for the development of SEA practice" (pp.263,264).

This claimed failure on the part of the accounting profession is supported by Miley
and Read (2000) who contend that it is the accounting profession "which is most to
blame for the lack of progress of environmental accounting" (p.40). Miley and Read
claim that accountants have the skills needed to undertake environmental accounting,
these skills being the "making, communicating, and auditing" of measurements.
Accountants are specialists in these areas (p.40).

This need for the involvement of accountants and their profession was recognised by
Gray (1994b) who declared that "the accounting profession has a long task ahead ... in
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developing new practices' to enable the reporting of environmental and social
performance (p.19). Five years later this was echoed by Deegan (1999b. p.41).

Deegan's echoing of the call for the involvement of accountants follows the period
when it appears that the accounting profession has achieved little in this regard.
Gray et at. (1993), Gray (1994a), Coombes and Davey (1994). Bebhington el at.
(1994), Deegan c/ al. (1995) and Parker (1999) all note that, in the recent words of
Professor Lee Parker "accountants' responses to environmental issues have been
noticeably reticent" (Parker, 1999. p.16).

Kelly (1999) offered a reason for this apparent lack of response. He claimed that,
because accountants are unable to see how to adapt traditional accounting to
environmental issues, they have been "reluctant participants in the environmental
debate" (p.3).

For ten years, at least, there have been calls for changes to "accounting concepts,
rules, conventions and methodology" to enable environmental information to be
incorporated into organisational decision-making and for the development of relevant
accounting standards. These calls include the European Union in 1992 (Parliament
of Victoria, 2000, p.54; Gray et al., 1993, p.xi); Gibson (1995c), based on a survey of
800 accounting practitioners regarding the inclusion of environmental liability
information in annual reports (p.6); the Australian Society of Accountants' (now
CPA Australia) Public Sector accounting Centre of Excellence (1995) Review of
Environmental Accounting (p.62;) and Rankin (1996) in her report prepared for The
Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia (p.28).

More recently the Victorian Public Accounts and Estimates Committee (Parliament
of Victoria, 1999) recommended that:
The government encourage the accounting profession to develop, as a /iiture
project, methodologies to incorporate environmental cost into the prices of
goods and services.
(Recommendation 5.11, p.75)
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The government encourage the protssional accounting bodies and the
accounting standards setting board... to consider a revised concept of
materiality and revised definitions of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses
(Recommendation 5.3, p.85)
relevant to environmental accounting.
The go 'ernment encourage the protessional accounting bodies and the
accounting standards setting board... to develop a new accounting standard
(Recommendation
5.4,
that specitIcally deals with environmental issues.
p.85)
In Australia, the professional accounting bodies have initiated some actions. In 1995
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia established an Environmental
Accounting Task Force, subsequently renamed the Triple Bottom Line Issues Group,
which is examining Triple Bottom Line Reporting issues and which has an objective
of assisting accountants with such issues (Deegan, 1999b. p.42). Major output from
this group has been Corporate Reporting-The Green Gap (Rankin, 1996), which is a
survey of Australian annual report users and preparers; and The Impact of
Environmental Matters on the Accounting Profession

-

Discussion Paper (EATF,

1998).

CPA Australia, through its Public Sector Accounting Centre of Excellence and its
Management Accounting Centre of Excellence has sponsored or published several
works since 1994.

These include Environmental Issues: A Challenge for

Management Accountants (Barbera, 1994), A Review of Environmental Accounting:
Issues for Australian Accountants, Corporations and Regulators (Public Sector
Accounting Centre of Excellence, 1995), Accounting for the Environment (ASCPA,
1999d) and Environmental Costing: An Exploratory Examination (Parker, 1999).

More recently CPA Australia, through its Strategic Business Management Centre of
Excellence (2001) published Writing and Evaluating Sustainable Development and
Environmental Reports.

The Victorian Public Accounts and Estimates Committee (Parliament of Victoria,
1999), whilst acknowledging the above activities of the professional bodies, noted
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that, at that time, neither the Australian Accounting Standards Board25 nor the
Australian Accounting Research Foundation, had environmental reporting issues on
their agendas (p.79).

To date there have been no accounting standards or other pronouncements of the
Australian professional accounting bodies specific to sustainability accounting and
reporting, although there are several pronouncements which deal with the 'disclosure
of information about the impact of externally-imposed environmental requirements."
(ICAA and CPAA, 2000, p.2)

Nash and Awty (2001) claim that the professional accounting bodies advised the
Victorian Public Accounts and Estimates Committee that the development of an
accounting standard specific to environmental accounting is a low priority of the
Australian Accounting Standards Board (p.28). This low priority is a result of
apparent lack of action on the part of international accounting standard setters as
disclosed below.

Many standard setting projects are initiated as a result of overseas interest in a topic
(ICAA, 1999, POLl, para.17), so an apparent lack of interest by overseas standard
setters is likely to have influenced the Australian standard setters. The G4+1 group
of standard setters comprises members of the national standard setting bodies from
Australia, Canada, New Zealand, the United Kingdom and the United States of
America. At the group's meeting in June 1999, "Accounting for environmental
liabilities" was identified as a "potential new project" (AARF, 2000b, G4+1
Communique, No. 4, June 1999, p.2). However as at April 2000 no further reference
to the topic had appeared in the communiques issued after the quarterly meetings of
the group.

A review of Accounting Publications published by the Australian Accounting
Standards Board and the Australian Accounting Research Foundation (AARF,

25

The Australian Accounting Standards Board, a statutory body responsible for the development of
accounting standards, was until recently heavily supported and influenced by the professional
accounting bodies. The Board received virtually all its technical support from the Australian
Accounting Research Foundation, a body jointly owned by CPA Australia and The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in Australia, who also provided significant funding for its operations.
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2000a) indicates that with regard to environmental and social accounting, there are
no currently published Australian accounting standards, no exposure drafts' on
issue, no 'invitations to comment" on issue and the Accounting standards work
program

-

March 2000 discloses that there appear to be no plans to publish any

pronouncements relating to environmental and social accounting. This situation has
been confirmed by Mr Keith Alfredson, Chairman, Australian Accounting Standards
Board (AASB) who has advised that the AASB intends to align its agenda with that
of the newly reconstituted International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), as far
as possible. The IASB had, in April 2001, not set its initial priorities. Mr Alfredson
stated that "(u)nless is there (sic) strong consistent input from constituents or unless
the IASB places the topic on its agenda, I do not believe the AASB will deal with the
topic (Triple Bottom Line Reporting) in the foreseeable future" (private e-mail from
Mr Alfredson to the writer, 12 April 2001).

Nash and Awty (2001) further reported that the Public Accounts and Estimates
Committee was advised that even if environmental accounting was given a higher
priority by the AASB it would take at least two years before a standard was issued.
The Committee responded that the accounting profession has a role in this matter and
"should get moving". If it was not more responsive "the ground may be taken away
from it" (pp.27,28).

It is clear that no accounting standards can be expected in the near future in relation
to Triple Bottom Line Reporting. This places the responsibility for setting guidelines
for sustainability reporting back on individual or industry based organisations (Nash,
2001, p.33).

6.3.5. Conclusion

Despite calls over many years for the development of new accounting standards
specifically relevant to Triple Bottom Line Reporting and for the redefinition of
significant accounting terms, concepts and practices, there is little evidence that the
Australian accounting profession has responded other than to establish task forces
and centres of excellence which have published several relevant reports which have
included recommendations calling for changes to traditional accounting foundations
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and practices to facilitate Triple Bottom Line Reporting. These recommendations
appear largely to have been ignored.

There has been a noticeable lack of response to environmental and social accounting
and reporting issues from the Australian accounting profession.

6.4. Conclusion

The burgeoning interest in sustainability reporting and the move away from reporting
only financial performance requires new accounting practices and a change in current
accounting practices.

What changes to accounting education can be introduced to assist Australian
accountants, present and future, to acquire the knowledge and skills required to meet
these new challenges? The inclusion of compulsory study of environmental and
social accounting and reporting issues in the formal education programs for
accountants will go a long way towards preparing aspiring accountants for significant
involvement in Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

There is a need to rely on formal education as "on the job" training of aspiring
accountants will not meet the identified education needs. The "trainers', current
accounting practitioners, in many, perhaps most, cases do not have the knowledge
about environmental and social accounting and reporting issues to pass on to
"traineest".

With environmental and social disclosures having been a part, albeit small, of the
accounting and reporting scene for over thirty years and given that current financial
reporting is based on an accounting system which is in excess of 500 years old, one
would imagine that the accounting profession and accounting educators would be
taking action to effect changes that would enhance environmental and social
performance reporting and that would ensure that accountants have the appropriate
skills and knowledge to meet the increasing variety of disclosure demands.
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Mathews (1999b) reported the views of Mathews in 1986 and Lewis, Humphrey and
Owen in 1992 that some professional accounting bodies do recognise the need for
action to maintain the accountants professional status in society with regard to
sustainability reporting. Elowever, it is claimed that many members of those bodies
do not recognise the need, with the implication that those members do not have the
right ethical 'perspective'? not having been educated about environmental and social
accounting and reporting issues. Consequently there is a need to look to new
entrants to the profession (p. 14), new accountants who have different "perspectives"
as a result of having been exposed to environmental and social accounting and
reporting issues in the education programs, undertaken to meet the admission
requirements of the profession.
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Chapter 7
RESULTS OF RESEARCH

CHAPTER 7- RESULTS OF RESEARCH

7.1. Introduction

This chapter presents the results of the research and the discussion of those results.

It addresses education programs for aspiring accountants. The first of these are
programs at Australian universities which have been accredited by the two Australian
professional accounting bodies. The second group of courses comprises the postgraduate, pre-professional membership courses offered by the Australian
professional accounting bodies.

The chapter also addresses the continuing professional development/education
programs offered to already qualified accountants, the members of the two
Australian professional accounting bodies.

Following the discussion of the results of the research, the conclusion is reached that
all three groups of programs fail to provide adequate preparation for accountants'
participation in the environmental and social performance reporting elements of
Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

It is further concluded that this failure is the result, in part at least, of the apparent
lack of interest in Triple Bottom Line Reporting by the professional accounting
bodies in Australia.

7.2. Accredited university courses

The professional accounting bodies in Australia have a joint accreditation process
whereby they jointly recognise 'undergraduate and postgraduate courses at tertiary
institutions which enable graduates, who successfully complete these courses, to
meet the educational requirements for entry into the Associate membership of the
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ASCPA (now named CPA Australia) and entry to the CPA programme and the
Professional Year Programme (PY)26 of the ICAA." (ASCPA and TCAA, 1996, p.3)

7.2.1. Results

7.2.1.1.

Undergraduate courses

A review of the information published by the professional accounting bodies
(ASCPA, 1999, pp.1401714020.1) disclosed that forty Australian universities and
colleges (see Appendix 5) offered undergraduate courses which are accredited. The
course/subject unit information which was collected as described in section 2.2.1. is
summarised in Table 7.1. This discloses that at twenty-three (57.5%) of the
universities and colleges were there any subject units which address environmental
and social accounting issues, available to students in accredited undergraduate
courses.

Table 7.1

-

Relevant subject unit offerings in undergraduate courses.

SUBJECT UNITS

COVERAGE OF
RELEVANT ISSUES

UNIVERSITIES
note

Total

1
2
3
4

Nil coverage

9
7
3
1
3
17

22.5
17.5
7.5
2.5
7.5
42.5

Total

40

100.0

Compulsory

Elective

Full subject unit
Part of subject unit
Possible part of subject unit
Full subject unit
Part of subject unit
Possible part of subject unit

%

Source: Appendices 7 and 9.
Notes:
I. Two additional universities offer compulsory subject units which may
include coverage of relevant issues as well as compulsory subject units in
which relevant issues are addressed.

26

The PY Programme has now been phased out and has been recently replaced with the CA Program.
The entry requirements for the CA Program are the same as the entry requirements for the now
discontinued PY Programme.
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Two additional universities offer elective subject units which cover only
relevant issues as well as compulsory subject units in which relevant
issues are addressed.
Two additional universities offer elective subject units which include
coverage of relevant issues as well as compulsory subject units in which
relevant issues are addressed.
An additional university offers an elective subject unit which may include
coverage of relevant issues as well as a compulsory subject unit in which
relevant issues may be addressed.

At nine (22.5%) institutions there were compulsory relevant subject units and at four
(10.0%) institutions the relevant subject units were electives. Of those institutions
offering compulsory relevant subject units, four universities also offered additional
relevant subject units as electives.

Ten (25.0%) universities offer, in their accredited courses, subject units which cover
contemporary/emerging/controversial issues in accounting. In seven courses the
subject units are compulsory and in three they are electives. The selection of issues
to be considered is at the discretion of the lecturer-in-charge27 and the issues selected
may or may not include environmental and social performance reporting. A schedule
of such subject units is included in Appendix 9.

All subject units were of one semester's duration, comprising approximately one
quarter of a full-time study load.

27

Generally universities have a process whereby subject units are accredited by a university
committee, in some cases a central committee, in other cases a faculty committee. The topics to be
covered in accredited subject units are approved as part of this process. In some subject units the
approved topics may include those described as, for example, "contemporary/emerging issues', the
specific issues not being identified. Thus, the selection of issues to be covered is at the discretion of
the lecturer-in-charge. The experience of the writer, a senior academic of long standing, is that even
where approved topics identify the specific issues to be covered, there is limited monitoring by
department heads, discipline co-ordinators etc. of the content of subject units taught. Consequently
lecturers-in-charge have some freedom in the selection of and emphasis on issues and topics addressed
in subject units taught.
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Almost without exception the relevant subject units were expected to be taken by
full-time students in the final year of their course, whilst part-time students were
expected to take the subject units in the later years of their courses.

As stated above and disclosed in Appendix 7 at nine institutions, compulsory subject
units were offered which addressed environmental and social accounting issues as
well as other accounting issues.

These were:

A vondale College.
AC 3 ii

-

Financial Accounting Issues.

This subject unit covers an analysis of issues in external reporting and includes a
study of revenue and expense recognition problems as applied to construction,
mining, leasing, and foreign exchange; and accounting for intangibles such as good
will, research and development, computer software, intellectual property, human
resources, and corporate social responsibility.
The year of introduction of the coverage of corporate social responsibility is not
available.

Charles Sturt University.
ACC 340 Current Issues in Accounting.
-

This subject unit focuses on the impact of theories, research, ethics, politics and the
environment on accounting development.
The year of introduction of the coverage of environmental impacts is not available.

James Cook University.
CO 3013:6 Financial Accounting I.
-

This subject unit covers the nature of accounting theory, accounting policy,
alternative accounting models for profit and capital measurement, the role of
empirical research, and future trends in accounting. One lecture out of a total of
twelve is taken to address issues relating to environmental and social accounting.
The coverage of environmental and social accounting was introduced in 1989.
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Mac quarie University.
ACCG 323 Financial Accounting Theory and Practice.
-

This subject unit deals with the theory and practice of a selection of contemporary
financial accounting issues. Topics covered include the conceptual framework
project, positive accounting theory, alternative accounting systems, international
dimensions of accounting, accounting for the environment, foreign currency
transactions, leasing, research and development, extractive industries and financial
reporting by superannuation plans.
The coverage of accounting for the environment was introduced in 1997.

University ?f Tasmania.
BFA 302 Accounting Theory.
-

This subject unit examines development of accounting thought, research methods
followed in the development of accounting theories, capital market studies into the
information content of accounting, positive accounting theory, regulation in
accounting, processes and contexts within which accounting policy decisions are
made and social issues in accounting.
The coverage of social issues in accounting was introduced in 1995.

University of New South Wales.
ACCT 3563 Accounting and Financial Management 3A
-

This subject unit examines issues relating to the preparation of consolidated accounts
for complex structures, investments in joint arrangements and other inter-corporate
holdings, generic trust designs, securitisation structures, foreign exchange
transactions and translations, business ethics, "green accounting, the gender issue,
Mabo and Wik determinations, cultural and heritage assets, and derivatives.
The year of introduction of "green" accounting is not available.

University of South A ustrcilia.
12266 Accounting: Organisational and Social Context.
-

This subject unit concerns the accountant in organisations and society, the accountant
as communicator, the accountant as decision maker and the following issues: Issues
of accounting information on managerial behaviour and performance, the impact of
personality issues on accounting systems, groups and accounting, the impact of
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organisational issues on accounting systems, societal issues and accounting, and the
role of accounting in society.
The year of introduction of the coverage of societal issues is not available.

f5ou1hern Queens/anti

University

51103 Financial Accounting.
-

This subject unit considers the role of accounting in reporting economic and social
performance. It covers the Australian Conceptual Framework Project, and a number
of specific accounting standards with reference to the mechanics of applying the
standards, consistency between standards and the Conceptual Framework, and the
economic and/or social implications that may result from the implementation of the
particular standards.
The coverage of issues relating to social performance were introduced in 1998.

51116 Financial Accounting Theory.
-

This subject unit offers a framework for decision making.

It includes an

investigation of the popular accounting theories and evidence in regard to financial
reporting. It addresses issues relating to the choice of accounting methods, voluntary
disclosures, and environmental performance reporting.
The coverage of environmental performance reporting was introduced in 1998.

Victoria University of Technology.
BAO 3309 Advanced Financial Accounting.
-

This subject unit focuses on financial reporting and addresses contemporary issues
including measurement, the conceptual framework, development of accounting
standards and corporate social responsibility.
The coverage of corporate social responsibility was introduced in 1996.

As stated above and disclosed in Appendix 7, at eight universities, students could
select elective subject units which were either devoted entirely to environmental and
social accounting issues (five universities) or which addressed environmental and
social accounting issues as well as other accounting issues (three universities).
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Those which offered elective subject units devoted entirely to environmental and
social accounting issues were:

Australian National University.
COMM 301 7 Environmental Accountability and Reporting.
-

This subject unit covers theoretical foundations of environmental accounting within
the context of sustainable development; tools of analysis including environmental
audit, environmental management systems, life cycle assessment and costing;
measurement and disclosure issues; accounting for environmental assets, costs and
liabilities; environmental reporting.
This subject unit was introduced in 1999.

University of Newcastle.
ACFI 318 Social and Environmental Accounting.
-

This subject unit includes social accounting theory, development and application of
environmental accounting, human resources, social investment and social audits.
This subject unit was introduced in 1997.

RMIT University.
AC 012 Social and Environmental Accounting.
-

This subject unit addresses the following issues: sustainability, corporate
environmental reporting, self-generating and regenerating assets, profit maximisation
and long term sustainability, waste management, non-financial indicators,
environmental auditing, environmental management systems and natural resource
accounting.
This subject unit was introduced in 1993.

University of Tasmania.
BFA 307 Social and Environmental Accounting.
-

This subject unit explores the social dimension of accounting theory and practice,
and the impact of accounting information on decision making processes which affect
the natural environment. It considers environmental accounting, eco-efficiency, Life
Cycle Assessment, environmental cost/benefit and environmental audit.
This subject unit was introduced in 2000.
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Victoria University o/ Technology.
BAO 33 10 Social and Environmental Accounting.
-

This subject unit covers the ftllowing topics: social accounting, corporate social
reporting, social auditing, ethical investing, environmental accounting,
environmental audit, business and sustainable development and the future for
accounting and the environment.
This subject unit was introduced in 1994.

Those universities which offered elective subject units which addressed
environmental and social accounting issues as well as other accounting issues were:

University otAdelaide.
3277 Management Accounting III.
-

This subject unit covers the changing management environment, strategic
management accounting, activity based costing and management, lifecycles and
target costing, costing quality, environmental management, management control
systems, management of production and inventory, and business reporting.
The coverage of environmental management and related issues was introduced in
1997.

University of New South Wales.
ACCT 4820 Management Accounting Issues and International Best Practice.
-

This subject unit includes topics on performance measurement and reward system
design, profit and investment centre evaluation, transfer pricing, the role of
management accounting in managing human resources and environmental issues,
advanced cost estimation, design of cost management systems, capacity management
and advanced cost analysis.
The year of introduction of the coverage of environmental issues is not available.

University of South Australia.
08990 Business Ethics.
-

This subject unit covers issues in corporate governance, the place of ethics in modern
business practice, various approaches to business ethics and relationships,
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environmental and social considerations facing modern corporations, environmental
accounting and whistleblowing.
Coverage of environmental and social issues was introduced in 1995.

In addition to the subject units referred to above, at some universities, students may
include in their courses of study electives which will enhance their awareness and
understanding of sustainability issues. Examples of such electives are the following
which are available at Southern Cross University:
EC 108

-

Environmental Economics which applies rnicroeconomic concepts

and theories to environmental and resource issues. Topics addressed
include benefit/cost analysis, energy resources, renewable and nonrenewable/depletable resources, pollution control, ozone depletion
and sustainable development.
EC 300

-

Sustainable Production Economics, which provides a sound

theoretical base for the evaluation of the impacts that various
government policies have on agricultural production, farm income and
the environment.
GG 300 Environmental Awareness, which aims to provide students with
-

assessment criteria, relating to environmental conservation,
preservation and sustainable production, in order to enable them to
make informed decisions about the use of sites for agribusiness
purposes.

7.2.1.2. Postgraduate courses

A review of the information published by the professional accounting bodies
(ASCPA, 1999, pp.14021-14022.1) disclosed that twenty seven Australian
universities (see Appendix 6) offered postgraduate courses in accounting which are
accredited by the professional accounting bodies.

The course/subject unit

information which was collected as described in section 2.2.1. is summarised in
Table 7.2. This discloses that at ten (37.0%) of the universities were there any
subject units, which address environmental and social accounting issues, available to
students in accredited postgraduate courses.
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Table 7.2

-

Relevant subject unit offerings in postgraduate courses.

SUBJECT UNITS

UNIVERSITIES

COVERAGE OF
RELEVANT ISSUES
note

Compulsory

Full subject unit
Part of subject unit
Possible part of subject unit
Full subject unit
Part of subject unit
Possible part of subject unit

Total

%

3
5

11.1
18.5

2

7.4

Nil coverage

17

63.0

Total

27

100.0

Elective

1
2
3

Source: Appendices 8 and 10.
Notes:
An additional university offers a compulsory subject unit which may
include coverage of relevant issues as well as a compulsory subject unit in
which relevant issues are addressed.
One university offers an elective subject unit which covers only relevant
issues as well as a compulsory subject unit in which relevant issues are
addressed.
An additional two universities offer elective subject units which include
coverage of relevant issues as well as compulsory subject units in which
relevant issues are addressed.

At three (11 .1%) universities there were compulsory relevant subject units and at two
(7.4%) universities the relevant subject units were electives. Of those universities
offering compulsory relevant subject units, two universities also offered additional
relevant subject units as electives.

Five (18.5%) universities offer, in their accredited courses, subject units which cover
contemporary/emerging/controversial issues in accounting. At these universities the
subject units are compulsory. The selection of issues to be considered is at the
discretion of the lecturer-in-charge28 and the issues selected may or may not include

28

See footnote 27, in Section 7.2.1.1.
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environmental and social performance reporting. A schedule of such subject units is
included in Appendix 8.

All subject units were of one semesters duration.

As stated above and disclosed in Appendix 8 at three universities compulsory subject
units were offered which addressed environmental and social accounting issues as
well as other accounting issues.

These were:

University of New England.
MBA 642 Corporate Accounting.
-

This subject unit addresses financial reporting issues pertaining to Australian
corporations and covers numerous accounting standards and reporting requirements.
The standard development process is dealt with and consideration is given to the
economic consequences which may follow the introduction of particular standards.
Corporate social responsibility reporting issues are also considered.
The year of introduction of the coverage of corporate social responsibility issues is
not available.

University of Southern Queensland.
52116 Accounting Theory.
-

This subject unit considers popular theories and evidence in regard to financial
reporting. The issues addressed include the choice of accounting methods, voluntary
disclosures and environmental performance reporting.
The coverage of environmental performance reporting was introduced in 1998.

Victoria University of Technology.
BAO 5535 Issues in Contemporary Accounting.
-

This subject unit examines the interaction between the various parties who have an
interest in financial reporting. It also examines measurement, the conceptual
framework, development of accounting standards and corporate social responsibility.
The coverage of corporate social responsibility was introduced in 1996.
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As stated above and disclosed in Appendix 8 at five universities students could select
elective subject units which were either devoted entirely to environmental and social
accounting issues (two universities) or which addressed environmental and social
accounting issues as well as other accounting issues (three universities).

The one which offered elective subject units devoted entirely to environmental and
social accounting issues was:

University of Southern Queensland.
55040 Corporate Environmental Management.
-

This subject unit covers corporate environmental strategy, environmental policy and
regulation, investing in environmental business, environmental stewardship, case
studies in the application of pollution prevention, convention updates and global
environmental markets.
This subject unit was introduced in 2000.

55042 Tools and Techniques for Sustainable Development.
-

This subject unit covers environmental impact assessment, environmental auditing,
environmental reporting, management performance tracking and measuring systems,
life cycle analysis, product stewardship, full cost accounting, internal auditing, clean
technology financing, pollution prevention, waste minimisation programmes
standards and standardisation, voluntary self regulation and measuring performance.
This subject unit was introduced in 2000.

Those universities which offered elective subject units which addressed
environmental and social accounting issues as well as other accounting issues were:

Bond University.
ACCT 817 International Accounting.
-

This subject unit considers reporting and international information issues,
optimisation taxation policies, transfer pricing policies, foreign currency translation
and environmental factors.
The year of introduction of coverage of environmental factors is not available.
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Southern Cross University.
MN 747 Contemporary Trends in the Business Environment.
-

This subject unit addresses environmental issues that impact on performance, the
impact of capital movements on economic health, emerging regional groupings and
trading blocs

environmental sustainabi 1 ity issues, including natural resources,

population and pollution control and human diversity issues, including human
rights, social justice, ethics and changing social expectations.
The year of introduction of sustainability and human diversity issues is not available.

University (?tNeW England.
AFM 511 Issues in Company Financial Reporting.
-

This subject unit concerns the evaluation of the annual reports form and content.
Financial statements are examined in the context of the conceptual framework and
selected accounting standards.

Special consideration is given to social and

environmental reporting issues.
The year of introduction of coverage of social and environmental reporting issues is
not available.

University of Southern Queensland.
53001 Contemporary Accounting Thought.
-

This subject unit examines contemporary theories of accounting, capital marketsbased theories, the development of contract-based research and its implications for
professional accounting practices and for accounting regulation. It also addresses the
social and environmental implications of accounting and a review of current social
and environmental reporting issues.
Coverage of social and environmental accounting issues was introduced in 1998.

7.2.2. Discussion

The courses, both undergraduate and postgraduate, reviewed were those accredited
by the professional accounting bodies in Australia and consequently are presumed to
satisfy the accreditation guidelines published jointly by CPA Australia and The
Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia (ASCPA and ICAA, 1996).
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Appendix A of these guidelines lists thirteen areas which include six areas usually
regarded as accounting areas, viz:
Accounting Systems and Processes. Financial Accounting, Professional and
Regulatory Processes, Management Accounting, Accounting Theory,
Auditing (p.15).

The accounting areas identified are appropriate and sufficient to enable coverage of
the financial aspects of environmental and social performance reporting.
Accounting Systems and Processes is concerned with identifying, collecting,
summarising, analysing and reporting the effects of transactions and events.
• Financial Accounting is concerned with reporting accounting information to
parties who are external to the entity.
Professional and Regulatory Processes is concerned with statutory and
professional accounting standards and related pronouncements.
Management Accounting is concerned with preparing and reporting accounting
information for management use.
Accounting Theory is concerned with the theoretical concepts which:
-

underlie accounting practices,

-

guide the selection of practices and procedures, and

-

are useful in the evaluation of practice.

Auditing is concerned with providing assurance as to the quality of published
information.

In each of these areas appropriate material could be introduced into the teaching
programs to ensure that students receive coverage of the financial aspects of
environmental and social performance reporting.

While the Accreditation Guidelines do not intend to prescribe a curriculum (p.3) the
professional bodies do have the opportunity to encourage/direct universities to
include topics of signi!cance in their courses. This opportunity arises as part of the
initial accreditation and the ongoing review processes, during which the professional
bodies receive and review subject outlines as part of the evidence on which they base
the accreditation of the course (p.13).
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7.2.2.1. Undergraduate courses

These courses are generally taken by those who wish to enter the accounting
profession and who do not have university degrees.

The accreditation guidelines state that an accredited course must "include at least
sixty (60) percent of studies within the accounting and business-related curriculum
areas" (p.6) which are identified in Appendix A of the accreditation guidelines. In
addition the course must permit students to undertake 25% of their studies in
disciplines other than accounting and business-related areas.

Accordingly, the accounting subject areas identified above comprise at least
approximately 28% of the total course. Generally, the accounting subject units
which cover these subject areas make up approximately one third of each accredited
course.

Inspection of the universities' subject descriptions reveals a strong emphasis on the
technical aspects of accounting, particularly in the subject units studied in the early
years of courses. The limiting of a more "conceptual" approach to those subject
units, offered in the final year, means that the coverage of environmental and social
accounting issues is restricted to the final year of study, as was found to be the case
in the United Kingdom in 1992 (Humphrey etal., 1994, p.31).

The results of the survey of Australian undergraduate courses, as reported in section
7.2.1.1. above, present a picture in 1999/2000 which, in comparison with that in the
United Kingdom in 1992 as reported by Owen et al. (1994) (see Chapter 6, section
6.2.2. above), is noticeably worse. At only thirteen (32.5%) of the universities and
colleges were there any subject units which definitely address environmental and
social accounting issues, although, at another ten (25%) universities, subject units are
offered in which such issues may be addressed at the discretion of the lecturer-incharge. This indicates that in 1999/2000, eight years after the United Kingdom
survey, at least seventeen (42.5%) Australian universities offered no subject units
addressing environmental and social accounting issues in comparison with the 1992
situation in the United Kingdom where only 32% of responding universities offered
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no coverage of environmental and social accounting. This situation exists in the face
of rising interest by society in environmental and social performance of businesses.

It is interesting to note, however, that there has been a steady, progressive response
by those universities which do offer coverage of environmental and social accounting
issues. As disclosed in Appendix 7, of those universities who responded to requests
for information as to the date of introduction of coverage of the issues. each year
since 1993 saw the addition of coverage in at least one university, indicating a
recognition by some universities of the increasing interest and importance of
environmental and social accounting.

Although there is an increasing recognition, a significant number of universities sti
offer no coverage of environmental and social accounting issues.

Of the subject units which address environmental and social accounting issues, at
three universities there are full subject units, whilst at ten universities the relevant
material forms only part of the total content of the subject units. With regard to the
"full" subject units, each covers seven to ten topics over a twelve week
lecture/seminar series. Almost all devoted some coverage to Theoretical Issues and
Environmental/Social Audit. Other topics, as disclosed in section 7.2.1.1. above,
covered a range of issues, including, for example, Human Resources, Waste
Management and Eco-efficiency. All subject units covered accounting matters,
including measurement (in some cases non-financial) and disclosure/reporting.
However it appears that the time available for the measurement and reporting matters
to be considered could not exceed 50% of the teaching in the subject units.

With regard to those subject units in which the relevant material forms only part of
the total content, the content, as described above (section 7.2.1 .1 .), indicates that the
relevant topics generally comprise only about 10% of the total content.

Most of these subject units are scheduled to be taken in the final year of a full-time
course and all are of one semester's duration (twelve or thirteen weeks). As most
courses require students to complete twenty or twenty-four subject units over a three
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year period of full-time study, one subject unit generally comprises one quarter of a
full-time student load.

In summary

-

42.5% of institutions fail to offer any subject units with a coverage of

environmental and social accounting; only 7.5% of institutions offer full subject units
in which coverage of measurement and reporting issues is likely to comprise less

than 50.0% of the subject unit content; 25.0% of institutions offer subject units in
which coverage is likely to be only about 10% of total content and a further 25.0%
offer subject units which may,at the discretion of the lecturer-in-charge, include
coverage of relevant issues.

7.2.2.2. Postgraduate courses

These courses are generally Graduate Conversion Courses for persons wishing to
enter the accounting profession and hold university degrees, which are not accredited
by the Australian professional accounting bodies.

The accreditation guidelines (ASCPA and ICAA, 1996) state that a course must
"cover the accounting and business-related curriculum areas" (p.7) which are
identified in Appendix A of the accreditation guidelines.

As, in most of these courses, no other areas are covered (unlike the undergraduate
courses which require coverage of "general education "areas (see above)) the
accounting subject areas generally make up approximately 50% of each postgraduate
course.

An inspection of the universities' subject descriptions reveals a strong emphasis on
the technical aspects of accounting, particularly in those subject units expected to be
studied in the early parts of the courses. The limiting of a more "conceptual"
approach to those subject units offered in the later stages of the courses means that
the coverage of environmental and social accounting issues is restricted to those later
stages.
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The results of the survey of Australian postgraduate courses, as reported in section
7.2.1.2. above, present an even bleaker picture than the undergraduate situation. At
only five (18.5%) of the universities were there any subject units in the postgraduate
courses which address environmental and social accounting issues, although, at
another five (18.5%) universities, subject units are offered in which such issues May
be addressed at the discretion of the lecturer in charge.

Of the five universities which offer subject units identified as addressing
environmental and social accounting issues, two offer subject units which address
only environmental and social accounting issues, 'full" subject units, whilst at the
other three the subject units the coverage of relevant material forms only part of the
total content. As with the undergraduate subject units, it appears that the coverage of
relevant measurement and reporting issues is unlikely to exceed 50.0% of the
teaching in the subject units.

Also as with the undergraduate subject units, relevant topics generally comprise only
about 10%

-

15% of the total content of those subject units which include material

additional to environmental and social accounting issues.

Appendix 8 discloses that the responses, in post-graduate courses, to the increasing
interest in environmental and social accounting has occurred somewhat recently,
with coverage, at the universities which responded to my request for information
about the date of introduction of coverage of the issues, being introduced in 1996 in
one university and in 1998 and 2000 in the other universities.

These postgraduate courses generally require students to complete twelve to sixteen
subject units over periods of up to two years of full-time study. Each subject unit is
of one semester's duration (twelve or thirteen weeks) and generally comprises one
quarter of a full-time student load.

In summary

-

of the universities which offer accredited postgraduate courses, 63.0%

percent fail to offer any subject units with a coverage of environmental and social
accounting; two universities offer 'full" subject units in which coverage of
measurement and reporting issues is likely to comprise less than 50% of the subject
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unit content. These offerings are in addition to other offerings by those universities
of subject units, offered by a total of 18.5% of universities, in which the coverage of
relevant issues is likely to be only about 10% of the total content. A further 18.5%
ofter subject units which nLa

at the discretion of the lecturer-in-charge, include

coverage of relevant issues.

7.2.3. Conclusion

It is apparent that a high proportion of graduates from both the undergraduate and
postgraduate university courses accredited by the Australian accounting profession
will have undertaken no study of or will have had no exposure to environmental and
social accounting issues. Those who have had exposure to environmental and social
accounting issues are likely to have undertaken minimal or no study of measurement
and reporting issues directly relevant to the environmental and social performance
reporting elements of Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

The graduation from an accredited university course satisfies the basic educational
requirements for aspiring accountants. For "full" membership of a professional
accounting body in Australia, graduates must also complete an education program of
one of the professional bodies.

7.3. Professional accounting bodies' education programs

for

aspiring

accountants

CPA Australia and The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia each require
graduates to complete the postgraduate program of the relevant body prior to
admission to full professional membership.

The CPA Australia program is The CPA Program and The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in Australia program is The CA Program.
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7.3.1. Results

7.3.1.1. CPA Australia The CPA Program
-

The CPA Program is to be successfully completed by those aspiring to become
CPAs, full voting members of CPA Australia. The Program requires the completion
of five segments; two compulsory segments:
• Reporting and Professional Practice, and
• Corporate Governance and Accountability.
and three technical electives chosen from the following list:
Assurance Services and Auditing,
Business Information Management,
Financial Accounting,
Insolvency and Reconstruction,
Strategic Management Accounting,
Personal Financial Planning and Superannuation,
Taxation,
Treasury,
Financial Reporting and Disclosure.

(CPAA, 2000)

The Reporting and Professional Practice segment "is not just about learning the facts, it
stretches the reader's mind" (Freyer in Anon, 1999a, p.59). It uses case studies to help
equip candidates to "organise and comprehend relevant information,

(to) use

...

judgement and analytical reasoning, display communication and interpersonal
skills ... and face the broader realities of decision-making." (Anon, 1999a, p.59).
Candidates are provided with a Case Study Guide which offers a "framework to enable
candidates to systematically and logically work through the issues" (Anon, 2000, p.64).
Candidates are encouraged, to "think broadly, to consider alternatives and select the
preferred strategy having exercised professional judgement." (Anon, 2000, p.64)

The Corporate Governance and Accountability segment deals with issues surrounding
governance and accountability by managers of entities. Of the six modules in the
segment, only one makes any specific reference to environmental and social
accounting issues. The module, entitled Managing the Company, is concerned with
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"(d)ay to day management of operations and the board's involvement" and the topics to
be addressed include:
•

Triple bottom line, or corporate social reporting,

• Aligning director and shareholder interest, and
•

Measuring and appraising performance of the board.

(CPAA, 2000. Compulsory Segments, Corporate Governance and Accountability.)

The technical electives focus on acquiring the technical knowledge relating to the
relevant professional and statutory requirements, and the practical application of those
requirements. There is little coverage of environmental and social issues, the only
reference being in the Financial Accounting segment. This segment is made up of six
modules which address contemporary financial accounting areas and issues and
includes one module, out of the six, which covers environmental reporting. The
topics in this module are:
• Relationship between accounting and environmental concerns, and
• Issues for accountants.
(CPAA, 2000, Elective Segments, Financial Accounting.)

7.3.1.2. The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia The CA Program
-

The CA Program comprises five modules:
A Preliminary module,
• Three Technical Modules, and
• A Final Integrative Module. (ICAA, undated, third page)

The Preliminary Module is designed to provide candidates with:
•

an awareness of "the importance of non-technical (ie. generic) competencies",

• "essential competencies, including communication, negotiation, teamwork,
thinking and decision making" as well as problem solving skills,
•

an "understanding of the business environment", including awareness of economic
and social issues, and

• an understanding of the importance of ethics in relation to a Chartered
Accountant's professional activities (ICAA, 2000, Preliminary Module, pp.1-2).
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The three Technical Modules include components which cover:
• Financial Accounting and External Reporting,
• Audit and Other Assurance Services.
• Taxation.
• Strategic Management, and
• Financial Risk Management. (ICAA, 2000, p.2)

The Final Integrative Module, at time of writing, has yet to be developed (telephone
conversation with ICAA education officer, 1 August 2001) but is planned to develop
the ability to "integrate knowledge and skills across disciplines, identifying issues and
recommending solutions in multi-faceted and complex situations." (ICAA, undated,
fifth page)

The CA Program offers the opportunity for topical professional issues to be considered
in all the technical modules. Accordingly there will be the "opportunity for Triple
Bottom Line Reporting to be dealt with in the technical module which integrates both
Financial Reporting and Audit and Assurance Services." (facsimile from Leslie
Simmons, ICAA)

7.3.2. Discussion
Several years ago the Australian accounting professional bodies recognised the
growing importance of Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

This recognition is

demonstrated by the following actions taken by the professional bodies.
Since 1993 CPA Australia has run a social and environmental accounting discussion
group, established by Dr. Gary ODonovan (Nash & Awty, 2001, p.28). This group
provides a forum for members and other interested people to discuss issues relevant
to environmental and social accounting and to hear speakers on such issues.
CPA Australia's Management Accounting Centre of Excellence has published the
Environmental Management Series, which includes Accounting for the Environment
(Management Accounting Centre of Excellence, 1999). In addition, the CPA
Australia Public Sector Accounting Centre of Excellence has published A Review of
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Environmenial Accounting (Public Sector Accounting Centre of Excellence, 1995)
which addressed environmental accounting issues for Australian accountants,
corporations and regulators.
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia in 1996 established the
Environmental Accounting Task Force (EATF, 1998, p.3) which has subsequently
been renamed the Triple Bottom Line Issues Group (Deegan, 1 999a, p.40, footnote).
The stated mission of this Group is to "enhance the understanding of triple bottom
line

...

reporting

...

and develop techniques for practitioners to apply it (ICAA,

1999b. p.1).

Given this apparent interest and the perceived importance of Triple Bottom Line
Reporting to the accounting profession, and the conclusions reached in the previous
sections, ie. that a high proportion of graduates from both undergraduate and
postgraduate university courses accredited by the Australian accounting professional
bodies as meeting the educational requirements for admission to their postgraduate,
pre-professional membership programs will have undertaken no study of or had no
exposure to environmental and social accounting issues, it is reasonable to expect
that the professional bodies would require their potential members to study such
issues in the postgraduate, pre-professional membership programs.

7.3.2.1. CPA Australia The CPA Program
-

The CPA Program includes one module on environmental reporting, out of six
modules in the technical segment, Financial Accounting. It should, however, be
noted that the Financial Accounting segment is only one of nine segments from
which participants in the program are required to select three. Accordingly it is
possible that many who successfully complete the CPA Program will not have
undertaken the Financial Accounting segment and thus will have received no
exposure to the module relating to environmental reporting. Further, the program
appears not to include any specific coverage of issues pertaining to social
performance reporting.
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Inquiries of the National Education Manager for CPA Australia disclosed that there
is minuscule attention given to environmental and social performance reporting
issues in the CPA Program because, during the development of the program
modules, 'no one suggested" that the issues should be given greater coverage
(telephone conversation, 25.7.2001). In addition, it is apparent that the members of
the National Education and Membership Committee, which approved the program
and its content, did not see the need for greater coverage in the program of
environmental and social performance issues. Thus it could be concluded that those
who develop and approve the CPA Program do not regard Triple Bottom Line
Reporting as important.

7.3.2.2. The Institute of CliarteredAccouintants in Australia The CA Program
-

The CA Program does identify some coverage of environmental and social
accounting issues. There is reference to such issues in two of the Technical Modules.
Technical Module 1, Financial Accounting and External Reporting, Section E

-

Current Developments includes a requirement for candidates to "be able
to. .(a)nalyse current developments and emerging issues and the impact on current
.

practice" in financial reporting (ICAA, 2000, Technical Module I, p.9). In Technical
Module 3, Strategic and Financial Risk Management, Section D People "candidates
-

are expected to be able to.. .(o)utline the impact on organisations and management of
attitudes to the environment, corporate social responsibility" (ICAA, 2000, Technical
Module 3, p.8). However the coverage of the issues is expected to be minimal given
that requirement in Technical Module 1 is just one of 51 requirements to be met,
whilst the requirement in Technical Module 3 is just one of 69 listed.

The requirement in Technical Module 1 does not make specific reference to
environmental and social accounting but just to "current developments and emerging
issues" so it is possible that environmental and social accounting issues may not be
addressed.

Inquiries of the Director

-

Education for The Institute of Chartered Accountants in

Australia (ICAA) as to why there is little attention given to environmental and social
performance reporting issues in the CA Program elicited the response that the

Triple Bottom Line Reporting A New Challenge br Accounting Education J.M.B.Va!lentine Page
-

142

modules are still in the development mode and the content is still being refined.
There was an acknowledgment that the ICAA !!1ight not have got it right ?
(telephone conversation, 30.7.2001). In addition, as was the case with CPA
Australia, it is apparent that the members of the National Education Committee,
which approved the program and its content, did not see the need for greater
coverage in the program of environmental and social performance issues. Thus it
could be concluded that those who develop and approve the CA Program do not
regard Triple Bottom Line Reporting as important.

7.3.3. Conclusions

It would seem from the above that many graduates from the CPA and CA Programs
will have had no or, at best, minimal exposure to environmental and social
accounting issues.

Further it would seem that the apparent interest in Triple Bottom Line Reporting by
the accounting profession and its perceived importance referred to above (see section
7.3.2.) are illusory as the professional bodies, who develop and approve the
education programs which Lhey require prospective accountants to undertake, have
not adequately prepared most potential entrants to the profession for Triple Bottom
Line Reporting.

7.4. Continuing professional development/education programs

It is a requirement of both CPA Australia and The Institute of Chartered Accountants
in Australia that members undertake continuing professional development/education
programs.
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7.4.1. Results

7.4.1.1. CPA Australia

CPA Australia currently requires members to complete 90 hours of Professional
Development over a triennium but this requirement will increase to 120 hours
commencing on 1 January 2003 (ASCPA. 1999a. SAB4. p.12406).

Inquiries of all State Divisions and the National Office of CPA Australia disclosed
that, at the beginning of 2000, no Professional Development activities relating Triple
Bottom Line Reporting had been held and none were at that time, planned with
exception of the New South Wales. Queensland and Western Australian Divisions.

The New South Wales Division does present 'lengthy training sessions purely on the
subject" (Facsimile from Rhonda J Traversi, Manager

-

Professional Development,

29 February 2000).

The Queensland Division, in its "Public Sector Symposium 2000", scheduled for 9
June 2000, included a concurrent session entitled "Triple Bottom Line Reporting

-

Towards the Seven Scores of Successful Businesses" (Letter from Wayne Smith,
Professional Development Coordinator, 12 April 2000, including brochure). No
other relevant Professional Development activities were advised from the
Queensland Division.

The Western Australian Division held a one-day seminar on Triple Bottom Line
Reporting in June 1999. No other relevant activities were held or were planned by
that Division (Telephone communication from Tina Donovan, Manager

-

Professional Development, 29 November 1999).

However, since the date of those inquiries, some relevant activities have been held
and others are planned. These include:
• Victoria Division

-

a four hour session on Pertbrniance Management held in

August, 2001. 'Triple bottom line expectations" was one topic considered
alongside traditional financial measures (CPAA, 200 lb. p.6).
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Queensland Division

-

CPA Congress 2001, scheduled for November 2001 will

include one two hour workshop entitled Sustainahility Reporting (CPAA,
2001c, p.8).
Australian Capital Territory

-

Risk &Reward' Congress 2001, scheduled for

November 2001, will include presentations entitled Greening the Boardroom,
Counting /or Something

-

Environment .4 astral/a's view on Green Dividends

and Triple Bottom Line (CPAA. 2001 d, p.1).
.

New South Wales

-

(a) CPA Congress 2001 'Strictly Business", scheduled for

October 2001, will include one hour concurrent technical session entitled
Shooting/br Balance Triple Bottom Line.
-

(b) A Management Accounting Workshop, entitled Triple
Bottom Line Reporting, is scheduled fo r November 2001 (CPAA, 2001e, p.1).

7.4.1.2. The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia

The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia requires 120 hours of Continuing
Professional Education (CPE) over a three year period (the triennium) with at least
20 hours in any one year (ICAA, 1999a, REC5, para.12).

Inquiries of all State Branches and the National Office of The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in Australia disclosed that, at the end of 1999, "regarding Triple Bottom
Line Reporting

...

aside from the possibility of some short lecture session in our

conferences, within the CPE range of products, we are not conducting any formal
training on this matter.

. .

.1 do not believe there are any specific activities worthy of

reporting..." (Letter from Gloria T Blonde, Assistant Director Education

-

CPE, 10

December 1999).

The writer is not aware of any CPE activities which have been conducted since the
date of the above letter, or are planned, which are directly relevant to Triple Bottom
Line Reporting.
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7.4.2. Discussion

7.4.2.1. CPA Australia

The responses from CPA Australia regarding its Continuing Professional
Development (CPD) program and the review of recent and upcoming activities
clearly indicate little activity, past or proposed, relating to Triple Bottom Line
Reporting. Even where there have been activities, they have not, in general, formed
a very large part of the total program. For example, the Victorian Performance
Management session was just one of 30 professional development activities
scheduled for August 2001 (CPAA. 200 lb. pp.1-2), whilst the Queensland Congress
is one of eight professional development activities scheduled for November 2001,
and the Sustainahilily Reporting workshop is just one of 51 two hour workshops
being offered over five days (CPAA, 2001c, p.8). Although the New South Wales
Congress is one of only three professional development activities scheduled for
October 2001, the Shooting for Balance

-

Triple Bottom Line session is only one of

65 technical sessions being offered over three days, with the need for congress
attendees to choose sessions from groups of three, four or five concurrent offerings
(CPAA, 2001e, p.1).

From the above it can be concluded that Triple Bottom Line Reporting is not
regarded by those responsible for the CPD programs as a topic in which is there is
much interest or which is of much importance.

7.4.2.2. The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia

As stated above (see section 7.4.1.2.) the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
Australia has offered and plans to offer virtually no CPE activities relating to Triple
Bottom Line Reporting.

As is

the case with CPA Australia, it can be concluded that Triple Bottom Line

Reporting is not regarded by those responsible for the CPE programs as a topic in
which is there is much interest or which is of much importance.
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7.4.3. Conclusion

Whilst there is a requirement for members of the professional accounting bodies to
undertake a minimum number of hours of continuing professional
development/education programs annually, there are very few program activities
which assist members to participate in the environmental and social performance
reporting elements of Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

As these programs are generally set by committees of members it would seem that,
whilst there is an increasing number of relevant activities being offered by CPA
Australia, there would still appear to be little interest in the topic, Triple Bottom Line
Reporting, by the members of either body.

7.5. Conclusions

An analysis of the results of the study of the accredited university courses and the
postgraduate, pre-professional membership courses for those people aspiring to
become professionally qualified accountants has led to the conclusion that those
courses do not provide adequate preparation for accountants' participation in the
environmental and social performance reporting elements of Triple Bottom Line
Reporting.

The study of the continuing professional development/education programs of the two
Australian professional accounting bodies concluded that those programs offer little
assistance to their members with regard to their participation in the environmental
and social performance reporting elements of Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

It is further concluded that these failures are the result, in part at least, of the apparent
lack of interest in Triple Bottom Line Reporting by the professional accounting
bodies in Australia.
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Chapter 8
SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND
RECOMMENDATIONS

CHAPTER 8- SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

8.1. Introduction

This final chapter summarises the thesis and sets out the conclusions reached from
the study which was undertaken.

Recommendations are made and implementation issues are identified.

Suggestions are included for further related research, particularly of a crossdisciplinary nature.

8.2. Summary of thesis

The research question addressed in this thesis is:

. To what extent are the environmental and social accounting and reporting issues,

as related to Triple Bottom Line Reporting, addressed in education programs for
Australian accountants?

The justification for the research is that, in recent years, following a growing interest
by society in sustainability, increasing numbers of organisations are publishing
sustainability reports, reporting their performance in respect of financial,
environmental and social activity Triple Bottom Line Reporting.
-

Traditionally, accountants have played a major role in the reporting of financial
performance and this element of performance, until relatively recently, has been the
sole element on which organisations, and businesses in particular, have publicly
reported.

This thesis explored the importance of sustainability and its relevance to Triple
Bottom Line Reporting, showing that Triple Bottom Line Reporting is a means by
which organisations can demonstrate whether their activities are sustainable or not.
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The thesis then considered the current framework for General Purpose Financial
Reporting and concluded that, as it is deficient and inadequate for sustainability
reporting, an expanded framework is required, the output from which would be in the
form of Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

The role of accountants in relation to Triple Bottom Line Reporting was considered
and the conclusion reached that they are appropriate to play a significant role in the
preparation of environmental and social performance reports but it is questionable
whether they are, at present, adequately prepared for the task.

A review of accounting education up to 1995 and the Australian accounting
professions response to sustainability reporting issues indicated that there is a need
to look to new entrants to the accounting profession if accountants are to participate
significantly in sustainability reporting. For this to be effective the education
programs of aspiring accountants need to include a coverage of environmental and
social accounting and reporting issues.

The results of the research study disclosed that there are three elements to be
analysed with regard to the education of accountants.

The first element comprises university courses accredited by the Australian
professional accounting bodies, CPA Australia (CPAA) and The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in Australia (ICAA), from which aspiring accountants must
graduate before undertaking the second and third elements.

The second element comprises the post-graduate, pre-professional membership
courses offered by the professional bodies.

The final element encompasses a period of supervised professional experience

-

"on

the job training".

The research study related to the first two elements

-

the "formal" education

programs.

Triple Bottom Line Reporting

-
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In addition, for accountants who are already qualified members of the professional
bodies, there is a requirement to undertake prescribed periods of continuing
professional development/eduction. The research study also addressed the
continuing professional development/eduction programs offered by CPAA and
ICAA.

8.3. Conclusions

The primary conclusions reached in this study are that:
Some university courses, which are accredited by CPAA and ICAA, do address
environmental and social accounting and reporting issues. However, many of the
university courses reviewed are structured in such a way that they do not provide
graduates with an exposure to environmental and social accounting or the
measurement and reporting of issues directly relevant to these elements (see
Chapter 7, sec. 7.2.3.).
The postgraduate, pre-professional membership programs of CPAA and ICAA
also include coverage of these issues but they are structured in such a way that
many graduates from these programs will have had minimal or no exposure to
environmental and social performance reporting issues (see Chapter 7, sec.
7.3.3.).
There are very few continuing professional development/education activities,
offered by CPAA and ICAA, which equip members to participate in the
environmental and social performance reporting elements of Triple Bottom Line
Reporting (see Chapter 7, sec. 7.4.3.).

The outcome from the above is that many new accountants are not adequately
prepared for significant participation in Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

It would also seem that the apparent interest in Triple Bottom Line Reporting by the
accounting profession and its perceived importance referred to above (see sec. 7.3.2.)
is illusory. The education programs which the professional bodies develop, approve
and require prospective accountants to undertake do not prepare most of them to
engage competently and fully in Triple Bottom Line Reporting.
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As the continuing professional development/education programs are generally set by
committees of members it would seem that, whilst there is an increasing number of
relevant activities being offered by CPA Australia, there would still appear to be
little interest in the topic, Triple Bottom Line Reporting, by the members of either
body.

Other important findings from the research were that:
• there is an emerging interest in and need for Triple Bottom Line Reporting (see
Chapter 3. sec. 3.5.),
• although there are arguments in favour of voluntary disclosure, a regulatory
scheme, such as an expansion of the financial reporting framework, would be
more appropriate (see Chapter 4, sec. 4.6.),
• accountants are appropriate to play a significant role in Triple Bottom Line
Reporting (see Chapter 5, sec. 5.7.),
• in preparing new accountants for participation in the environmental and social
reporting elements of Triple Bottom Line Reporting there is a need to rely on
"formal' education programs, rather "on the job" training (see Chapter 6, sec.
6.4.),
•

the implementation of Triple Bottom Line Reporting will be inhibited if studies
of environmental and social accounting and reporting issues are not undertaken
by aspiring accountants in "formal" education programs (see Chapter 6, sees.
6.2.5. and 6.4.),

• The Australian accounting profession and accounting standard setters have failed
to respond to recommendations that changes to traditional accounting
foundations, concepts, definitions and practices to facilitate Triple Bottom Line
Reporting need to be made (see Chapter 6, sec. 6.4.).

Based on these findings several recommendations are proposed, relating to
universities and the accounting profession.

Triple Bottom Line Reporting

-
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8.4. Recommendations

8.4.1. Universities

Existing courses adequately cover the requirements of reporting the economic or
financial performance of entities but, as stated above, many courses do not provide
appropriate coverage of environmental and social accounting issues, in particular the
measurement and reporting of environmental and social performance, essential for
the preparation of accountants for Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

Reconimendatio,, I
In order to ensure that all accounting graduates have undertaken appropriate studies
to prepare them for Triple Bottom Line Reporting, universities should include
relevant compulsory subject units in the courses to be studied by both undergraduate
and postgraduate students who will be seeking membership of the Australian
accounting profession.

Such subject units should be devoted solely to the

consideration of environmental and social accounting issues, including the
measurement and reporting of performance.

The subject units could be seen to lie within the accounting areas identified in the
accounting professions accreditation guidelines (see Chapter 7, sec. 7.2.2.).
However to encourage universities to introduce the subject units, some may need to
be subjected to pressure by the professional accounting bodies. This pressure could
be exerted by adding Environmental and Social Accounting to the list of accounting
and business related areas which must be covered in the curriculum to be studied by
those undertaking courses accredited by CPA Australia and The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in Australia (ASCPA & ICAA, 1996, p.1 5).

8.4.2. Accounting Profession

Three specific recommendations related to the accounting profession are made.
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8.4.2.1. Preparation of new accountants

Recommendation 2
In addition to exerting external pressure on the universities to incorporate relevant
compulsory subject units in their courses, the professional accounting bodies should
restructure their own CPA and CA Programs in such a way that all participants will
be required to complete compulsory modules which pay significant attention to
environmental and social accounting issues.

8.4.2.2. Assistance for existing accountants

Recommendation 3
In order to assist existing accountants, the National Offices of the professional
accounting bodies should take action to have activities which address environmental
and social issues made available to their members. This could include encouraging
and, preferably, requiring their state divisions and branches to offer relevant
activities as part of the programs which count towards the continuing professional
development/education requirements.

8.4.2.3. New accounting practices and standards

Recommendation 4
The professional accounting bodies should jointly take action to have new
accounting standards developed. They could implement changes to traditional
accounting foundations, concepts, definitions and practices to accommodate the
requirements of measuring and reporting environmental and social performance, thus
facilitating Triple Bottom Line Reporting. These actions would include applying
pressure to the Australian Accounting Standards Board.

These recommendations indicate that a number of issues must be considered prior to
their implementation.
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8.5. Implementation issues

It is apparent that the implementation by universities of changes to their offerings to
incorporate sustainability studies may involve a number of difficulties such as:
• funding,
• pressure from other burgeoning subject areas.
• pressure for less specialisation in degree programs, and
• government funding restriction to a three year undergraduate degree.

These difficulties could be ameliorated by universities reviewing their offerings and
reassessing the relevance to all students of some topics currently being taught, with a
view to offering them as electives or, in the case of topics which may be becoming
obsolete, deleting them from the curriculum.

In addition some teaching staff may need to be encouraged to become more informed
and knowledgable about sustainability issues. This could be achieved by research
funding being made available for the development of a further understanding of
Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

Committees of senior members of the professional accounting bodies are responsible
for the requirements which must be met in the "formal" education programs for
aspiring accountants and for the continuing professional development/education
programs, which are generally set at state branch or divisional level.

As many members of the professional accounting bodies have not been educated
about environmental and social accounting and reporting issues, they may lack an
understanding of, knowledge about and interest in sustainability issues. This, in turn,
is likely to result in their failure to recognise the importance of Triple Bottom Line
Reporting.

Accordingly pressure to recognise this importance may need to be exerted on the
professional accounting bodies and, in particular, senior members, who are involved
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in the design and approval of education programs and who select the topics for
inclusion in the continuing professional development/education programs.

This pressure should come from those who are already involved in the preparation of
Triple Bottom Line Reports and those with an interest in the performance
information included in the reports. Such people and organisations include the
companies referred to in this thesis; published reports users, such as investment
advisers, institutional investors and fund managers; and other groups interested in
sustainability issues, for example the Australian Conservation Foundation and the
Ethical Investment Association of Australia.

In order to encourage senior members of the professional accounting bodies to
recognise the importance of sustainability and Triple Bottom Line Reporting,
organisations such as the Australian Conservation Foundation and the Ethical
Investment Association of Australia could initiate an award for accounting
practitioners, recognising best practice in the areas of environmental and social
performance reporting.

If senior members of the professional accounting bodies do not recognise the
importance of sustainability and Triple Bottom Line Reporting, they are less likely to
exert any or sufficient pressure on the Australian Accounting Standards Board or
take any other action to have traditional accounting foundations, concepts,
definitions and practices changed to facilitate Triple Bottom Line Reporting.

As the Australian Accounting Standards Board is an Australian government authority
and government funding is required for its activities, there may be a need for
representations to be made to the Australian government to ensure that funding for
the development of new accounting standards, relating to Triple Bottom Line
Reporting, is forthcoming. These representations could come from the professional
accounting bodies, other government entities such as the Victorian Public Accounts
and Estimates Committee and Environment Australia, and organisations such as the
Australian Conservation Foundation, Australian and New Zealand Environment and
Conservation Council, the Ethical Investment Association of Australia, Greenpeace
and the Environmental Protection Authorities of Australian states.
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8.6. Limitations of the study

The principal limitations of the study which were identified in Chapter 1 are repeated
here in a footnote29 for completeness.

Additional limitations, not previously referred to are:

•

The conclusions drawn about the lack of interest or importance are not supported
by corroborating evidence. This corroboration is an area for further research
emanating from this study.

• There is a lack of direct evidence on the level of current

preparedness of

individual accounting students and practitioners for participation in Triple
Bottom Line Reporting. This lack of direct evidence provides an area for further
research related to this issue.
• The extent to which the inherent nature of the Triple Bottom Line Reporting
topic lends itself to effective teaching and learning, relative to other accounting
topics, is not addressed, other than in terms of the content in the formal
accounting curriculum of institutions.

29(a)

It was assumed that the preparedness of accountants to be involved in Triple Bottom Line

Reporting is dependent on their education and, in particular, the education courses/programs they
undertake.
University information was collected over a period up to July 2000. There is an underlying
assumption that, since then, there will have been little or no change in university offerings. Where,
prior to July 2000, advice was received that relevant changes were to be implemented in the near
future, this was taken into account in the review of university offerings.
The descriptions of subject units which are included in university, faculty or department
handbooks, the main data source, may not be consistent, in practice, with what is being actually
covered in the unit outlines and taught by university staff.
The post-graduate, pre-professional membership courses of the two Australian professional
accounting bodies are both relatively new and the syllabus content is subject to review and
modification. Accordingly, modifications may have taken place since the date of information
collection and the date of this thesis.
Similarly, the continuing professional development/education programs of the Australian
professional accounting bodies are subject to continual review with the inclusion of additional topics
considered to be of interest or importance to members. Changes and additions to these programs may
also have taken place since the date of information collection and the date of this thesis.
(1) As stated above, the Australian professional accounting bodies require that, prior to admission to
full membership, a period of relevant professional experience is to be completed. This reflects the
recognition that the development of professional competence requires practical experience in addition
to formal education programs (lCAA, 2000, General Information, p.2). The 'on-the-job' training
which should occur during this period of professional experience has not been taken into account in
this study.
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8.7. Suggestions for further study

This study has highlighted a number of possibilities for further study relating to
Triple Bottom Line Reporting and, in particular, the education of accountants and the
development of an appropriate regulatory framework.

1.

A finding of this study is that the viability of Triple Bottom Line Reporting,

as an issue for the Australian accounting profession, will be inhibited unless
accounting students are adequately prepared for it. A survey is needed to ascertain:
the attitudes of accounting academics towards sustainability, and
the motivational factors for including/not including environmental and social;
accounting and reporting issues in subject units and courses studied by those aspiring
to become accountants.
Thus, there is a need for cross-disciplinary work between accountants and
psychologists.

2.

For the changes to traditional accounting foundations, concepts, definitions

and practices to accommodate the requirements of measuring and reporting
environmental and social performance to occur and to have new accounting
standards developed, strong support from the accounting profession is essential.
Senior members of the Australian professional accounting bodies
divisional, branch councillors

-

-

national, state,

could be surveyed to identify their attitudes towards

and knowledge of sustainability issues and the issues related to Triple Bottom Line
Reporting.

3.

As shown in this thesis, many companies now publish environmental and

social performance reports. Likely reasons are offered as to why companies do
publish this information. However, research is required to ascertain why companies
do or do not report on their environmental and social performance. A survey of
listed companies, both those which do report environmental and social performance
and those which don't, could be undertaken to identify their motivations regarding
the publication of such performance information. The results of such a survey will
be useful to accounting educators in the design and delivery of teaching materials
related to sustainability and Triple Bottom Line Reporting.
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4.

As acknowledged in the Limitations of the study (section 8.6), this work

provides no direct evidence on the level of current "preparedness" of individual
accounting students and practitioners for participation in Triple Bottom Line
Reporting. An area for relevant research would be to survey accounting practitioners
and recent accounting graduates to ascertain there knowledge and understanding of
the issues and practices of environmental and social performance reporting.
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APP1'N11IY 1

GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL REPORTING
The accounting profession has identified the objective of general purpose financial
reporting of an entity as being the provision of "information useful to users for
making and evaluating decisions about the allocation of scarce resources' (AARF,
1997, SAC2. para.43). All types of entities are included whether they be "legal,
administrative or economic entities" (SAC2, para.9). The primary users of general
purpose financial reports are identified as those who provide resources to the entity,
both financial and non-financial resources, those who are recipients of the goods
and/or services supplied by the entity, and those parties who perform review or
oversight functions in relation to the entity (SAC2. para.16). In addition the
governing bodies and managers of entities are users of financial information about
the entity. However, they are in positions to demand information tailored to meet
their needs (SAC2. para.20).
The type of information required to be disclosed in general purpose financial reports
is that which is "relevant to the assessment of performance, financial position, and
financing and investing, including information about compliance" (SAC2, para.45).
In the context of general purpose financial reporting by a reporting entity the
following terms are defined:
performance
proficiency
in acquiring resources economically and using those
resources efficiently and effectively in achieving specified objectives",
-

"

financial position
economic condition
having regard to
resources, financial structure, capacity for adaptation and solvency",
-

"

control over

financing and investing "those activities
that relate to the financing of
operations and the investment of... resources", and
-

compliance
"adherence to those statutory requirements, regulations, rules,
ordinances, directives or other externally-imposed requirements in respect of which
non-compliance may have, or may have had, a financial effect on the reporting
entity" (AARF. 1997, SAC2, para.5).
-

The general purpose financial reports which will disclose the required information
are identified in accounting standards.
AAS l/AASB 1018 Statement of Financial Performance,
AAS 36/AASB 1040 Statement of Financial Position, and
AAS 28/AASB 1026 Statement of Cash Flows (CPAA. 2001a).
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The elements of these Statements are Assets, Liabilities, Equity, Revenues and
Expenses (AARF, 1997, SAC 4). The definitions of these elements and the criteria
to be applied to determine whether they should be recognised3° are set out below.
Assets are "future economic benefits controlled by the entity as a result of past
transactions or other past events" (SAC4, para.I4) and "should be recognised
when and only when:
it is probable that the future economic benefits ... will eventuate; and
the asset possesses a cost or other value that can be measured reliably." (SAC4,
para.38)
Liabilities are "future sacrifices of economic benefits that the entity is presently
required to make to other entities as a result of past transactions or other past events"
(SAC4, para.48) and "should be recognised
when and only when:
it is probable that the future sacrifice of economic benefits will be required; and
the amount of the liability can be measured reliably." (SAC4, para.65)
...

Equity is "the residual interest in the assets of the entity after the deduction of its
liabilities." (SAC4, para.78)
Revenues are "inflows ... of future economic benefits in the form of increases in
assets or reductions in liabilities of the entity ... that result in an increase in equity
(SAC4, para. 111) and "should be recognised ... when and only when:
it is probable that the inflow . . . of future economic benefits has occurred; and
the inflow ... of future economic benefits can be measured reliably." (SAC4,
para. 125)
Expenses are "consumptions or losses of future economic benefits in the form of
reductions in assets or increases in liabilities of the entity ... that result in a decrease
in equity ..." (SAC4, para.117) and "should be recognised ... when and only when:
it is probable that the consumption or loss of future economic benefits
has
occurred; and
the consumption or loss of future economic benefits can be measured reliably."
(SAC4, para.132)
...

The preparation and presentation of the financial statements referred to above is
governed by accounting standards issued by the Australian Accounting Standards
Board (CPAA, 2001a, APS 1, para.1O).
The Australian Corporations Law requires that certain companies incorporated under
that Law are to prepare financial statements and that these financial statements must
comply with these accounting standards (Commonwealth of Australia, 1998, ss.292
296). The preparers and auditors of financial statements of other reporting entities31
are required to ensure that the financial statements have been prepared in accordance

-

30

"Recognised" in this accounting context means "reported on, or incorporated in amounts reported
on, the face of the financial statements of the entity" (AARF, 1997, SAC4, para.1O).
A "reporting entity" is "an entity
in which it is reasonable to expect the existence of users
dependent on general purpose financial reports for information which will be useful to them for
making
decisions about the allocation of scarce resources." (AARF, 1997, SAC2, para.5)
...

..
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with applicable professional accounting standards (CPAA, 2001a, APS 1,
paras.1O,11).
Financial reporting is also influenced by the Statements of Accounting Concepts
(SACs), published by the Australian Accounting Research Foundation (1997).
Whilst not mandatory, the SACs provide guidance to the preparers of financial
reports and are regarded as reflecting 'best practice" (Parliament of Victoria, 1999.
p.76,/h).
Another influence on financial reporting is that of the Urgent Issues Group (UIG) of
the Australian Accounting Research Foundation. The Consensus Views of the UIG
are published in its Abstracts on various issues and compliance with them is
mandatory in the preparation of General Purpose Financial Reports (AARF, 1998,
p.vi).
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APPENDIX 2
MANDATORY DISCLOSURE DRIVERS
There are two major sources of requirements for organisations to disclose
environmental and social performance. One can be described as regulatory" as the
disclosure requirement is imposed by law on organisations. The other can be
described as "signatory", as the disclosure requirement is imposed on organisations
which have voluntarily signed a Code of Practice or something similar.
Regulatory
Regulatory requirements include legislation of the Commonwealth government and
the governments of various states.
The Corporations Law includes a statutory requirement for companies incorporated
under the Corporations Law, and whose operations are subject to environmental
regulation, to disclose in the annual directors' report details of "performance in
relation to environmental regulation" (Commonwealth of Australia, (1998)
Corporations Law, Section 299(l)(f)).
The National Pollutant Inventory (NPI), which is a database of information about the
types and quantities of certain pollutants being released into the environment air,
land and water, became publicly available in 2000. It requires larger Australian
organisations to report annually their emissions of substances specified in the NPI
(Commonwealth of Australia, 2001, pp.1, 19-24). This Australian government
initiative follows the lead of the United States government which, in 1986,
established a Toxic Release Inventory (TRI), requiring medium and large facilities to
report annually their releases of polluting substances to air, water and land (White,
1999, p.35).
-

Since 1994 local authorities in New South Wales have been required, under the
Local Government Act 1993, to produce State of the Environment Reports
(EPANSW, 1997, p.1). The State of the Environment Report discloses the impact of
the local authorities' activities on the environment and includes the outcomes of the
authorities' environmental programs (Eurobodalla Shire Council, 2000, pp.57,58).
In 1994 the government of Victoria introduced a system of issuing Emissions
Licences to accredited entities. Licences are required for specified types of
commercial activities which discharge waste to air, land or water, which emit noise,
which accept waste for reprocessing, treatment or disposal or which are likely to
undertake any of these activities. The licence conditions include, amongst other
things, limits on the quantities of certain discharges and the reporting of incidents
and monitoring data (EPAV, 2001, pp.1-3).
Commonwealth Government agencies are required by the Environment Protection
and Biodiversity Conservation Act to "report annually on Ecologically Sustainable
Development outcomes" (Environment Australia, 2000, p.6).
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Signatory
Signatory requirements arise as a result of organisations signing industry Codes of
Practice or similar agreements. Many such Codes of practice have a requirement
related to reporting environmental or social performance and once the organisation
has become a signatory to an agreement it is bound by the agreement's provisions,
including the reporting requirements.
The "Code of Environmental Management", prepared by the Minerals Council of
Australia, requires members of the mining industry, who are signatories to the Code,
to "report publicly on environmental performance" (Minerals Council of Australia.
1996, p.2).
The Electricity Supply Association of Australia, in 1997, launched its Code of
Environmental Practice. The Association's Environmental Report for 1999 stated
that 34 member businesses were committed to the Code (ESAA, 2001, p.2).
Signatories to the Code commit adherence to the Code including the annual reporting
of environmental performance (ESAA, 1997, p.2). Signatories acknowledge that
"environmental reporting is a key element of improving environmental performance"
(p.4) and are committed to ensuring that "the community has access to current
information on significant environmental issues relevant to the electricity supply
business" (p.4).
In 1999 The National Packaging Covenant was launched by the Australian and New
Zealand Environment and Conservation Council (ANZECC). Signatories to the
Covenant agree to "produce Action Plans
for evaluating and improving
environmental outcomes
in their production, usage, sale and/or reprocessing and
recovery of packaging materials" and to "(r)eport to the Covenant Council
annually
on performance against
undertakings and Action Plans."
(ANZECC, 1999, p.6)
...

...

...

...

The Greenhouse Challenge, launched in 1995 by the Commonwealth government
Australian Greenhouse Office, is a voluntary scheme whereby "(p)articipating
organisations sign agreements with the Government that provide a framework for
undertaking and reporting on actions to abate emissions." (Australian Greenhouse
Office, 2000a, p.1) The Challenge has been successful in attracting organisations,
large and small, from both the public and private sectors and from almost every
sector of Australian industry (p.2). The agreements further provide for the
independent verification of the reported greenhouse gas emissions and abatement
actions (Australian Greenhouse Office, 2000b. p.3).
The National Code of Practice .tor the Construction Industry in Australia expresses
the principles which governments in Australia have agreed should apply to the
Industry (APCC, 1997, p.1). Adoption of the Code is voluntary for private sector
organisations but those who wish "to do business with governments or work on
government construction projects will be required to comply with all aspects of the
Code" (p.2). The Code's principles relate to matters such as Competitive Behaviour
(pp.4,5), Occupational Health, Safety & Rehabilitation (pp.6,7) and Industrial
Relations which cover, for example, training, flexible work practices, pay and
dispute settlement (pp.7-9). With regard to performance reporting, the Code's
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Compliance Principles require that, in the case of non-compliance, breaches may be
reported "to an appropriate statutory body or law enforcement agency'. In addition,
"details of the breach and identification of party committing the breach" may be
published (p.10).
ISO 14001
Environmental Management Systems32, is one of a number of
international standards relating to environmental management (Newson. 1999, p.3).
Those organisations which have been certified33, have committed themselves to
"self-evaluation of (their) environmental performance". An organisation sets
environmental objectives so that it can demonstrate its improvement, after
identifying the criteria and indicators to be used to measure the organisation's
environmental performance (Newson and Deegan, 1996, p.36).
-

Other codes of practice include the 1996 Code of Environmental Practice for
Petroleum Exploration and Production (Burritt, 1996, p.3) and several Tasmanian
Codes for the sawmilling, quarrying and meat slaughtering industries, and one
concerning landfill (Hicks, 1996, p.8).

32

ISO 14001 AS/NZS ISO 14001 is part of the ISO 14000 series of Australian, New Zealand and
International Standards (Newson and Deegan, 1996, p.36).
33
Australian organisations can be certified to recognised standards by certifiers who have been
accredited under the Joint Accreditation Scheme for Australia and New Zealand (Newson and
Deegan, 1996, p.36).
-
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APPENDIX 3
ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Material Use
• quantities of total materials used.
• use of recycled materials.
• use of packaging materials.
• use of hazardous chemicals and other materials.
• programs for replacing hazardous chemicals with less hazardous alternatives.
• naturally occurring flora and fauna used in production processes and the methods
of harvesting or collecting the species.
• quantity of total water use.
• water sources significantly affected by the entity's use of water.
Energy Coiisiimption
•
•

quantity (injoules) of total energy used.
quantity of electricity purchased. This should be analysed by primary fuel
source, if known.
• quantity of self-generated electricity used (if applicable).
• quantity of total fuel use, identifying the different types of fuels as well as the
vehicle and non-vehicle use.
• other energy usage.
• programs to improve energy efficiency.
• programs to move towards the use of renewable energy sources.
Nonproduct Output Waste
-

• quantity of waste generated.
• quantity of waste recycled, reused, remanufactured.
• quantity of waste sold.
• quantity of waste otherwise disposed of- details of type of waste and destination.
• waste site management details, eg. landfill, incineration etc.
Pollutant Releases
•
•
•

emissions to air by type and quantity (eg. tonnes of NH3,, CO2).
discharges to water by type and quantity (eg. litres/tonnes of oils/chemicals etc.).
types of water bodies into which discharges flow (eg. river, lake, ground water).

Other environmental indicators identified by the Global Reporting Initiative
(pp.30,31) include those related to Products and Services Land-Use/Biodiversity and
Compliance.
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Products and Services
significant environmental impacts and issues related to the use of products and
services. Where applicable, qualitative and quantitative estimates of such
impacts should be included.
action taken to prevent or minimise potentially adverse environmental impacts of
products or services, eg. take-back and life-cycle management.
percentage of product weight/volume reclaimed after use.
Land- Use/Biodiversity
•

area of land controlled by the entity, stating the areas which are owned, leased or
otherwise managed.
• area of other land affected by the entity's activities.
• type of any ecosystem habitat which is affected by the entity's activities.
• area of habitat protected or restored.
• changes to habitat resulting from entity's activities.
Compliance
•

amounts and types of penalties imposed upon the entity for non-compliance with
environment related legislation, regulations, treaties etc.

The above indicators are consistent with the information required for Life Cycle
Assessment reporting (Gray, Bebbington & Walters, 1993, pp.165-1'75) which
assesses the environmental impact of a product or process. This assessment takes
into account:
pre-production activities, such as the extraction and processing of the raw
materials to be used in the producing the product.
productionlmanufacturing activities, ie. the conversion of the raw materials
into finished products, including packaging.
distribution of finished product, through the various stages (wholesale, retail)
to the end-user.
the actual use of the product.
any re-use and maintenance of the product during its life.
recycling the product at the end of its useful life.
ultimate disposal.
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Source:

Global Reporting Initiative, Suslainahility Reporting Guidelines,
(GRI, 2000, pp.29-31).
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APPENDIX 4
SOCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Social Performance
Corporate Social Performance as identified by Ranganathan (1998, p.5) includes
Four Key Elements: Community Relations, Employment Practices, Ethical Sourcing
and Social Impact of Product.
Community Relations
Information relating to Community Relations should include:
•

number and types of complaints from neighbours concerning the entity's
activities.
• number and types ofjobs created.
• taxes paid, by type and taxing authority.
• tax benefits received, by type and taxing authority.
• donations to charities and other community organisations.
• education scholarships offered to community members.
• other philanthropic activities.
• volunteerism of employees.
• evidence of indigenous representation in decision-making with regard to matters
affecting indigenous people and culture.
• number and causes of protests relating to entity's activities.
Information relating to the other three Key Elements should include indicators
identified by the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI, 2000, pp.34-36).
Employment Practices
• employee retention rates.
• employee involvement in management decision making processes.
• percentage of women in management and executive positions.
• percentage of minority group employees in management and executive positions.
• frequency and type of discrimination-related litigation involving the entity.
• ratio of stafftraining budget to annual operating costs.
• skill and personal development programs for employees.
Ethical Sourcing
• lost time and absences arising from injuries to employees and sub-contractors.
• reportable injuries.
• occupational health and safety education programs for employees.
• ratios of lowest wages to award minima.
• ratios of lowest wages to local cost of living.
• health benefits provided to employees.
• pension benefits provided to employees, in excess of statutory minimum.
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. incidents involving non-compliance with child-labour laws.

• monitoring suppliers with regard to:
the number and types of incidents of non-compliance with national and
international standards.
the number and types of incidents of non-compliance with child-labour
laws.
the use of child labour and forced labour, eg. prisoners.
• monitoring contractors with regard to labour conditions, eg. child labour and
forced labour.
• application of human rights screens in investment decision making processes.
• number and types of alleged human rights violations and the entitys position and
responses to the allegations.
• incorporation of security and human rights considerations into the risk
assessment and facility planning, when considering the set-up of operations in
another country.
• rehabilitation and compensation for victims of the entitys security force actions.
-

-

-

Social Impact of Product
•

qualitative and quantitative, where applicable, estimates of social issues and
impacts associated with products and services. These would include
contributions to social welfare, equity and the meeting of basic human needs such
as food, water, shelter and health care

Sources:

1. Global Reporting Initiative, Sustainability Reporting Guidelines,
(GRI, 2000, pp.33-35).
2. Ranganathan, Sustainabilily Rulers. Measuring Corporate
Environmental & Social Performance, (Ranganathan, 1998, p. 5).
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APPENDIX 5
UNIVERSITIES and COLLEGES OFFERING ACCREDITED
UNDERGRADUATE COURSES
Australian Catholic University (CA)
Australian National University (AN U)
Avondale College (Avondale)
Bond University (Bond)
Central Queensland University (CQU)
Charles Sturt University (CSU)
Curtin University of Technology (Curti n)
Deakin University (Deakin)
Edith Cowan University (ECU)
Flinders University of South Australia (Flinders)
Griffith University (Griffith)
James Cook University (JCU)
La Trobe University (Lalrobe)
Macquarie University (Macquarie)
Monash University (Monash)
Murdoch University (Murdoch)
Northern Territory University (NTU)
Queensland University of Technology (QUT)
RMIT University (RMIT)
Southern Cross University (SCU)
Swinburne University of Technology (Swinburne)
University of Adelaide (Adelaide)
University of Ballarat (Ballarat)
University of Canberra (Canberra)
University of Melbourne (Melbourne)
University of Newcastle (Newcastle)
University of New England (UNE)
University of New South Wales (UNSW)
University of Notre Dame (Notre Dame)
University of Queensland (UQ)
University of South Australia (USA)
University of Southern Queensland (USQ)
University of Sydney (Sydney)
University of Tasmania (Tasmania)
University of Technology, Sydney (UTS)
University of the Sunshine Coast (Sunshine Coast)
University of Western Australia (UWA)
University of Western Sydney (UWS)
University of Wollongong (Wollongong)
Victoria University of Technology (VUT)

Source: ASCPA Members Handbook 1999, pp. 140 17-14020.1
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APPENDIX 6

UNIVERSITIES OFFERING ACCREDITED COURSES
FOR GRADUATES IN UNRELATED DISCIPLINES

Bond University (Bond)
Central Queensland University (CQU)
Charles Sturt University (C SU)
Curtin University of Technology (C urtin)
Deakin University (Deakin)
Edith Cowan University (ECU)
Flinders University of South Australia (Flinders)
Griffith University (Griffith)
James Cook University (JCU)
La Trobe University (Lalrobe)
Macquarie University (Macquarie)
Monash University (Monash)
Murdoch University (Murdoch)
Northern Territory University (NTU)
Queensland University of Technology (QUT)
Southern Cross University (SCU)
University of Canberra (Canberra)
University of New England (lINE)
University of New South Wales (UNSW)
University of Queensland (UQ)
University of South Australia (USA)
University of Southern Queensland (USQ)
University of Sydney (Sydney)
University of Technology, Sydney (UTS)
University of Western Australia (UWA)
University of Western Sydney (UWS)
Victoria University of Technology (VUT)

Source: ASCPA Members' Handbook 1999, pp. 14021-14022.1
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APPENDIX 7
COMPULSORY RELEVANT SUBJECT UNITS FOR STUDENTS IN
ACCREDITED UNDERGRADUATE COURSES.
University
(see Note)
Avondale

Subject unit
Code

JCU
Macquarie

AC 311
ACC 340
CO 3013: 6
ACCG 323

Tasmania
UNSW

BFA 302
ACCT 3563

USA

12266

USQ

51103
51116
BAO 3309

CSLJ

VUT
Notes:

Title

Full or Part of
subject unit

Financial Accounting Issues
Current Issues in Accounting
Financial Accounting 1
Financial Accounting Theory and
Practice
Accounting Theory
Accounting and Financial
Management 3A
Accounting: Organisational and
Social Context
Financial Accounting
Financial Accounting Theory
Advanced Financial Accounting

Year of

part
part
part
part

n.a.
n.a.
1989
1997

part
part

1995
n.a.

part

n.a.

part
part
part

1998
1998
1996

see Appendix 5 for key to university abbreviations
n.a. information not available
-

ELECTIVE RELEVANT SUBJECT UNITS FOR STUDENTS IN
ACCREDITED UNDERGRADUATE COURSES.
University
(see Note)

Subject unit
Code

Adelaide
ANU

3277
COMM 3017

Newcastle

ACFJ 318

RMIT

AC 012

Tasmania

BFA 307

UNSW

ACCT 4820

USA
VUT

08990
BAO 3310

Notes:

Title

Full or Part of
subject unit

Management Accounting III
Environmental Accountability and
Reporting
Social and Environmental
Accounting
Social and Environmental
Accounting
Social and Environmental
Accounting
Management Accounting Issues
and International Best Practice
Business Ethics
Social and Environmental
Accounting

Year of
introduction
of coverage

part
full

1997
1994

full

1997

full

1993

full

2000

part

n.a.

part
full

1995
1994

see Appendix 5 for key to university abbreviations
n.a. information not available
-
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APPENDIX 8

COMPULSORY RELEVANT SUBJECT UNITS FOR STUDENTS IN
ACCREDITED COURSES FOR GRADUATES IN UNRELATED
DISCIPLINES.
University
(see Note)
UNE
USQ
VUT

Subject unit
Code

Title

MBA 642
52116
BAO 5535

Corporate Accounting
Accounting Theory
Issues in Contemporary Accounting

Notes:

Full or Part of
subject unit

part
part
part

Year of
introduction
of coverage
n.a.
1998
1996

see Appendix 6 for key to university abbreviations
n.a. information not available
-

ELECTIVE RELEVANT SUBJECT UNITS FOR STUDENTS IN
ACCREDITED COURSES FOR GRADUATES IN UNRELATED
DISCIPLINES.
University

Subject unit
Title

(see Note) Code
Bond
SCU

ACCT 817
MN 747

lINE

AFM 511

USQ

53001
55040
55042

Notes:

Full or Part of
subject unit

International Accounting
Contemporary Trends in the Business
Environment
Issues in Company Financial
Reporting
Contemporary Accounting Theory
Corporate Environmental Management
Tools and Techniques for Sustainable
Development

Year of
introduction
of coverage

part
part

n.a.
n.a.

part

n.a.

part
full
full

1998
2000
2000

see Appendix 6 for key to university abbreviations
n.a. information not available
-
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APPFNDtY Q

SUBJECT UNITS WHICH COVER CONTEMPORARY/EMERGING!
CONTROVERSIAL ISSUES ACCREDITED UNDERGRADUATE
COU RS ES.
-

University (see Note)

Subject unit

Code

Title

Ballarat
Bond

BA 721
ACCT 309

Contemporary Accounting Issues
Special Topic in Accounting

CQU
ECU
Griffith
Melbourne

25302
ACC 3331
ABF 3002
306-301
306-332
306-333
C 310
BS 312
ACC 320
BFA 201
AFM 213
12265

Contemporary Issues in Accounting
Accounting Workshop III
Contemporary Accounting Issues
Financial Accounting
Special Topic in Accounting
Contemporary Issues in Accounting
Contemporary Issues in Accounting
Accounting Theory
Contemporary Accounting Issues
Financial Accounting
Financial Accounting II
Issues in Accounting Theory

Murdoch
Notre Dame
Sunshine Coast
Tasmania
UNE
USA

Note: see Appendix 5 for key to university abbreviations
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APPENDIX 10

SUBJECT UNITS WHICH COVER CONTEMPORARY/EMERGING!
CONTROVERSIAL ISSUES ACCREI)ITED COURSES FOR GRADUATES
IN UNRELATED DISCIPLINES.
-

University (see Note)

Subject unit

CSU
Curtin
JCU
Macquarie
Monash
UWS

Code

Title

ACC 518
302128
CO 5001:04

Current Developments in Accounting Thought
Accounting (Corporate) 511
Contemporary Issues in Financial Accounting
Current Issues in Accounting
Financial Accounting II
Financial Accounting C

51254

Note: see Appendix 6 for key to university abbreviations
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